
“I pledge to build a stronger and more prosperous community by advocating for civil 
engagement, respecting others and their viewpoints, and finding solutions for the betterment of 
my city.” 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

229 MAIN STREET, CONWAY, SC 29526 
MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 - 4:00 PM 

PLEASE SILENCE ALL ELECTRONIC DEVICES 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

II. INVOCATION/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE – Andrew Salley, The Rock Church

III. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

IV. CONSENT AGENDA

A. Final Reading of Ordinance #ZA2023-10-16 (B), to annex 0.35 acres of property located
at 803 Donald Street (PIN 369-12-04-0003), and rezone from the Horry County 
Residential, no mobile homes allowed (SF20) district to the City of Conway Low/Medium-
Density Residential (R-1) district. 

B. Special Event – Jingle Jam – December 17, 2023 

C. Approval of October 2, 2023 Council Meeting Minutes 

V. PUBLIC INPUT 

VI. SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS

Presentation of Public Service Employee of the Month  

VII. FIRST READING

A. First Reading of Ordinance #ZA2023-11-06 (A), to annex approximately 15 acres of
property located at 154 Winyah Rd (PIN 383-00-00-0339), and rezone from the Horry 
County Limited Industrial (LI) district to the City of Conway Heavy Industrial (HI) district. 
(Hucks) 

B. First Reading of Ordinance #ZA2023-11-06 (B), amending Article 11 – Signage, of the 
City of Conway Unified Development Ordinance (UDO), regarding Sign Standards in 
Residential and Non-Residential Zoning District, as well as requirements for Electronic 
Message Centers (EMC’s) / Light Emitting Diodes (LED) signs with digital/animated 
display. (Hucks) 

1



“I pledge to build a stronger and more prosperous community by advocating for civil 
engagement, respecting others and their viewpoints, and finding solutions for the betterment of 
my city.” 
 
 

C. First Reading of Ordinance #ZA2023-11-06 (C), amending Article 5 – Specific Use 
Regulations, of the City of Conway Unified Development Ordinance (UDO), regarding the 
requirements for religious institutions. (Hucks) 

 
D. First Reading of Ordinance #ZA2023-11-06 (D), amending Article 7 – Streets and 

Circulation, Article 10 – Subdivision and Land Development, and Article 12 – 
Nonconformities, of the City of Conway Unified Development Ordinance (UDO), 
regarding the requirements for installation of sidewalks. (Hucks)  

 
VIII. CONSIDERATION 

 
Consideration of Transfer of Ownership of Kirkland Drive Between Lots 1 and 32 of Elmhurst 
Development (Waites-Parker) 
 
IX. CITY ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT  
 
X. COUNCIL INPUT 
 
XI. BREAK 

 
XII. WORKSHOP 

 
Discussion of the Warden Station Planned Development and Development Agreement 

 
XIII. ADJOURNMENT   

 
Any citizen of the municipality may make an appearance before City Council concerning any municipal matter 
with the exception of personnel matters.  Persons desiring to speak must notify the City Clerk prior to the 
beginning of the meeting.  However, if you are speaking regarding a public hearing item, then you would do so 
during that time on the agenda.  Please address Council from the podium stating your name, address, and the 
subject you would like to discuss.   

 
The public may also access the meeting at www.cityofconway.com under the “Latest Events” tab on the home 
page.  If you are unable to attend and would like to voice your concerns or comments regarding a request, please 
call the City Hall at 843-248-1760 or email ashelley@cityofconway.com, to be received prior to 12:00 noon on 
October 16, 2023.  To assure proper recording of public comments left on the City’s voicemail, callers are urged 
to clearly pronounce their names and addresses, preferably providing spelling for both. 

2

http://www.cityofconway.com/
mailto:ashelley@cityofconway.com


DATE:  OCTOBER 16, 2023 
ITEM:  IV.A.  

ISSUE: 
Final Reading of Ordinance #ZA2023-10-16 (B), to annex approximately 0.35 acres of 
property located at 803 Donald Street (PIN 369-12-04-0003), and rezone from the Horry County 
Residential, no mobile homes allowed (SF20) district to the City of Conway Low/Medium-Density 
Residential (R-1) district. 

BACKGROUND: 
The annexation application was submitted by the applicants as a requirement to connect to city utility 
services. According to Horry County Land Records, the property was transferred into the applicant’s 
names on September 9, 2023. The property is within the Sam Johnson subdivision off of Cates Bay Hwy. 

There have been several other parcels in this subdivision that have been annexed in recent years. 
However, this would be the first one on Donald Street.  

CITY OF CONWAY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 
The Future Land Use Map of the Comprehensive Plan identifies this property as Low/Medium Density 
Residential (R-1). 

The intent of the R-1 District is to provide for the preservation and expansion of areas for low to medium 
density, detached single-family residential development in the City of Conway. The district shall present 
a relatively spacious character, promote quiet, livable neighborhoods, and prohibit uses that are 
incompatible with the residential nature of the surrounding area. 

City Council approved first reading on October 2, 2023.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Approve Final reading of Ordinance #ZA2023-10-16 (B). 

3



ORDINANCE #ZA2023-10-16 (B) 

AN ORDINANCE TO ANNEX APPROXIMATELY 0.35 ACRES OF PROPERTY 
LOCATED    AT 803 DONALD ST (PIN 369-12-04-0003), AND REQUEST TO REZONE 
FROM THE HORRY COUNTY RESIDENTIAL, NO MOBILE HOMES ALLOWED 

(SF20) DISTRICT TO THE CITY OF CONWAY LOW/MEDIUM DENSITY 
RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT (R-1) DISTRICT. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CONWAY:  

SECTION 1. FINDINGS: 
A petition has been submitted to the City Council of the City of Conway to annex approximately 0.35 
acres of property described herein and represented on a map.  

The area proposed for annexation is adjacent to the present City limits. The petition for annexation of 
land and declared zoning is hereby accepted by the governing body of the municipality of Conway, 
and made a part of the City of Conway, South Carolina, to wit: 

ALL AND SINGULAR, those certain parcels, lots, or tracts of land in Conway Township, County 
and    State aforesaid, containing approximately 0.35 acres of property located at 803 Donald Street (PIN 
369-12-04-0003), and request to rezone from the Horry County Residential, no mobile homes allowed 
(SF20) district, to the City of Conway Low/Medium-Density Residential (R-1) district. 

This annexation includes all waterways, roads, and rights-of-way adjacent to the property. 
For a more specific description of said property, see attached map. 

SECTION 2. APPLICATION OF ZONING ORDINANCE: 
The property is admitted as City of Conway Low/Medium Density Residential District (R-1) 
area       under the zoning laws of the municipality. 

SECTION 3. EFFECTIVE DATE: 
The annexation is effective as of the date of the final reading of this Ordinance. 

AND BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED that such changes shall be made on the Official Zoning Map. 
All ordinances or parts of ordinances inconsistent with this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent 
of such inconsistency. 

4



RATIFIED BY CITY COUNCIL, duly assembled, this day of 
, 2023. 

Barbara Jo Blain-Bellamy, Mayor Justin D. Jordan, Mayor Pro Tem 

K. Autry Benton Jr., Council Member Amanda Butler, Council Member 

William M. Goldfinch IV, Council Member Beth Helms, Council Member 

Larry A. White, Council Member ATTEST: Alicia Shelley, City Clerk 

First Reading:  

Final Reading: 

16
October

October 16, 2023

October 2, 2023

5



DONALD ST
CATES BAY HWY

BETTY ST

Date: 9/22/2023  Time: 11:49:24 AM  Path: \\Coc-srv2\4310\ANNEXATIONS\!R1 ANNEXATIONS\2023\803 Donald Street\GIS\ZOOMED IN AERIAL MAP FOR 803 DONALD ST.mxd

PIN #: 369-12-04-0003
TMS #: 136-11-02-004

803 DONALD ST
(P23-0278)³

Disclaimer: This map is a 
graphic representation
only. It is NOT a survey.
All efforts have been
made to ensure its accuracy.
However, the City of Conway
disclaims all responsibility &
liability for the use of this map.

(843) 488-9888 ph (843) 488-9890 fax

2940 JERRY BARNHILL BLVD - CONWAY, SC 29527

Legend
PARCELS

PIN #: 369-12-04-0003

6



LIZ LN
HW

Y 7
01

 S

CATES BAY HWY

AUGUSTUS DR

JOHNSON ST

PAUL ST
DO

NA
LD

 ST

NINTH AVE

WEB LN
DUNRAVEN CT

HEMINGWAY CHAPEL RD

HOLLY LOOP

JANETTE ST

DOVER DR

FAULK CIR

CREEL ST

CADBURY CT

SANTEE DR

RAINER ST

BETTY ST

AL
CA

ZA
R C

T

WO
OD

BU
RY

 CO
UR

T
MCQUEEN ST

PERRY ST

SOUTH OAKS DRIVE

TRAILS RD

CY
MME

R C
T

LEYBOURNE CT

BLACKWOOD DRIVE

TERRACE LN

ARBOR COURT

DONALD ST

JOHNSON ST

Date: 9/22/2023  Time: 11:47:33 AM  Path: \\Coc-srv2\4310\ANNEXATIONS\!R1 ANNEXATIONS\2023\803 Donald Street\GIS\ZOOMED OUT AERIAL MAP FOR 803 DONALD ST.mxd

PIN #: 369-12-04-0003
TMS #: 136-11-02-004

803 DONALD ST
(P23-0278)³

Disclaimer: This map is a 
graphic representation
only. It is NOT a survey.
All efforts have been
made to ensure its accuracy.
However, the City of Conway
disclaims all responsibility &
liability for the use of this map.

(843) 488-9888 ph (843) 488-9890 fax

2940 JERRY BARNHILL BLVD - CONWAY, SC 29527

Legend
PARCELS

PIN #: 369-12-04-0003

7



SF 20

CFASF 20

CFA

PUD

CFA

SF 20

CFA

CFA

CFA
SF 20

GR

GR

SF 10

CFA

SF 20

SF 20SF 20

SF 20

SF 20

CFA

CFA

CFA

SF 20

SF 20
SF 20

NC

SF 20

SF 20

SF 20
SF 20

CFA LIZ LN
HW

Y 7
01

 S

CATES BAY HWY

AUGUSTUS DR

JOHNSON ST

PAUL ST
DO

NA
LD

 ST

NINTH AVE

WEB LN
DUNRAVEN CT

HEMINGWAY CHAPEL RD

HOLLY LOOP

JANETTE ST

DOVER DR

FAULK CIR

CREEL ST

CADBURY CT

SANTEE DR

RAINER ST

BETTY ST

AL
CA

ZA
R C

T

WO
OD

BU
RY

 CO
UR

T
MCQUEEN ST

PERRY ST

SOUTH OAKS DRIVE

TRAILS RD

CY
MME

R C
T

LEYBOURNE CT

BLACKWOOD DRIVE
ARBOR COURT

DONALD ST

JOHNSON ST

Date: 9/22/2023  Time: 11:40:11 AM  Path: \\Coc-srv2\4310\ANNEXATIONS\!R1 ANNEXATIONS\2023\803 Donald Street\ZONING MAP FOR 803 DONALD ST.mxd

PIN #: 369-12-04-0003
TMS #: 136-11-02-004

803 DONALD ST
(P23-0278)³

Disclaimer: This map is a 
graphic representation
only. It is NOT a survey.
All efforts have been
made to ensure its accuracy.
However, the City of Conway
disclaims all responsibility &
liability for the use of this map.

(843) 488-9888 ph (843) 488-9890 fax

2940 JERRY BARNHILL BLVD - CONWAY, SC 29527

CONWAY ZONING
RA

RR

R

R1

R2

R3

R4

P

IN

NC

HC

CC

CBD

LI

HI

FA

CP

WRD1

WRD2

PD

MU

MM

IC

COUNTY ZONING

PARCELS

XX

PIN #: 369-12-04-0003

8



LIZ LN
HW

Y 7
01

 S

CATES BAY HWY

AUGUSTUS DR

JOHNSON ST

PAUL ST
DO

NA
LD

 ST

NINTH AVE

WEB LN
DUNRAVEN CT

HEMINGWAY CHAPEL RD

HOLLY LOOP

JANETTE ST

DOVER DR

FAULK CIR

CREEL ST

CADBURY CT

SANTEE DR

RAINER ST

BETTY ST

AL
CA

ZA
R C

T

WO
OD

BU
RY

 CO
UR

T
MCQUEEN ST

PERRY ST

SOUTH OAKS DRIVE

TRAILS RD

CY
MME

R C
T

LEYBOURNE CT

BLACKWOOD DRIVE

TERRACE LN

ARBOR COURT

DONALD ST

JOHNSON ST

Date: 9/22/2023  Time: 11:41:27 AM  Path: \\Coc-srv2\4310\ANNEXATIONS\!R1 ANNEXATIONS\2023\803 Donald Street\GIS\FUTURE LAND USE MAP FOR 803 DONALD ST.mxd

PIN #: 369-12-04-0003
TMS #: 136-11-02-004

803 DONALD ST
(P23-0278)³

Disclaimer: This map is a 
graphic representation
only. It is NOT a survey.
All efforts have been
made to ensure its accuracy.
However, the City of Conway
disclaims all responsibility &
liability for the use of this map.

(843) 488-9888 ph (843) 488-9890 fax

2940 JERRY BARNHILL BLVD - CONWAY, SC 29527

PIN #: 369-12-04-0003

FUTURE LAND USE
CONSERVATION PRESERVATION

DOWNTOWN HISTORIC DISTRICT

FOREST AGRICULTURE

HIGH DENSITY RESIDENTIAL

HIGHWAY COMMERCIAL

INDUSTRIAL

INSTITUTIONAL

LOW DENSITY RESIDENTIAL

MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL

MIXED USE

NEIGHBORHOOD COMMERCIAL

PLANNED DISTRICT

PROFESSIONAL

RECREATIONAL

RURAL RESIDENTIAL

UTILITY

PARCELS

9



LIZ LN
HW

Y 7
01

 S

CATES BAY HWY

AUGUSTUS DR

JOHNSON ST

PAUL ST
DO

NA
LD

 ST

NINTH AVE

WEB LN
DUNRAVEN CT

HEMINGWAY CHAPEL RD

HOLLY LOOP

JANETTE ST

DOVER DR

FAULK CIR

CREEL ST

CADBURY CT

SANTEE DR

RAINER ST

BETTY ST

AL
CA

ZA
R C

T

WO
OD

BU
RY

 CO
UR

T
MCQUEEN ST

PERRY ST

SOUTH OAKS DRIVE

TRAILS RD

CY
MME

R C
T

LEYBOURNE CT

BLACKWOOD DRIVE

TERRACE LN

ARBOR COURT

DONALD ST

JOHNSON ST

Date: 9/22/2023  Time: 11:45:23 AM  Path: \\Coc-srv2\4310\ANNEXATIONS\!R1 ANNEXATIONS\2023\803 Donald Street\GIS\FLOOD ZONE MAP FOR 803 DONALD ST.mxd

PIN #: 369-12-04-0003
TMS #: 136-11-02-004

803 DONALD ST
(P23-0278)³

Disclaimer: This map is a 
graphic representation
only. It is NOT a survey.
All efforts have been
made to ensure its accuracy.
However, the City of Conway
disclaims all responsibility &
liability for the use of this map.

(843) 488-9888 ph (843) 488-9890 fax

2940 JERRY BARNHILL BLVD - CONWAY, SC 29527

PIN #: 369-12-04-0003

REVISED 2019 FLOOD ZONES
0.2 PCT ANNUAL CHANCE FLOOD HAZARD

A

AE

VE

PARCELS

10



11



12



13



14



15



16



 DATE:  OCTOBER 16, 2023 
 ITEM:  IV.B. 
 
 
ISSUE: 
 
Special Event Request from First Baptist Church for Jingle Jam – December 17, 2023 from 4 
p.m. to 6 p.m. 
 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
First Baptist Church is having a Jingle Jam to celebrate Christmas. People will enjoy activities 
and a play. 
 
Road closures are requested for Sixth Avenue from Elm Street to Beaty Street. 
 
A tent will be set up. 
 
First Baptist anticipates 150 participants. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Approve the special event permit as presented. 

17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



October 2, 2023 
 

 CITY OF CONWAY 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

CONWAY CITY HALL 
229 MAIN STREET, CONWAY 

MONDAY, OCTOBER 2, 2023 - 4:00 P.M. 
   

PRESENT:  Mayor Barbara Jo Blain-Bellamy, Mayor Pro Tem Justin Jordan, Autry Benton, 
Amanda Butler, William Goldfinch, Beth Helms, Larry White.   
 
STAFF:  John Rogers, Deputy City Administrator; June Wood, Public Information Officer; Jeff 
Leveille, Technology Services Director; Allison Williams, Finance Director; Timmy Williams, 
Hospitality & Beautification Director; Kayla Fleming, Associate Judge; Brandon Harrelson, 
Public Works Director; Reggie Jenerette, Solid Waste Director; Lynn Smith, Human Resource 
Director; Rock Rabon, Fleet Maintenance Director; Jasmine Waites Parker, City Attorney; James 
Friday, Public Utilities Director; Jessica Hucks, Planning and Development Director; Le Hendrick, 
Fire Chief; Ashley Smith, Recreation Director; Robert Cooper, Construction Services Director; 
Dale Long, Police Chief; Kym Wilkerson, Planning and Development Deputy Director/Zoning 
Administrator; and Alicia Shelley, City Clerk.  
 
OTHERS:  Lois Edwards, Ann Huyler, Ronald Matta.  There were approximately 20 others in 
attendance.   
    
CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Blain-Bellamy called the meeting to order, AJ Edwards of the Rock 
Church gave the invocation and led the Pledge of Allegiance.  
 
The requirements for posting notice of this meeting under South Carolina’s Freedom of 
Information Act (FOIA) were met. 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA:  Motion:  Jordan made a motion, seconded by Butler, to approve 
the October 2, 2023 meeting agenda.   Vote:  Unanimous. Motion carried.  
 
CONSENT AGENDA: 
 

A. Final Reading of Ordinance #ZA2023-10-02 (C), to annex a 0.38-acre tract and a 1.08-
acre tract of properties, totaling approximately 1.46 acres, and located at 610 & 624 
Hwy 544 (PIN’s 382-05-01-0003 & 382-05-01-0004), and rezone from the Horry 
County Highway Commercial (HC) and Convenience & Auto-Related Services (RE3) 
districts to the City of Conway Highway Commercial (HC) district.  

 
B. Final Reading of Ordinance #ZA2023-10-02 (D), to annex approximately 0.49 acres 

of property located at 508 Sellers Road (PIN 339-06-03-0032), and rezone from the 
Horry County Residential, no mobile homes allowed (SF40) district to the City of 
Conway Low/Medium-Density Residential (R-1) district. 

 
C. Final Reading of Ordinance #ZA2023-10-02 (E), amending Article 6 – Design 

Standards, of the City of Conway Unified Development Ordinance (UDO), regarding 
the building height limit in the Waccamaw Riverfront Districts one (1) and two (2).  

 

34



October 2, 2023 
 

D. Final Reading of Ordinance #ZA2023-10-02 (F), amending Article 4 – Use Tables and 
Article 10 – Subdivision and Land Development, of the City of Conway Unified 
Development Ordinance (UDO), regarding requirements related to a Conservation 
Subdivision.  

 
E. Approval of the 15th Judicial Circuit Traffic Enforcement Mutual Aid Agreement 

 
F. Special Event – Lights, Music, Christmas – December 17, 2023 

 
G. Approval of September 18, 2023 Council Meeting Minutes 

 
APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA:  Motion:  White made a motion to approve the October 
2, 2023 consent Agenda.  Goldfinch asked that Item IV.E. be moved down on the Agenda for 
discussion and the motion was amended.  Helms seconded the amended motion.  Vote:  
Unanimous.  Motion carried. 
 
PUBLIC INPUT:  
 

− Cheryl Moore Adamson spoke on behalf of the Whittemore Racepath Historical Society 
regarding her visit to Charleston and asked how the Whittemore Task Force Committee 
can move forward.  
 

− Ronald Matta spoke in opposition of the Highway 701 annexation. 
 

Motion:  Goldfinch made a motion, seconded by White, to close public input.  Vote:  Unanimous.  
Motion carried. 
 
INTRODUCTION OF NEW HIRES: 
 
Rogers introduced the following new employees: 

• Louis Stanley, Firefighter I/EMT 
• Jacob Hayden, Firefighter I 
• David Parker, Fire Inspector 
• Colton Pratt, Firefighter I 
• Ethan Hodge, Public Works Streets & Stormwater ROW Technician 
• Alexis Hardee, Finance Utility Billing Specialist 
• Kaitlyn Pardes, Parks & Recreation Assistant Aquatics Coordinator 
• Jeffery Myers, Parks & Recreation Grounds & Maintenance Technician 
• Joseph Sampugnaro, Parks & Recreation Grounds & Maintenance Technician 
• James Davenport, Parks & Recreation Grounds & Maintenance Technician 
• Janet Boddington, Police Community Service Officer 

 
SPECIAL PRESENTATION: 
 

A. Presentation of Longevity Awards – September 2023 – 5 Years:  Kyle Todd, Police; 
5 Years:  Leigha Howell, Fire; 5 Years:  Garrett Roberts, Hospitality & 
Beautification; 15 Years:  Careyce “Antwan” Nesmith, Fire; 15 Years:  Michael 

35



October 2, 2023 
 

Brazier, Solid Waste; 20 Years:  Joshua Scott, Police; 20 Years:  Christopher Jones, 
Police.  Rogers and Helms presented the Longevity Awards.   

 
B. Presentation of Tree City USA designation – Lois Edwards, South Carolina 

Forestry Service.  Lois Edwards of the South Carolina Forestry Commission presented 
the City of Conway with the Tree City USA designation for the 38th consecutive year.  
Edwards introduced her replacement, Ann Huyler, as she is retiring.   
 

Blain-Bellamy introduced Tristen Dennison and Rachell Hernandez, Youth Advisory Council 
members. 
 
FIRST READING 
 

A. First Reading of Ordinance #ZA2023-10-16 (A), to annex 0.36 acres of property 
located at 1670 Destiny Lane (PIN 383-01-04-0009), and rezone from the Horry 
County Residential, no mobile homes allowed (SF6) district to the City of Conway 
Low-Density Residential (R) district.  Hucks informed Council that this application for 
annexation was submitted as a requirement to connect to city utility services.  The 
property is located on Destiny Lane, near the intersection of Cox Ferry Road.  There are 
currently no other properties on Destiny Lane that have been annexed into the city limits.  
Additionally, while this lot is a single family detached structure, a majority of the 
surrounding properties on the same street are duplex units.  Other properties from within 
the neighborhood of College Place immediately adjacent to this property which were 
proposed for annexation in recent months were denied annexation.  The Future Land Use 
Map of the Comprehensive Plan identifies the property as High Density Residential.  The 
request to annex as the R district is due to the fact that properties requesting to be zoned 
R upon annexation can do so without a recommendation being provided by Planning 
Commission.  Hucks said that staff does not recommend approval, but that if Council 
supports annexation that the request be brought back to Planning Commission for the R3, 
High Density Residential zoning. 
 
Motion: Goldfinch made a motion, seconded by Jordan, to deny annexation of this request.  
Vote:  Unanimous.  Motion carried. 
 

B. First Reading of Ordinance #ZA2023-10-16 (B), to annex 0.35 acres of property 
located at 803 Donald Street (PIN 369-12-04-0003), and rezone from the Horry 
County Residential, no mobile homes allowed (SF20) district to the City of Conway 
Low/Medium-Density Residential (R-1) district.  Hucks stated that this annexation 
application was submitted as a requirement to connect to city utility services.  The 
property is within the Sam Johnson subdivision off of Cates Bay Highway.  There have 
been several other parcels in this subdivision that have been annexed in recent years.  
However, this would be the first one on Donald Street.  The Future Land Use Map of the 
Comprehensive Plan identifies the property as Low/Medium Density Residential (R-1).  
Hucks said that staff recommends approval. 
 
Motion:  Benton made a motion, seconded by Butler, to approve first reading of Ordinance 
#ZA2023-10-16 (B).  Vote:  Unanimous.  Motion carried. 
 

36



October 2, 2023 
 
CONSIDERATION: 
 
Consideration of Accommodations Tax Advisory Committee Funding Recommendations – 
Mungo stated that the City received $105,792.19 from the State Accommodations Tax for FY 22-
23.  SC Code of Laws (Section 6-4-10) details how these funds are allocated:   
(1) The first $25,000 to the General Fund; (2) The balance remaining must be allocated as follows: 
a. 5% of balance to General Fund; b. 30% of balance to the City’s selected designated marketing 
organization; and c. 65% of balance to tourism related expenses.  The Accommodations Tax 
Advisory Committee is tasked with reviewing applications and making a recommendation on how 
to allocate the 65% balance of $52,514.92 plus the $7,888 rollover from FY 2022.  On September 
13, 2023, the City of Conway Accommodations Tax Advisory Committee met and considered 
applications from four organizations requesting funding for FY 2023: Conway Area Chamber of 
Commerce, Conway Downtown Alive, Waccamaw Market Cooperative (Conway Farmers Market 
Association), and The Theatre of the Republic.  The four requests for funding totaled $56,125.  
The Committee recommendations are as follows:  Conway Chamber of Commerce - $10,000, 
Conway Downtown Alive - $29,125, Theater of the Republic - $12,000, and the Conway Farmers 
Market Association - $5,000 for a total of $56, 125.   
 
Goldfinch thanked Mungo for his many years of work on the Tax Advisory Committee.  Goldfinch 
asked if the City could distribute the surplus.  Mungo said that the Committee must honor what is 
on the applications.   
 
Blain-Bellamy asked if the surplus was accumulating interest.  Williams said yes.   
 
White asked if others could apply.  Mungo said anyone that has a 501 3C classification is eligible.   
 
Motion:  Benton made a motion, seconded by Goldfinch, to approve the funding recommendations 
of the Tax Advisory Committee.  Vote:  Unanimous.  Motion carried. 
 
Moved Item IV.E. from the Consent Agenda - Approval of the 15th Judicial Circuit Traffic 
Enforcement Mutual Aid Agreement – Long explained that this is a 2-year agreement that is 
renewed with the 15th Circuit law enforcement network, which consists of all of the partner 
agencies that exist in Horry and Georgetown County.  This agreement allows for mutual aid for 
events, services, and law enforcement network checkpoints.  Long said Council approves the 
agreement and then he signs as the Chief of Police for the City of Conway. 
 
Goldfinch inquired about the City of Conway Police Department’s pursuit policy.  There was some 
discussion about other agencies in our area following the same procedures and an event that 
occurred over the weekend where other agency officers sped through town.  Long said that he was 
on scene at termination, no Conway Police officers were involved, and every agency follows their 
own policies.   
 
Goldfinch asked if state law speaks to what a police officer or emergency vehicle can legally drive 
over the speed limit given certain circumstances.  Long said that is with due regard.   
 
Motion:  Goldfinch made a motion, seconded by Blain-Bellamy, to approve the 15th Judicial 
Circuit Traffic Enforcement Mutual Aid Agreement.  Vote:  Unanimous.  Motion carried. 

 

37



October 2, 2023 
 
CITY ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT: 
Rogers informed Council of the following: 

• Rogers said that staff had received a request from First Baptist Church asking for some 
type of agreement with the City that will allow them to close 6th Avenue on Sunday 
mornings. This is primarily for the safety of those crossing. Blain-Bellamy recommended 
that staff bring back more information to Council for review. 

• The ribbon cutting for pickleball courts at Collins Park is October 16 at 1 p.m. Rogers   
encouraged all of Council to attend. If you've driven by Collins Park the last few days, you 
noticed a whole new area of construction. That's the new playground that was approved in 
this year's budget. It is not replacing anything, it will be an entirely new addition. Collins 
Park is one of the busiest public spaces in the City and this will provide even more play 
opportunities for that area. 

• Tonight, is the start of games for fall sports at the Sports and Fitness Center. The City has 
1, 397 kids signed up this year, that's a greater than 5% increase from last year. Rogers said 
that both of his kids are signed up for soccer so he attested to how good everything looks 
out there. Best of luck to all of our teams and participants. 

• In other sports news, the Conway High girls’ volleyball team is on an impressive 10-game 
win streak. They have two more regular season games and then it's on to the playoffs. 
Rogers wished them the best and hopes their winning streak continues right through the 
state championship. 

• CCU's Teal Nation Store will open on Main Street next Monday, October 9 with a ribbon 
cutting at 10:00 am. 

• It's almost time for more tailgating in downtown Conway! The Chanticleer Athletic 
Foundation has asked the City to extend our planned road closures down to the roundabout 
on Laurel to accommodate their holding an additional event for season ticket holders at 
Chanti 's, and staff has obliged. Tailgating starts at 5:30 p.m. and the game will kick off at 
App State at 7:30. Everyone is invited to come pull for the Chants on the big screen on 
Town Green. And because of the earlier start time this time, there will be more restaurants 
open serving all of our visitors. 

• The City of Conway sponsored night for CCU football will be Saturday, October 28. That 
is the same day as the homecoming parade and golf cart parade. 

• Rogers said that there has been a lot of progress in the alley.  Asphalt should be mostly 
down if it's not already and bricks are starting to go up on the ERF. The restroom building 
is up and the plumbing is wrapping up as we speak. Then we can move on to electrical 
work. 

• There is a ton of stuff going on in the City of Halloween this year. The City is already 
seeing a crazy amount of foot traffic and saw big increases even before the month of 
Halloween kicked off. Rogers showed on the screen a picture that he took yesterday at 4:00 
p.m. and said that's not a dinner rush, that's not a lunch rush, that's just people bringing 
their families downtown to enjoy the Halloween decorations. Some of the City’s other sites 
to see this year include the tunnel of bones, our new friends at the Gardenwalk, a pumpkin 
display by the Clemson Extension, and the Witches Garden right outside these windows. 
If you've seen it during the day, you have to come back and see it at night. Of course, there 
are more and we have a map available. The easiest way for most people to get it is to follow 
the City of Halloween on Facebook. 

• Rogers then told of some of the highlights happening in the City: 

38



October 2, 2023 
 

− The decorating contest is going on now. There are details on our website to sign up. 
Judging will be done during the week leading up to Halloween. 

− Conway Downtown Alive's Witches, Wizards and Wine is this Thursday.  Tickets sold 
out almost as soon as they went on sale so hopefully you got yours. 

− We have our first movie in the terrace this Saturday night, that will be Halloweentown. 
Next Friday is Friday the 13th, so we will show the original Friday the 13th at the terrace. 
Please remember that Friday the 13th is not a lighthearted story for the whole family. 

− The Smoke on the Waccamaw festival is next weekend, it kicks off on the 13th and goes 
into the 14th. 

− The Halloween Costume Float is Saturday the 14th. Put on your best costume and float 
down the river. 

− Forest of Fear kicks off October 19 and will be offered for two weekends. It should be 
an even better time this year than last. 

• That's some of the Halloween highlights, but please check our website and follow both the 
City of Conway and City of Halloween on Facebook. 

• Our Police and Fire departments will take part in Public Safety Day at the Myrtle Beach 
Convention Center this Saturday from 10-2. The public will be able to meet first 
responders, learn what they do, and see the equipment they use. 

• The City held the kickoff meeting for the Chestnut Bay Resilience Project last week. Phase 
I of this project is being planned now and will involve restoration of damaged wetlands 
along Crabtree Canal. Phase two will involve the actual construction of the manmade 
Carolina Bay and the new park that will go with it. Right now, staff is preparing to procure 
the engineer who will do the final design work and oversee the project. 

• Please remember that October 10 is the Conway Educational Foundation Hall of Fame 
Banquet. Our very own Mayor Blain-Bellamy will be inducted. 

• Rogers said that is all he had for tonight, but there is an update on our Department of 
Technology Services and he turned it over to Jeff Leveille. 

 
White asked for a tour of Chestnut Bay.  
 
Technology Services – Leveille updated Council with the following: 
 
City Hall and Finance: 
In the past 6 months staff spent the majority of time here in City Hall re-wiring both buildings. 
Adding the new live stream technology that includes 5 fully remote controllable cameras, 3 in the 
chambers and two in the conference room along and the software to switch between them. Staff 
also added a new audio system allowing full control remotely of every microphone. During this 
process we had to move the Access channel to the Court building to allow more space for offices.  
Following this staff rewired the Finance building during their mini renovation. 
 
Access Control: 
Staff has been working on new access control systems for multiple buildings including Public 
Safety, Building/Planning, and City Hall. Next on the schedule is the Sports and Fitness Center 
and Finance. 
 
 
 

39



October 2, 2023 
 
Server upgrades: 
With the Operating system end of life for Windows Server 2102 on October 14th, staff has been 
replacing several servers over the past 6 months including 2 authentication servers, certificate 
server, 2 file servers, the email archive server, print server, and fishing the GIS server last week. 
The new operating system is supported through 2029. Operating system end of life means there 
are not more security updates being published for it so it becomes a security risk as time goes by. 
Staff recently completed a phone system upgrade on 4 system servers and implemented a new call 
recording system expanding the capabilities of it. 
 
Camera Network: 
Staff has been working on upgrading the wireless network for the Citywide camera system. The 
City was out of address space that was maxed out at 254 devices. Staff redesigned the network and 
now have support for over 16,000 devices. Staff replaced the equipment on three waters to improve 
the speed from 100MB per second to over 1GB per second which will provide a cleaner stream 
from the cameras. Staff is currently working on upgrading the parks. 
 
Security report card: 
Staff recently completed a phishing test and the results were not as good as past tests. This time 
staff had a 7.7% failure rate with 16 clicks out of 208 emails sent. Past tests were averaging 4% so 
we will have to work on more awareness here. 
 
White asked about security at Smith Jones.  Leveille said that yes, there are cameras at Smith 
Jones. 
 
Blain-Bellamy asked about free Wi-Fi in the City.  Leveille said that Wi-Fi is available within a 
close proximity to all city buildings except Public Safety, which would include the Terrace and 
the Town Green.  Leveille said that more would be added to the back of the Court building once 
the renovations in the alley are complete. 
 
COUNCIL INPUT:  
 
Benton said that looking through the State budget 2023-2024 there is a big surplus in the budget 
and the City of Conway is the recipient of several pots of money this year.  City of Conway 
Recreation gets $900,000 for an extension, Crabtree Greenway and Canal gets $2.4 Million, and 
Public Safety got some money but he wasn’t sure of that amount, for plate readers.  Benton thanked 
staff for putting in the request and to Carla Schuessler as she worked really hard on the City’s 
behalf. Benton asked for more signage at crosswalks as cars are not yielding to pedestrians and 
anything that we can do to prevent an accident would be good.  Benton expressed his concern at 
Conway High School after school and asked for more safety enforcement.  Benton recognized 
Wanda Lilly as being an asset to the City. Benton said that he saw Brandon and Braxton on an 
asphalt paver while walking into the building and said that is leadership at the top doing whatever 
it takes to get Scarborough Alley done and he thanked them.  Benton said that he has spent a lot 
of time at Smith Jones as his son has football practice out there and he said there is lots of activity 
going on.  Benton asked if the City staff cleaned the facilities at Smith Jones.  Rogers said that 
City staff takes care of what is on the pool side and Smith Jones takes care of the basketball area, 
playground, and the bathrooms.  Benton said that they do an amazing job and he admires them for 
working so hard.  Benton then asked if there were any updates on the Whittemore Task Force.  

40



October 2, 2023 

Blain-Bellamy said that all of the members have accepted their roles and early this week a doodle 
poll is going out to the members to find a date and time when everyone can be present to meet.   

Goldfinch said in regards to Halloween, that his cousin from Georgetown is bringing his kids 
Friday to go eat, so it is not just a quality of life event for folks that call Conway home but for 
those that come here, and for businesses, retail, and restaurants that all benefit. Goldfinch told the 
Mayor that he would miss the education banquet but that she is well deserving of that accolade. 
Goldfinch congratulated the 35th Anniversary of the Haberdashery.  Goldfinch said that he listened 
to the gentleman that was opposed to the Warden Station tract and nearly everything that he said 
was factually inaccurate.  Goldfinch said that the City needs to get something out there with the 
facts as people do not understand, he is explaining the differences to people and it is clear that this 
is going to happen.  Goldfinch said do you want it done right, planned out right, and well thought 
out, not a hodge podge of a hundred-acre neighborhoods all inserted.  Goldfinch asked if we should 
do town hall meetings.  Goldfinch said that October is open enrollment for employees and he 
agreed to sit for free as a courtesy to the City of Conway to explain the process for ones that are 
ready to retire. 

Jordan said that the fall sports is crazy as his daughter is on cheer with 35-38 on the squad.  Jordan 
said that the facilities look amazing and he thanked staff.  Jordan said that his family went 
downtown Saturday and Sunday and there was lots of foot traffic which is great for the businesses. 
Jordan said that he watched the girls’ volleyball match last week and those girls are impressive.  
Jordan then wished the girls well on their upcoming match.  

Blain-Bellamy stated that she was part of the Conway Superstars event, which is a voice 
competition and said that there is awesome talent right here in Conway.  Blain-Bellamy said that 
her 8-year-old neighbor won the Junior section and a lot of people attended to cheer them all on. 
Blain-Bellamy said this past Saturday that she attended the Mariah Faith concert, which was a 
fantabulous event.  The Theatre of the Republic was crowded.  Blain-Bellamy said that she 
remembers when Mariah was on National TV and talked about Conway, South Carolina and 
helped along with CCU to put Conway on the map.  Blain-Bellamy said that Scarborough Alley is 
turning into something nice and gave a kudos to everyone involved. 

Blain-Bellamy said that earlier she introduced the students present that are part of the Mayor’s 
Advisory Council and now wanted to introduce, Destiny and Desmond, as her kids as well. 

ADJOURNMENT:  Motion: Goldfinch made a motion, seconded by Jordan to adjourn the 
meeting.  Vote: Unanimous. Motion carried. 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES:  Minutes approved by City Council this             day of 
    , 2023. 

__________________________ 
    Alicia Shelley, City Clerk 

16
October

41



DATE:  OCTOBER 16, 2023 
ITEM:  VI.  

Employee of the Month for October 2023 – Public Service 

42



DATE:  OCTOBER 16, 2023 
ITEM:  VII.A 

ISSUE: 
First Reading of Ordinance #ZA2023-11-06 (A), to annex approximately 15 acres of property located 
at 154 Winyah Road (PIN 383-00-00-0339), and rezone from the Horry County Limited Industrial (LI) 
district to the City of Conway Heavy Industrial (HI) district. 

BACKGROUND: 
On August 1, the applicant, Michael Crenshaw, President, of King Asphalt, Inc., submitted an annexation 
and rezoning application for the subject property, located at 154 Winyah Road. The property is currently 
in Horry County’s jurisdiction, zoned Horry County Limited Industrial (LI). The use of the property is 
an existing asphalt plant. The property was transferred to the applicant on August 1st, which would have 
triggered annexation when the utility accounts were requested to be changed to the current owner, King 
Asphalt, Inc. Restrictive covenants for the property were recorded and received on August 1st as well. 

Per Section 3.2.10 of the UDO, the intent of the Heavy Industrial (HI) zoning district is to accommodate 
areas for heavy manufacturing, distribution, and processing.  

Surrounding Uses / Zoning Districts: 
The property is within a primarily industrial area, with Horry County Limited Industrial (LI) zoning 
across the road (Yaeger Ave) (Capital Materials Coastal – building materials store) and directly behind the 
subject property is also Horry County LI (Blue Max Trucking). At the end of Yaeger Ave is a (approx.) 
15-acre tract, zoned City of Conway Heavy Industrial (HI), and is the site of “Vulcan Materials 
Company.” Across Winyah Rd is property zoned PD, which is the industrial portion of the Wild Wing 
Planned Development.  

CITY OF CONWAY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 
The future land use map of the Comprehensive Plan also identifies the subject property as Highway 
Commercial (HC). Per Section 3.2.10 of the UDO, the intent of the Highway Commercial (HC) district 
is to provide compatible locations to serve the automobile-oriented commercial activities in harmony 
with major highway developments, reduce traffic congestions and to enhance the aesthetic atmosphere 
of the City.  

PLANNING COMMISSION: 
Planning Commission held the required public hearing on the request at their October 5, 2023 meeting. 
Several residents of the Wild Wing community spoke in opposition, and some spoke in support of 
annexation, in the hopes that the City would enforce the requirements of the Heavy Industrial (HI) zoning 
district on the property once annexed.  

Planning Commission recommended against annexation, stating that the HI district was not appropriate 

43



for this area, as most of the other properties around the subject property are zoned Light Industrial, and 
the subject property is currently zoned the equivalent to LI in the county, Limited Industrial (LI), and is 
also considered a legal nonconforming use in the county. Even if the property were to be annexed, the 
City would have limited ability to enforce the regulations of the HI district, given that the use has been 
in operation for nearly 30 years, and outside of the noise issues, many of the concerns that the residents 
have are outside of the purview of the county or city and should be directed to DHEC and the EPA. 
 
Public input received: 
Staff has received dozens of letters opposing the annexation request, and a petition with hundreds of 
signatures was also received opposing the annexation of the property. A few letters in support of 
annexation were received, and one of the letters of opposition was rescinded.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff supports the recommendation of Planning Commission, and also recommends against annexation 
of the property at 154 Winyah Rd. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Application;  
GIS Maps;  
Google Street Views;  
Horry County Zoning Ordinance Sections pertaining to Asphalt/Concrete Batch Plants;  
Horry County Noise Ordinance;  
Horry County Special exceptions ordinance; 
Sec. 6.3.9 of the City’s UDO regarding standards for the Heavy Industrial district 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

44



ORDINANCE #ZA2023-11-06 (A) 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO ANNEX APPROXIMATELY 15 ACRES OF PROPERTY 
LOCATED    AT 154 WINYAH ROAD (PIN 383-00-00-0339), AND REQUEST TO 

REZONE FROM THE HORRY COUNTY LIMITED INDUSTRIAL (LI) DISTRICT TO 
THE CITY OF CONWAY HEAVY INDUSTRIAL (HI) DISTRICT. 

 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CONWAY:  

 
SECTION 1. FINDINGS: 
A petition has been submitted to the City Council of the City of Conway to annex approximately 15 
acres of property described herein and represented on a map.  

 
The area proposed for annexation is adjacent to the present City limits. The petition for annexation of 
land and declared zoning is hereby accepted by the governing body of the municipality of Conway, 
and made a part of the City of Conway, South Carolina, to wit: 

 
ALL AND SINGULAR, those certain parcels, lots, or tracts of land in Conway Township, County 
and    State aforesaid, containing approximately 15 acres of property located at 154 Winyah Rd (PIN 
383-00-00-0339), and request to rezone from the Horry County Limited Industrial (LI) district, to the 
City of Conway Heavy Industrial (HI) district. 

 

This annexation includes all waterways, roads, and rights-of-way adjacent to the property. 
For a more specific description of said property, see attached map. 

 
SECTION 2. APPLICATION OF ZONING ORDINANCE: 
The property is admitted as City of Conway Heavy Industrial (HI) district area       under the 
zoning laws of the municipality. 

 
SECTION 3. EFFECTIVE DATE: 
The annexation is effective as of the date of the final reading of this Ordinance. 

 
AND BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED that such changes shall be made on the Official Zoning Map. 
All ordinances or parts of ordinances inconsistent with this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent 
of such inconsistency. 

45



RATIFIED BY CITY COUNCIL, duly assembled, this                  day of                              , 2023. 
 
 

 
Barbara Jo Blain-Bellamy, Mayor Justin D. Jordan, Mayor Pro Tem 

 
 

 
K. Autry Benton Jr., Council Member  Amanda Butler, Council Member  

 
 

 
William M. Goldfinch IV, Council Member  Beth Helms, Council Member  

 
 

 
Larry A. White, Council Member ATTEST: Alicia Shelley, City Clerk 

 
 
First Reading:     

 

Final Reading:    
 
 
 
 
 
 

46



WINYAH RD

CENTURY CIR

HWY 501

ALLIED DR

WI
LD

 W
IN

G 
BL

VD

YEAGER AVE

GLOSSY IBIS DR

FAIRWAY LN

SPOONBILL DR

TEE SHOT DR

DOWITCHER DR

FAIRWAY BLVD

HONEYWELL TRL

WHISTLE STOP RD

BOHEMIA CT

HWY 501

Date: 8/8/2023  Time: 8:48:28 AM  Path: \\Coc-srv2\4310\ANNEXATIONS\!ANNEXATION REZONINGS\2023\154 Winyah Rd (King Asphalt)\GIS\ZOOMED IN AERIAL MAP FOR 154 WINYAH RD.mxd

PIN #: 383-00-00-0339
TMS #: 151-00-04-011

154 WINYAH RD³
Disclaimer: This map is a 
graphic representation
only. It is NOT a survey.
All efforts have been
made to ensure its accuracy.
However, the City of Conway
disclaims all responsibility &
liability for the use of this map.

(843) 488-9888 ph (843) 488-9890 fax

2940 JERRY BARNHILL BLVD - CONWAY, SC 29527

Legend
PARCELS

PIN #: 383-00-00-0339

47



HWY 501
WINYAH RD

WI
LD

 W
IN

G 
BL

VD

ALLIED DR

CENTURY CIR

WOOD STORK DR

HONEYWELL TRL
YEAGER AVE

WI
GE

ON
 DR

FAIRWAY LN

SPOONBILL DR

WH
OO

PI
NG

 C
RA

NE
 D

R
TEE SHOT DR

KISKADEE LOOP

WM FINLAYSON RD

DOWITCHER DR

FAIRWAY BLVD
UNIVERSITY PLAZA DR

STILT CT

BOHEMIA CT

HWY 501

Date: 8/8/2023  Time: 8:47:35 AM  Path: \\Coc-srv2\4310\ANNEXATIONS\!ANNEXATION REZONINGS\2023\154 Winyah Rd (King Asphalt)\GIS\ZOOMED OUT AERIAL MAP FOR 154 WINYAH RD.mxd

PIN #: 383-00-00-0339
TMS #: 151-00-04-011

154 WINYAH RD³
Disclaimer: This map is a 
graphic representation
only. It is NOT a survey.
All efforts have been
made to ensure its accuracy.
However, the City of Conway
disclaims all responsibility &
liability for the use of this map.

(843) 488-9888 ph (843) 488-9890 fax

2940 JERRY BARNHILL BLVD - CONWAY, SC 29527

Legend
PARCELS

PIN #: 383-00-00-0339

48



LI

PUD

LI

HC

PUD

PUD

HC

HC

PUD

PUD

HC

PUD

WINYAH RD

HWY 501
CENTURY CIR

WI
LD

 W
IN

G 
BL

VD

ALLIED DR

YEAGER AVE

GLOSSY IBIS DR

FAIRWAY LN

SPOONBILL DR

HONEYWELL TRL

TEE SHOT DR

DOWITCHER DR

FAIRWAY BLVD

BOHEMIA CT

HWY 501

Date: 8/8/2023  Time: 8:44:26 AM  Path: \\Coc-srv2\4310\ANNEXATIONS\!ANNEXATION REZONINGS\2023\154 Winyah Rd (King Asphalt)\GIS\ZONING MAP FOR 154 WINYAH RD.mxd

PIN #: 383-00-00-0339
TMS #: 151-00-04-011

154 WINYAH RD³
Disclaimer: This map is a 
graphic representation
only. It is NOT a survey.
All efforts have been
made to ensure its accuracy.
However, the City of Conway
disclaims all responsibility &
liability for the use of this map.

(843) 488-9888 ph (843) 488-9890 fax

2940 JERRY BARNHILL BLVD - CONWAY, SC 29527

CONWAY ZONING
RA

RR

R

R1

R2

R3

R4

P

IN

NC

HC

CC

CBD

LI

HI

FA

CP

WRD1

WRD2

PD

MU

MM

IC

COUNTY ZONING

PARCELS

XX

PIN #: 383-00-00-0339

49



WINYAH RD

HWY 501
CENTURY CIR

WI
LD

 W
IN

G 
BL

VD

ALLIED DR

YEAGER AVE

GLOSSY IBIS DR

FAIRWAY LN

SPOONBILL DR

HONEYWELL TRL

TEE SHOT DR

DOWITCHER DR

FAIRWAY BLVD

BOHEMIA CT

HWY 501

Date: 8/8/2023  Time: 8:45:50 AM  Path: \\Coc-srv2\4310\ANNEXATIONS\!ANNEXATION REZONINGS\2023\154 Winyah Rd (King Asphalt)\GIS\FUTURE LAND USE MAP FOR 154 WINYAH RD.mxd

PIN #: 383-00-00-0339
TMS #: 151-00-04-011

154 WINYAH RD³
Disclaimer: This map is a 
graphic representation
only. It is NOT a survey.
All efforts have been
made to ensure its accuracy.
However, the City of Conway
disclaims all responsibility &
liability for the use of this map.

(843) 488-9888 ph (843) 488-9890 fax

2940 JERRY BARNHILL BLVD - CONWAY, SC 29527

PIN #: 383-00-00-0339

FUTURE LAND USE
CONSERVATION PRESERVATION

DOWNTOWN HISTORIC DISTRICT

FOREST AGRICULTURE

HIGH DENSITY RESIDENTIAL

HIGHWAY COMMERCIAL

INDUSTRIAL

INSTITUTIONAL

LOW DENSITY RESIDENTIAL

MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL

MIXED USE

NEIGHBORHOOD COMMERCIAL

PLANNED DISTRICT

PROFESSIONAL

RECREATIONAL

RURAL RESIDENTIAL

UTILITY

PARCELS

50



154 Winyah Road – Google Street View, Dec. 2022 (from Winyah Rd) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Google Street View, June 

2019 (from Yaeger Ave) 

 

Yeager Ave 

Site 

51



City of Conway UDO, Section 6.3.9 regarding Heavy Industrial standards 

6.3.9  Heavy Industrial District (HI)   

The following performance standards shall be applied to all properties in the Heavy Industrial (HI) Districts: 

A. Odor:  No use may generate any odor that can be detected at:  
1. The outside boundary of the immediate space occupied by the enterprise generating the odor,

or
2. The lot line if the enterprise generating the odor is the only enterprise located on the lot.

B. Air & Water Pollution: No land use is permitted which entails the use of a potential source of air 
contaminant (i.e., boilers, incinerators, and furnaces) or which entails the discharge of industrial 
wastewater or industrial stormwater until the appropriate governmental agency has certified to the 
Planning Department. 
1. That the appropriate permits have been received by the developer, or
2. That the proposed use does not require such permits.

C. Electrical Disturbance or Interference 
1. No use shall create any electrical disturbance that adversely affects any operations of equipment

other than those of the creator of such disturbance.
2. No use shall cause, create or contribute to the interference with electronic signals (including

television and radio broadcasting transmissions) to the extent that the operation of any equipment
not owned by the creator of such disturbance is adversely affected.

D. Noise 
1. The maximum permissible noise level shall be 70 dB(A) between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 7:00 p.m.

and 65 dB(A) between 7:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. Measurements shall be taken at the boundary line of
the lot where the use is located. Where such lot is adjacent to a residential zoning district, the
permissible noise levels shall be 10 dB(A) less than those above.

2. An A-weighted filter constructed in accordance the specifications of the American National
Standards Institute, which automatically takes account of the varying effect on the human ear of
different pitches, shall be used on any sound level meter taking measurements required by this
section.

3. The standards established herein are expressed in terms of the Equivalent Sound Level (Leq), and
measurements shall be taken which compute the Leq.

4. Impact noises, generated by sources that do not operate more than one minute in any one-hour
period, are permissible up to a level of 10 dB(A) in excess of the figures listed herein except that this
higher level of permissible noise shall not apply from 7:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. when the adjacent lot is
zoned residential.  The impact noise shall be measured using the fast response of the sound level
meter.

5. Sources of noise which are exempt from the above requirements are
(i) temporary construction activity that occurs between 6:00 a.m. and 11:00 p.m.;
(ii) transportation vehicles not under the control of the industrial use; and
(iii) occasionally used safety signals, warning devices and emergency pressure relief valves.

52



E. Accessory Dwellings Permitted: 
1. Dwellings incidental to a permitted agricultural or horticultural use provided that such related

dwellings are occupied only by persons employed directly on the premises.
2. Watchmen or caretakers single-family dwelling providing that it is located on the premises of a

permitted use; and provided that the head of the household is employed by the industry as a
watchman or caretaker of that permitted use.

3. See Table 6.2 for ADU dimensional requirements in the HI Zoning District.

53



Horry County Noise Ordinance and other applicable sections (i.e. special event permits): 

ARTICLE III. - NOISE CONTROL [2] 

Footnotes: 

--- (2) --- 

Editor's note— Ord. No. 108-98, adopted July 27, 1999 repealed art. III, §§ 13-31—13-33 in their entirety 
and enacted similar provisions to read as herein set out as §§ 13-31—13-35. See the Code Comparative 
Table. 

Sec. 13-31. - Intent. 

(a) The making and creation of excessive, unnecessary or unusually loud noises within the 
unincorporated areas of the county is a condition which has existed for some time and the extent and 
volume of such noises is increasing; 

(b) The making, creation or maintenance of such excessive unnecessary, unnatural or unusually loud 
noises which are prolonged, unusual and unnatural in their time, place and use effect and are a 
detriment to public health, comfort, convenience, safety, welfare and prosperity of the residents of the 
unincorporated areas of the county; and, 

(c) The necessity in the public interest for the provisions and prohibitions hereinafter contained and 
enacted, is declared as a matter of legislative determination and public policy, and it is further declared 
that the provisions and prohibitions hereinafter contained and enacted are in pursuance of and for the 
purpose of securing and promoting the public health, comfort, convenience, safety, welfare and 
prosperity and the peace and quiet of the unincorporated areas of the county and its inhabitants. 

(Ord. No. 108-98, § 3, 7-27-99) 

Sec. 13-32. - Certain noises prohibited. 

modified 

(a) It shall be unlawful for any person to make, continue or cause to be continued, any excessive, 
unnecessary or unusually loud noise which either annoys, disturbs, injures or endangers the comfort, 
repose, health, peace or safety of others, within the unincorporated areas of the county.  

(b) The following acts, among others are declared to be loud, disturbing and unnecessary noises in 
violation of this section, but such enumeration shall not be deemed to be exclusive, namely:  

(1) Horns, signaling devices, etc. The sounding of any horn or signaling device on any 
automobile, motorcycle or other vehicle on any street or public place within the unincorporated 
areas of the county, except as a danger warning; the creation by means of any such signaling 
device of any unreasonably loud or harsh sound; and the sounding of any such device for an 
unnecessary and unreasonable period of time. The use of any signaling device, except one 

54



operated by hand or electricity; the use of any horn, whistle or other device operated by engine 
exhaust; and the use of any such signaling device when traffic is for any reason held up.  

(2) Radios, phonographs, etc. The using, operation or permitting to be played, used or operated, 
any radio receiving set, musical instrument, phonograph or other machine or device for the 
producing or reproducing of sound in such manner as to disturb the peace, quiet and comfort of 
persons in the vicinity who are not voluntary listeners thereto. The operation of such set, 
instrument, machine or device between the hours of 11:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. in such a manner 
as to be audible at a distance of fifty (50) feet shall be prohibited unless operated in an 
established amusement theme park subject to the provisions of subsection 13-33(c)(3) or 
section 13-35.  

(3) Loud speakers, amplifiers for advertising. The using, operating or permitting to be played, 
used or operated, any radio receiving set, musical instrument, phonograph. loudspeaker, sound 
amplifier or other machine or device for the producing or reproducing of sound which is 
broadcast upon the public streets for the purpose of commercial advertising or attracting the 
attention of the public to any building or structure.  

(4) Yelling, shouting, etc. Yelling, shouting, hooting, whistling or singing on the public streets, 
particularly between the hours of 11:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. or at any time or place so as to 
annoy or disturb the quiet, comfort or repose of persons in any office, or in any dwelling, hotel 
or other type of residence, or of any persons in the vicinity.  

(5) Exhausts. The discharge into the open air of the exhaust of any steam engine, stationary 
internal combustion engine, motor boat or motor vehicle except through a muffler or other 
device which will effectively prevent loud or explosive noises there from.  

(6) Construction or repairing of buildings. The erection (including excavation), demolition, 
alteration or repair of any building other than between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 11:00 p.m. 
For property located within a platted major residential subdivision, the erection (including 
excavation), demolition, alteration or repair of any building other than between the hours of 
7:00 a.m. and 7:00 p.m. Monday through Friday, 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. on Saturday, and 9:00 
a.m. to 5:00 p.m. on Sunday. However, this subsection shall not be applicable in cases of urgent 
necessity in the interest of public health and safety, and then only with a permit from the 
director of code enforcement, which permit may be granted for a period not to exceed three (3) 
days while the emergency continues and which permit may be renewed for a period of three (3) 
days or less while the emergency continues.  

(7) Pile drivers, hammers, etc. The operation between the hours of 9:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. of 
any pile driver, steam shovel, pneumatic hammer, derrick, steam or electric hoist or other 
appliance, the use of which is attended by loud or unusual noise.  

(8) Drums. The use of any drum or other instrument or device for the purpose of attracting 
attention by creation of noise to any performance, show or sale.  

(9) Schools, courts, churches, hospitals. The creation of excessive noise on any street adjacent to 
any school, institute of learning, church or court while the same are in use, or adjacent to any 
hospital, which unreasonably interferes with the workings of such institution, or which disturbs 

55



or unduly annoys patients in the hospital, provided conspicuous signs are displayed in such 
street indicating that the same is a school, hospital or court street. 

(Ord. No. 108-98, § 3, 7-27-99; Ord. No. 94-03, § 1, 11-18-03; Ord. No. 131-2021, § 1, 11-2-21) 

Sec. 13-33. - Enforcement. 

(a) In the enforcement of standards established in this article, an enforcement officer may be required 
to exercise judgment in determining if a particular noise annoys, disturbs, injures, or endangers the 
comfort, repose, health, peace or safety of others and is in violation of this article or is sufficiently loud 
or otherwise so offensive that it would unreasonably disturb other persons in the vicinity. 

(b) When making such determinations the enforcement officer shall consider the following factors: 

(1) The volume of the noise.  
(2) The intensity of the noise.  
(3) Whether the nature of the noise is usual or unusual.  
(4) Whether the origin of the noise is natural or unnatural.  
(5) The volume and intensity of the background noise, if any.  
(6) The proximity of the noise to residential sleeping facilities.  
(7) The nature and zoning of the area within which the noise emanates. 
(8) The time of day or night the noise occurs.  
(9) The duration of the noise.  
(10) Whether the noise is recurrent, intermittent or constant.  

(c) In addition to the standards established above, it shall be presumed that subsection 13-32(a) has 
been violated whenever any noise or sound is projected from one property within the unincorporated 
areas of the county onto another if such sound, measured at the location of the complaint, exceeds the 
following decibel standards:  

(1) Residential uses (excluding transient commercial accommodations): 

7:00 a.m.—9:00 p.m. 60dB 
9:00 p.m.—7:00 a.m. 50dB 

(2) Public space, industrial, commercial (including transient residential accommodations) or agricultural: 

7:00 a.m.—9:00 p.m. 70dB 
9:00 p.m.—7:00 a.m. 65dB 

(3) Amusement commercial zoning districts (including planned development districts where the primary 
use is amusement commercial): 

7:00 a.m.—12:00 a.m. 70dB 
12:00 a.m.—7:00 a.m. 65dB 

 (Ord. No. 108-98, § 3, 7-27-99; Ord. No. 94-03, § 1, 11-18-03) 

56



Sec. 13-34. - Special event permits. 
(d) "Special event" means an outside or outdoor event, and can include: 

(1) Any organized formation, parade, procession or assembly consisting of persons, and which 
may include animals, vehicles or any combination thereof, which is to assemble or travel in 
unison on any street which does not comply with normal or usual traffic regulations or controls; 

(2) Outdoor musical concerts, festivals, fairs, carnivals, or rallies which may be expected to have 
five hundred (500) or more people in attendance at any one (1) time; 

(3) Sporting events which require the use of temporary structures, including grandstands and 
tents, and which may be expected to have four thousand (4,000) or more people at any one (1) 
time; 

(4) Other outdoor public assemblies involving the gathering together of persons for commercial, 
civic or social functions or recreation or for food or drink consumption, which may be expected 
to have five hundred (500) or more people at any one (1) time;  

(5) Examples of special events include filming, concerts, parades, circuses, fairs, festivals, rallies, 
block parties, community events, mass participation, sporting competitions such as marathons 
and running events, bicycle races or tours, or spectator sports such as football, basketball and 
baseball games, golf tournaments or hydroplane or boat races. Excluded are county sponsored 
events, funeral services and processions, lawful picketing on sidewalks, and demonstrations that 
do not involve the use of vehicles, animals, fireworks, pyrotechnics or equipment (other than 
sound equipment) (provided that no fee or donation is charged or required for participation or 
attendance and the Horry County Division of Public Safety is notified at least forty-eight (48) 
hours in advance of the commencement of the demonstration); 

(6) Note: Certain events and activities, other than those fitting the above definition of "special 
event," may also require special event permitting (see subsections (m) through (p), below). 

(7) The solicitation of funds from motorists on highways and streets located within the 
unincorporated areas of the county, to the extent of and consistent with S.C. Code section 5-27-
910. 

(e) Except as provided in this section, no person may conduct, promote, sponsor, organize, or enable a 
special event as defined in subsection (d), above, without having first obtained a special event permit 
from the county. 

(f) Any applicant who desires to conduct, promote, sponsor, organize, or enable a special event is 
encouraged to submit a complete application for a special event permit, to include without limitation a 
site plan depicting existing facilities and proposed temporary facilities, a description of all activities 
which will be conducted, dates, times, and location(s) for the proposed special event, and a description 
of measures to be taken to ensure the safety, health, and welfare of event goers as well as those in the 
surrounding community, as soon as possible prior to the scheduled start of the event but shall submit 
such application no more than one (1) year, and no less than forty-five (45) days, prior to the scheduled 
start of the event. 

57



(g) Applicants for a special event permit are required to acknowledge the responsibilities of hosting said 
event as it pertains to safety and security of staff members and prospective attendees. Depending upon 
the nature of the event, Horry County's Division of Public Safety ("division of public safety" or "public 
safety") may require endorsement by the appropriate county department which has a professional 
knowledge of potential issues that may be predicted for each specific event under consideration. The 
criteria to be evaluated in assessing the granting or denial of the issuance of such permits and, if 
granted, any special conditions for the granting thereof, will be promulgated by the county 
administrator or his designee. The processing of such permits will be accomplished by the division of 
public safety. General areas of consideration and regulation will include without limitation: security and 
safety, traffic circulation and parking, waste disposal, temporary structures, lighting, medical, location, 
activities, hours of operation, history, and proximity to residences, churches, schools and other special 
events. Insurance and/or the posting of a bond may be required as a condition of permitting.  

(h) The division of public safety will review the application for a special event permit for completeness 
and notify the applicant of any incomplete items within ten (10) days of the receipt of the application. 
Public safety will approve, approve with modifications or conditions, or deny the application within ten 
(10) days of receipt of a complete application. Public safety may deny or revoke the issuance of a special 
event permit when, among other things, the application contains a misrepresentation, false or 
misleading statement, evasion or suppression of a material fact, does not comply with all other 
applicable county ordinances, when the event for which a permit is sought is unlawful or constitutes a 
public nuisance, or when the applicant has not provided an adequate traffic plan or traffic controls, an 
adequate parking plan, sufficient security, appropriate crowd control, health, safety, or sanitation 
measures. 

(i) Any person aggrieved by denial of the issuance, or conditional issuance, of a special event permit by 
the division of public safety may appeal the decision to the county administrator by written request 
stating the reasons thereof within ten (10) days after the notice of denial or conditional issuance is 
received. 

(j) A special event permit shall be valid for the duration of the function, but in no case shall the permit 
be valid for more than seven (7) consecutive days, to include any setup and take-down required. 

(k)The required permit must be displayed at the site in a conspicuous location for the duration of the 
function.  

(l) A permit application must be accompanied by the payment of a nonrefundable two hundred fifty-
dollar administration fee. In addition, upon approval of the application, a fee of one hundred dollars 
($100.00) per day for each day of the permitted special event is due and payable not less than ten (10) 
days prior to the first day scheduled for the special event. These fee requirements may be waived for 
events which occur solely for the benefit of and are solely sponsored and operated by, or in which the 
entire proceeds accrue to, a governmental entity or nonprofit organization or entity. If due to inclement 
weather or other act of nature the entire event is cancelled, the permit holder will not be required to 
repay these fees so long as the content and scope of the event remains the same, and the event is 
rescheduled with the approval of the division of public safety. 

(m) Horry County Council finds that certain events occurring in the county have grown to such a level, 
and have involved such activities, that they have exceeded public acceptance of them in current form 

58



due to the noise, litter, congestion, and inadequate levels of safety and security generated as a result of 
these events, and the inordinate amount of public expenditure of resources necessary to control and 
police them. These activities are viewed by a significant segment of the public as offensive and a public 
nuisance, and damaging to the quality of life for the residents who live, work, and attend school in the 
county, unreasonably interfering with their rights and with the health, safety, peace, comfort, or 
convenience of the general public. 

(n) County council finds it necessary to restrict certain activities heretofore permissible at such events, 
and to provide specially for the abatement of unpermitted event activities, offensive to public order, 
detrimental to property values and community appearance, harmful to the enjoyment of adjacent 
property, hazardous or injurious to health, safety, peace, or welfare, and/or that require extraordinary 
expenditure of public resources. 

(o) The following are hereby declared to be nuisances negatively affecting public health, safety, peace, 
comfort, welfare, or convenience: 

(1) The congregation of large numbers of persons and vehicles resulting from a promotion, 
direction, advertisement or solicitation for individuals to attend unpermitted events by persons 
or groups identifying or claiming Horry County or any portion thereof as the gathering or focal 
location, when such results in vehicles and participants congregating in such numbers and at 
such a length of time that it works to the detriment of the public health, safety and welfare of 
the citizens, or requires a heightened law enforcement response or intensity of law enforcement 
response, or a heightened expenditure of public resources. Factors relevant to this 
determination include, without limitation, numbers in attendance, location, noise, litter, 
congestion, and alcohol consumption.  

(2) Any unpermitted activity or event at any location where violations of state statute or county 
code, breaches of the peace, or disorderly conduct occur or are alleged legitimately to have 
occurred with such disproportionate frequency or intensity that they require an excessive public 
safety response cost. "Excessive public safety response" means the deployment or dispatch of 
five (5) or more law enforcement officers to the location at any one (1) time, or the need for 
public safety personnel or emergency vehicles, or code enforcement or public works equipment 
or personnel, due to an observation or report of public disturbances, or public health/safety or 
code/statutory violations, at the location, in an amount greater than when compared to the 
frequency or intensity of law or regulation enforcement required at other similarly situated 
locations. 

(3) Any unpermitted activity or event for which a property owner or business license holder 
permits, enables or allows drinking contests or games, or contests involving disrobing, or "wet t-
shirt," "Girls Gone Wild," ™ slaw/pudding/jello wrestling, bobbing, or similar contests, or 
motorcycle/car washes (excluding those held by church, school, or civic organizations) on such 
property or at such business, and which are visible to the public at large. 

(4) Any unpermitted activity or event for which a property owner or business license holder 
permits, enables, or allows outdoor stunt shows, dynodrag or burn-out pit activities, "burn-
outs," "burning rubber," "laying down rubber," "peeling rubber," and/or the racing or revving of 
engines, on such property or at such business. 

59



(p) No property or business owner, or any other person or legal entity in possession of or having control 
over real property shall enable, promote, contribute to, advertise for, stage, conduct, organize, sponsor, 
or allow an event or activity at such business or on such property that results in a public nuisance as 
defined in subsection (o), above, and/or is reasonably foreseeable to negatively affect county residents' 
health, safety or welfare, and/or requires excessive public safety cost, unless an application for a special 
event permit has been submitted and approved, based on a complete management plan that protects 
public safety, health and welfare, and addresses cost recovery for public expenditures arising from 
implementation of the plan. A property or business owner, or other person or legal entity in possession 
of or having control over real property, who, without an approved special event permit, permits, 
enables, promotes, contributes to, advertises for, stages, conducts, organizes, sponsors, or allows such 
an event or activity, or a "special event" as defined in subsection (d), above, at such business or property 
shall be subject to the penalty provisions set forth in section 1-8 of this Code, and shall be responsible, 
jointly and severally, for the heightened costs of public resources and public safety response costs 
arising from the event or activity. In addition, the holder of a business license who enables, promotes, 
contributes to, advertises for, stages, conducts, organizes, sponsors, or allows such unpermitted special 
events or activities on the business premises may be subject to business license suspension and/or 
revocation. 

(q) In addition to revocation of the permit, a violation of any of the terms and conditions of any permit 
issued under this section will subject  

(1) the holder of a special event permit issued pursuant to this section, and 

(2) any property or business owner, or other person or legal entity in possession of or having 
control over real property, who enabled, promoted, contributed to, advertised for, staged, 
conducted, organized, sponsored, or allowed the event at such property or business, jointly and 
severally, to the penalty provisions set forth in section 1-8 of this Code, as well as the 
heightened costs of public resources occasioned by the event, and/or business license 
suspension and/or revocation. 

(r) Public safety response costs include, without limitation, the salaries or wages of county personnel 
involved, event traffic control, fire safety or other event support, and the use of county equipment and 
other non-personnel expense.  

(s) For purposes of this section, excessive public safety response costs do not include protection of the 
attendees of a free speech event from hostile members of the public or counter-demonstrations. 
Nothing in this section shall be construed to prevent members of the public from assembling on parks or 
streets for the purpose of making any speech or conveying any message to the public or to the 
government without holding a special event permit pursuant to this section. 

(Ord. No. 108-98, § 3, 7-27-99; Ord. No. 04-09, § 1, 2-17-09; Ord. No. 37-11, § 1, 7-12-11) 

Sec. 13-35. - Exemptions. 

Exempted from the provisions of this article are: 

(1) Lawnmowers and agricultural equipment; 

(2) Noises of safety signals, warning devices and emergency pressure relief valves; 

60



(3) Noise resulting from any authorized emergency vehicles when responding to an emergency call or 
acting in time of emergency; 

(4) Noises resulting from emergency work; 

(5) Noise from school bells, church bells or chimes; 

(6) Sounds generated by natural phenomena; 

(7) Any other noise resulting from activities sponsored or cosponsored by the county; 

(8) Noise emanating from scheduled outdoor sporting events prior to 1:00 a.m.; 

(9) Noise emanating from regularly scheduled daily musical shows and concerts in established 
amusement theme parks prior to 11:00 p.m. On the following holidays the exemption is extended until 
12:30 a.m.: New Year's Day, Martin Luther King Day, President's Day, Good Friday, Memorial Day, 
Independence Day, Labor Day, Columbus Day, Veteran's Day, Thanksgiving Day, and Christmas Day. 
Special concerts and pyrotechnics displays are not exempt under this section and shall adhere to the 
decibel levels in subsection 13-33(3) unless a special event permit has been issued pursuant to section 
13-34; 

(10) Operations of asphalt and concrete batch plants, including both permanent and temporary, 
providing concrete or asphalt for public transportation or facilities projects under the direction and 
control of a governmental entity. "Governmental entity" means the state, county, municipality, 
school district, authority, and any office, agency, authority, department, commission, board, division, 
instrumentality, and institution of such. However, such operations, otherwise conducted in violation of 
subsection 13-32(b) of this article, are subject to the special event permitting provisions of section 13-34 
of this article with the exception that subsection 13-34(j) of this article pertaining to time limitation on 
permitting for such operations shall be six (6) months. In addition, the following notification and appeals 
processes shall be applicable to the special event permitting of these operations:  

a. Notification. After application for such special event permit and prior to a decision being
made by public safety on such application, notification to areas surrounding the batch plant will 
be made by: 

1.Posting of the batch plant property with signs visible from the adjacent roadway for at 
least fourteen (14) days; and 

2.Written notification to the owners of residences located within three hundred (300) 
feet of the batch plant for at least fourteen (14) days. 

On-site postings shall include contact information for those interested in contacting public 
safety to obtain information or provide input concerning the permit request. Written 
notification to homeowners shall include information regarding the permit, issues to be 
considered, and the process, including for appeals, involved. 

b. Appeals. In addition to the right of appeal provided permit applicants pursuant to subsection
13-34(i) of this Code, any person within the area of notification, above, and anyone else able to 
demonstrate to the satisfaction of the county administrator sufficient legal standing to appeal, 
may appeal the decision to the county administrator by written request stating the reasons 
thereof, and setting forth specifically how the decision deviated from the criteria established by 

61



county council, within ten (10) days after notice of the issuance of a permit is posted on the 
county's website. 

The criteria to be evaluated in assessing the granting or denying of special event permits for such 
operations and, if granted, any special conditions for the granting thereof, will be promulgated by the 
county administrator or his designee, and will include without limitation the following: 

a. Facility location. The Horry County Division of Public Safety will evaluate the location of each
batch plant, specifically regarding proximity to residential structures. The potential deleterious 
effect of a nighttime batch plant operation will be considered. Batch plants in recognized 
industrial parks will be given favored status. 

b. Developmental timeline. The Horry County Division of Public Safety will consider the timeline
regarding development of the area, placing a heavy emphasis on the party that first located to 
the area. 

c. Sound mitigation activities. The Horry County Division of Public Safety will consider any
buffers or other factors, man-made or natural, that mitigate the impact of the batch plant 
operations on nearby residential properties. 

d. Historical compliance. The Horry County Division of Public Safety will consider the historical
compliance of asphalt and concrete batch plants to provisions of this subsection. Failure to 
abide by provisions of approved special events permits will result in asphalt or concrete batch 
plants losing their eligibility to apply for future permits. 

(Ord. No. 108-98, § 3, 7-27-99; Ord. No. 94-03, § 1, 11-18-03; Ord. No. 53-10, § 1, 2-15-11) 

62



ARTICLE II – ESTABLISHED DISTRICTS 

Horry County Zoning Ordinance 

Updated October 18, 2022  38 63



ARTICLE IX – CONDITIONAL USES 

Horry County Zoning Ordinance 252 

Updated October 18, 2022 

operating in a particular lawful location when the subsequent disqualifying use or zoning district 
arrived, and only for so long as that particular adult entertainment establishment continues to 
lawfully operate in that location.  

- ANIMAL FACILITIES

A. SMALL ANIMAL PRODUCTION FACILITIES

1. The following regulatory information shall be provided for facilities where between ten
thousand one (10,001) and two hundred fifty thousand (250,000) pounds of normal
production animal live weight will be located on site at any one (1) time:

a) A copy of the SCDHEC permit to construct the proposed facility; and

b) A copy of the SCDHEC approved Animal Facility Management Plan (AFMP) for the facility;
and

c) A copy of any waivers approved by SCDHEC related to modifications in the required
setbacks or other requirements as established in the SCDHEC regulations for such
facilities; and

d) Other applicable regulatory permits necessary for the operation of such facilities.

2. The following regulatory information shall be provided for facilities where between two
hundred fifty thousand one (250,001) and five hundred thousand (500,000) pounds of
normal production animal live weight will be located on site at any one (1) time:

a) Items a.—d. above; and

b) A copy of the Dead Animal (swine or other) Disposal Plan; and

c) Plans and specification for all other manure treatment or storage structures, such as
holding tanks or manure storage sheds not included in the AFMP; and

d) A copy of the Emergency Plan for the facility.

B. THE RAISING, CARE AND HANDLING OF ANIMALS AND LIVESTOCK.

The raising, care and handling of animals, where allowed by district, must meet the minimum lot size 
requirements listed in § 205.  

C. ANIMAL BOARDING FACILITIES

7. AG3, HC, NC, CC, RCS, TRS, RE1, RE2, OPI, PR1, & RC ZONING DISTRICTS

No outside boarding of animals.

- ASPHALT, CONCRETE AND AGGREGATE PROCESSING FACILITIES.

 Facilities engaged in the processing of aggregates used in the production, demolition or recycling 
of asphalt and/or concrete products shall be subject to the following conditions.  

64



ARTICLE IX – CONDITIONAL USES 

Horry County Zoning Ordinance 253 

Updated October 18, 2022 

HOURS OF OPERATION 

Hours of operation shall be governed by the Horry County Noise Ordinance. 

SEPARATION FROM RESIDENTIAL. 

1. All proposed batch production facilities shall be located a minimum of five hundred (500) feet
from any residentially used or zoned lot, whether said lot is located within the unincorporated
county or a municipal jurisdiction. The distance shall be measured from the parcel line of the
proposed site to the residential zoning line or residentially used lot line. The separation distance
shall be reduced to three hundred (300) feet if the facility is separated from the residential by an
active railroad right-of-way or highway with at least two hundred fifty (250) feet of right-of-way.

2. All proposed outdoor aggregate processing (i.e., crushing, sorting and recycling) facilities are
required to be separated by one thousand (1,000) feet from any residentially used or zoned lot,
whether said lot is located within the unincorporated county or a municipal jurisdiction. The
distance shall be measured from the parcel line of the proposed site to the residential zoning
line or residentially used lot line. The separation distance shall be reduced to five hundred (500)
feet if the facility is separated from the residential by an active railroad right-of-way or highway
with at least two hundred fifty (250) feet of right-of-way.

MINIMUM LOT AREA 

2.5 acres. 

MINIMUM SETBACKS 

Mixing, batching, crushing and processing equipment shall be a minimum of fifty (50) feet from all 
property lines. Setbacks may be greater if required by the zoning district in which the facility is being 
constructed. Setbacks for all other buildings or uses on the property are required to meet the minimums 
for that zoning district.  

ENCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS 

All asphalt and concrete batch plants under this section shall be located in fully enclosed structures. 
Aggregate processing (i.e., crushing, sorting and recycling) facilities are not required to be fully enclosed 
as long as they meet all other requirements of this ordinance.  

VEHICLE AREAS 

All internal vehicle use areas shall be maintained in a dust free condition. All aggregate processing 
facilities must submit a dust control plan prior to receiving approval.  

LANDSCAPING/BUFFERING. 

1. Roadway Screening.

The site shall be screened from adjacent roadways to a minimum height of ten (10) feet. This can be
accomplished from any combination of walls, berms and/or vegetation whether planted or existing.
If screening is composed solely of vegetation the buffer width from the roadway must be a minimum

65



ARTICLE IX – CONDITIONAL USES 

 

Horry County Zoning Ordinance 254 

Updated October 18, 2022 

of twenty-five (25) feet and no less than eighty (80) percent opacity in the winter season. Buffers shall 
contain landscape materials equal to twice that of the standard supplemental planting requirements 
of Article V. If the screen contains walls and/or berms a minimum of ten (10) feet in height or the 
roadway only services adjacent industrial uses then the site only has to meet the landscaping 
requirements of Article V.  

2. Side and rear property lines. All side and rear property lines must be screened according to the 
requirements of Article V, unless subject to (c) below.  

3. Enhanced buffers. Asphalt and concrete batch facilities within one thousand (1,000) feet of a 
residentially used or zoned property shall be screened through enhanced buffers. The enhanced 
buffer shall be around the entire work area with openings provided for approved entrances. The site 
should be designed so that structures and or walls are designed to provide interior site screening in 
front of the openings provided for access. The enhanced buffer shall consist of one of the following 
options:  

a) Buffer one hundred (100) feet in width with twice the landscaping material as required by 
the supplemental planting in buffer areas. Existing vegetation may be supplemented using a 
combination of evergreen trees and shrubs to reach eighty (80) percent winter season 
opacity within three (3) years; or  

b) A ten-foot wall, berm or combination in addition to the landscape buffer requirements of 
Article V..  

 TRUCK ROUTES.  

1. All such facilities shall submit to the County for approval a map showing a pre-designated route 
for all transport trucks traveling north, east, south, and west between the facility and the 
nearest arterial/collector street. The intent of this section is to control the route between the 
nearest arterial/collector street and the facility, taking into consideration that the routes may be 
different depending on the travel direction.  

2. The route maps shall restrict to the greatest extent possible the routing of transport trucks so as 
to minimize routes that traverse residential neighborhoods, that unreasonably and adversely 
impact residential dwelling units, or that damage or degrade public streets from repetitive 
heavy weights or the spillage of materials from transport trucks. No facility operations shall 
commence until the county has approved the truck route map as conforming to the 
requirements of this section. Once the route map is approved by the county, all transport trucks 
shall travel the approved routes as shown on the route map unless a temporary diversion is 
necessary to avoid emergency or hazardous conditions along the approved route. The owner or 
operator shall promptly contact the county in the event of any circumstance necessitating a 
diversion from the route map.  

 MAINTENANCE OF PUBLIC STREETS.  

1. Facilities shall employ measures to limit the tracking, carrying, or depositing of aggregates, 
fillers, dirt, dust, mud, sludge, or other materials associated with the facility upon any public 
street or thoroughfare.  

66



ARTICLE IX – CONDITIONAL USES 

 

Horry County Zoning Ordinance 255 

Updated October 18, 2022 

2. All transport trucks and equipment leaving a facility shall be completely rinsed of asphalt, 
concrete, aggregates, fillers, dirt, dust, mud, sludge, or other facility materials prior to leaving 
the site.  

3. All facilities shall provide paved aprons from any paved public or private right-of-ways onto the 
site for a distance of at least one hundred (100) feet.  

4. If, on paved public roadways, there are visible tracks or deposits of aggregates, fillers, dirt, dust, 
mud, sludge, or an other material associate with the operation of a concrete or asphalt facility 
along the travel path of vehicles exiting the facility site, all such paved public road(s) shall be 
swept by the owner or operator at least once each day of operation or more often as reasonably 
required by the county to remedy and remove the tracking and deposit. All sweeping shall be 
done by a commercial grade mechanical, vacuum or regenerative air sweeper that uses water 
for controlling dust. The owner or operator shall keep a daily written log of sweeping activities. 
The log shall be kept for one month.  

5. If accessing off an unpaved road the facility operator will be required to maintain said road to 
Horry County standards. This will involve, at a minimum, the provision of a water truck and 
motor grader for all plant locations.  

 STORMWATER.  

1. All sites regardless of size will be required to obtain a Horry County stormwater permit.  

2. All liquid residues resulting from the cleaning of transport trucks and equipment shall be 
directed to impervious process holding basins approved by the county.  

a) Basins shall be designed to hydraulically separate from the stormwater detention/water 
quality control facilities.  

b) All liquids from such basins shall be either recycled through the facility or discharged to the 
sanitary sewer system.  

c) All residual material from the basins shall be collected and disposed of or recycled, in 
accordance with applicable laws and regulations.  

d) After issuance of approval by the county, records evidencing proper disposition of residue 
materials must be maintained on site.  

e) The stormwater detention pond and liquid and the holding basins may be combined into a 
single facility where it can be demonstrated that the facility will meet the discharge and 
water quality requirements. 

 - ATM AND ICE VENDING MACHINES.  

 ATM AND ICE VENDING MACHINES SHALL BE PERMITTED ON INDIVIDUAL COMMERCIAL 
LOTS WITHOUT A PRINCIPAL STRUCTURE; PROVIDED THAT:   

1. The ATM and Ice Vending machine is placed on a permanent foundation and located within a 
permanent structure improved to resemble a site-built facility. Such facility shall be landscaped 
in accordance with the standards established within this ordinance. This condition does not 
apply to accessory use ATM and Ice Vending machines.  

67



68



69



70



71



72



DATE:  OCTOBER 16, 2023 
ITEM:  VII.B. 

ISSUE: 
First Reading of Ordinance #ZA2023-11-06 (B), amending to Article 11 – Signage, of the City of 
Conway Unified Development Ordinance (UDO), regarding LED and EMC signs with digital (animated) 
display(s).  

BACKGROUND: 
In May of this year, Planning Commission reviewed and recommended approval of a text amendment 
regarding requirements for EMC/LED signs with digital/animated display that would allow theaters to 
have EMC/LED signs with digital and/or animated display. Ultimately, City Council passed the 
ordinance, but added to PC’s recommendation to allow educational facilities as well as public 
recreational facilities to have EMC/LED signage.  

Since the ordinance was amended, some religious institutions that have sought to install a sign with 
EMC/LED display. A recent request for a church on Grainger Rd was presented to Council as a special 
presentation item in recent months, and Council expressed their interest in making it easier for churches 
to have this type of signage, rather than having to go through the rezoning process. Additionally, the 
current UDO requires that churches on property of three (3) acres and greater be zoned a Planned 
Development (PD). If under three (3) acres in size, the property must be zoned properly to have a sign 
with an EMC/LED.  

Per Section 11.4.9 of the UDO: 
D. Zoning. Electronic Message Centers (EMC’s) or L.E.D. (Light Emitting Diode) signs with 
digital/animated displays are permitted as follows: 

1. IN, IC, and HC zoning districts. EMCs/LEDs with digital/animated displays are permitted
in the IN and IC zoning districts, and on properties zoned HC that are located on US Hwy
501 Bypass, to include “Church” Street.

The ordinance was amended earlier this year to also allow these types of signs for the following uses, 
regardless of zoning: 

2. Theaters.
3. Educational Facilities.
4. Public Recreational Facilities.

For churches that are located on Hwy 501 Bypass/Church Street, they must be zoned Highway 
Commercial AND be under 3 acres in size, due to the language contained within Article 5 of the UDO 
regarding the requirements for religious institutions. If over three (3) acres in size, they would need to 
rezone to a PD, and in doing so, they could add language within the PD that would permit them to have 
signage that contains an EMC/LED with digital/animated display.  

73



 
There are 2 churches that have pending requests for and EMC/LED sign. One is located on Grainger Rd, 
off Hwy 378 and the other is located on Hwy 501, near CCU and HGTC.  
 

In addition to the previous amendments to Article 11 regarding EMC/LED signs, staff proposes to amend 
the ordinance to allow religious institutions, regardless of the zoning district in which they are located, 
to have an EMC/LED sign with digital/animated display, with the condition that such sign complies with 
the requirements for signs in residential zoning districts (per Section 11.3.1) and the requirements in 
Section 11.4.9, as attached herein. 
 
PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission held the required public hearing at their October 5, 2023 meeting. There was no 
public input. Planning Commission recommended approval of the request to amend Article 11 – Signage, 
of the City of Conway Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) regarding the requirements for LED and 
EMC signs for religious institutions. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval of First Reading of Ordinance #ZA2023-11-06 (B), amending Article 11 
– Signage, of the UDO, relative to EMC/ LED signage with digital (animated) display.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

74



ORDINANCE #ZA2023-11-06 (B) 
 

AMENDMENT TO ARTICLE 11 – SIGNAGE, OF THE CITY OF CONWAY UNIFIED  
DEVELOPMENT ORIDNANCE (UDO), REGARDING ELECTRONIC MESSAGE CENTERS 
(EMC’s) AND LIGHT-EMITTING DIODES (L.E.D.) SIGNS WITH DIGITAL / ANIMATED 

DISPLAY 
 
WHEREAS, Pursuant to Title 6, Chapter 29 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as Amended 

known as the “South Carolina Local Government Comprehensive Planning Enabling Act 
of 1994” enabled the City of Conway to adopt the Unified Development Ordinance 
(UDO) of the City of Conway, South Carolina; and 

 

WHEREAS, Article 13, Section 13.1.7 of the Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) provides that 
the regulations, restrictions, and boundaries set forth in said Ordinance may from time be 
amended, supplemented, changed, or repealed in accordance with S.C. State Code §6-29-
760; and 

 

WHEREAS,  the UDO contains regulations relating to E.M.C./L.E.D. signage in Article 11, Section 
11.4.9, and has been amended previously due to advances in technology related to digital 
signage since the 2011 adoption of the UDO [Ordinances #ZA2016-08-01 (E); #ZA2019-03-
18 (C); and #ZA2023-06-05 (C)]; and 

 

WHEREAS,  due to such improvements in technology, the increased affordability of digital signage, 
and older signs with changeable copy becoming obsolete, many businesses and 
institutions are seeking to install E.M.C./L.E.D. signage in place of current signage; and 

 

WHEREAS, previous amendments included revisions to the sign ordinance that allows theaters, public 
recreational facilities and educational facilities to have an E.M.C./L.E.D. signage, and 
since that time, religious institutions have also submitted applications to install these 
types of signs; and 

 

WHERAS, following a review by the Planning Commission and the required public hearing, it has 
been determined that the UDO should be amended relative to E.M.C./L.E.D. signage with 
digital / animated display.  Therefore, be it  

 

ORDAINED,  by Conway City Council, in council duly assembled, that the UDO be shall be amended 
as attached hereto; and be it further 

 

ORDAINED, that all ordinances or parts of ordinances inconsistent with this Ordinance are hereby 
repealed to the extent of such inconsistency. 

 
EFFECTIVE DATE: This ordinance shall become effective upon final reading approval. 
 

75



RATIFIED BY CITY COUNCIL, duly assembled, this   day of    , 2023. 
     
 
 
     
Barbara Jo Blain-Bellamy, Mayor  Justin D. Jordan, Mayor Pro Tem 
 
 
  
     
K. Autry Benton, Jr., Council Member  Amanda Butler, Council Member 
    
 
  
     
William M. Goldfinch IV, Council Member  Beth Helms, Council Member 
   
 
 
    
Larry A. White, Council Member   ATTEST:   Alicia Shelley, City Clerk 
 
 
First Reading:      
 
Final Reading:     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

76



11.3.1 Signs in Residential Zoning Districts 
 

A. Signs Permitted in Residential Zoning Districts: See Section 11.4 for specific requirements. Additionally, 
some Conditional Uses in Article 5 include specific requirements for signage. 

 

B. Residential Subdivision and Multifamily Unit Signs:  See Section 11.4.11. 
 

C. Religious Institutions, Educational Facilities, Cemeteries, Country Clubs, Parks, and Similar Recreational 
Uses: Shall be permitted one (1) wall sign or one (1) freestanding sign per street frontage. This shall not 
exceed a cumulative sign surface area of fifty (50) square feet. The freestanding sign shall be a 
monument or freestanding post type and shall not exceed six (6) feet in height.  

 

Such signs may be illuminated by any means consistent with Section 11.1.8. If signs with EMC’s/LED’s 
and/or digital display is desired, such signs shall comply with Section 11.4.9.  
 

Religious institutions and educational facilities shall have the option of internally illumination or ground 
lighting; all other permitted signs shall not be internally illuminated. Such signs shall be located a 
minimum of ten (10) feet from any adjoining property boundary.  

 
11.4.9 Electronic Message Centers (EMC’s) / Light-Emitting Diodes (L.E.D.) Signs with Digital / Animated 
Display 
 

D.    Zoning 
Electronic Message Centers (EMC’s) or L.E.D. (Light Emitting Diode) signs with digital or animated displays 
are permitted as follows: 

1. IN, IC and HC Zoning Districts. EMC’s / L.E.D. signs with digital/animated displays are permitted in the 
IN, IC zoning districts, and on properties zoned HC that are located on US HWY 501 Bypass, to include 
“Church Street.” 

2. Theaters. Theaters, including buildings or structures (i.e. auditorium) that is designed for, permitted, and 
is intended for such use, and which contains audience seating, one or more screens and/or stage, and 
a lobby, for the purpose of showing motion pictures, performing live music, live plays, or other 
performance art(s), that is located outside of an HDRD, shall be permitted one (1) EMC / L.E.D. sign with 
digital/animated display. 

a. Theaters must be located on parcels that are zoned for such use. 
b. Theaters shall not include any adult entertainment uses as outlined in Section 5.1.1. 

c. Historic Design Review Districts (HDRD’s). Theaters located on properties within a HDRD shall be 

reviewed by the Community Appearance Board (CAB) for consideration of the installation of 

an EMC / L.E.D. digital/animated display.  
3. Educational Facilities/Religious Institutions, as defined in Article 2 – Definitions, shall be permitted one 

(1) EMC / L.E.D. sign with digital/animated display, in compliance with the standards contained herein. 

a. In addition to these standards, signage for educational facilities and religious institutions 
located in residential zoning districts shall adhere to the conditions in Section 11.3.1. 

4. Public Recreational Facilities, as specified in Article 4 – Use Tables, shall be permitted one (1) EMC / 
L.E.D. sign with digital/animated display, in compliance with the standards contained herein. 

 

77



DATE:  OCTOBER 16, 2023 
ITEM:  VII.C. 

ISSUE: 
First Reading of Ordinance #ZA2023-11-06 (C), amending to Article 5 – Specific Use Regulations, of 
the City of Conway Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) regarding the requirements for religious 
institutions. 

BACKGROUND: 
Current State and Federal Laws regarding religious uses 
In 2000, US Congress adopted the Religious Land Use and Institutionalized Persons Act (“RLUIPA”), 
which prohibits application of land use regulations that: 

1) impose a substantial burden on religious exercise absent a compelling justification pursued in the
least restrictive means;

2) treats a religious assembly or institution on less than equal terms with nonreligious assemblies or
institutions;

3) discriminates against religious entities on the basis of religion or religious denomination; and/or
4) totally excludes or unreasonably limits religious assemblies, institutions, or structures within a

jurisdiction.

RLUIPA requires the government to demonstrate that the burden of furtherance of a compelling 
governmental interest and is the “least restrictive means” of furthering that interest. The general rule 
applies to “the implementation of a land use regulation or a system of land use regulations, under which 
a government makes, or has in place formal or informal procedures or practices that permit the 
government to make, individualized assessments of the proposed uses for the property involved” 42 
U.S.C. §2000cc (a)(2)(c). 

The reach of RLUIPA includes things, such as zoning ordinances, site plan approvals, rezoning, PDD 
applications, variances, special exceptions and historical preservation ordinances.  

Additionally, South Carolina adopted the South Carolina Religious Freedom Act in 1999, which already 
restricted the state’s ability to burden exercise of religion. The Act prohibits the state from imposing a 
substantial burden on a person’s exercise of religion, even if the burden results from a general rule of 
applicability, even if the State demonstrates that application of the burden to the person is: 

1) in furtherance of a compelling state interest; and
2) the least restrictive means of furthering that compelling interest.

The 1999 (state) Act is applicable to all state and local laws and ordinances and the implementation of 
those laws and ordinances.  

78



What is a Planned Development? 
Per the Municipal Association’s Comprehensive Planning Guide (2018), a Planned Development district 
mixes different types of compatible residential use and commercial uses, or shopping centers, office 
parks, and other mixed-use developments. A PD is established by rezoning prior to development. It is 
characterized by a unified site design for a mixed-use development, and were historically referred to as 
“planned unit developments”. Planned developments allow flexibility to improve the design, character, 
and quality of new mixed-use developments and preserve natural and scenic features of open spaces.  
 
SC Supreme Court Case regarding Planned Developments 
In 2003, property owners in Charleston County sought to have their property rezoned from an 
agricultural zoning district to a PD. The ordinance to rezone the property to a PD was passed in February 
2004, which allowed the minimum lot size to be reduced from a 3-acre minimum to just one (1) acre. 
The ordinance was challenged, claiming that it was invalid because it was not in compliance with the 
states Planning Enabling Act and zoning regulations. The SC Supreme Court concluded that the 
ordinance to rezone the property to a PD was invalid because it was not comprised of “housing of 
different types and densities and of compatible commercial uses” nor was it “characterized by a unified 
site design for a mixed-use development”, as provided for in SC Code § 6-29-720. Additionally, SC 
Code § 6-29-740 requires that Planned Developments “encourage innovative site planning for 
residential, commercial, institutional, and industrial developments.” The only result that was achieved 
from the ordinance was to allow lot size reductions so that the property owners did not have to meet the 
lot size requirements of the agricultural district in which the property was located.  
 

While that particular ordinance was ruled to be invalid, it does not prevent counties or municipalities 
from using other techniques or processes for a PD; however, such requirements must be consistent with 
the Planning Enabling Act.  
 

Staff was unable to locate a specific time or date in which the requirement for churches to be a PD was 
established; except that when the UDO was adopted in 2011, the requirement was included. To staffs 
knowledge, there has been no text amendment since the UDO was initially adopted that required 
churches over three (3) acres in size to be a PD, or to follow PD requirements. The section of the 
ordinance staff proposes to amend is as follows: 
 
Section 5.1.22 Religious Institutions  
 

…Religious institutions over three (3) acres in size are subject to the review and procedures indicated 
in the Planned Development District (PD). All accessory uses shall be submitted and approved as part 
of the PD application process.  
 

79



There is no other use in the UDO that requires it to become a PD. While no property owner can request 
the PD zoning designation unless the property is a minimum of three (3) (contiguous) acres, the only use 
that requires the property to be a PD is a religious institution if the property is 3 or more acres in size.  
 

As part of staff’s effort to clean up the UDO, and with multiple churches requesting signage that would 
not otherwise be permitted due to the zoning of the property, staff proposes to amend the ordinance to 
eliminate the requirement for religious institutions, 3 acres or more in size, to become a Planned 
Development. This amendment would not prohibit religious institutions from requesting to be zoned a 
Planned Development, especially in cases where there are multiple parcels involved with a variety of 
different uses; however, it would need to be consistent with state law regarding Planned Developments.  
 
PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission held the required public hearing at their October 5, 2023 meeting. There was no 
public input. Planning Commission recommended approval of the request to amend Article 5 – Specific 
Use Regulations, of the City of Conway Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) regarding the 
requirements for religious institutions. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval of First Reading of Ordinance #ZA2023-11-06 (C), amending Article 5 – 
Specific Use Regulations, of the UDO, relative to religious institutions.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

80



ORDINANCE #ZA2023-11-06 (C) 
 

AMENDMENT TO ARTICLE 5 – SPECIFIC USE REGULATIONS, OF THE CITY OF 
CONWAY UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORIDNANCE (UDO), REGARDING RELIGIOUS 

INSTITUTIONS 
 
WHEREAS, Pursuant to Title 6, Chapter 29 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as Amended 

known as the “South Carolina Local Government Comprehensive Planning Enabling Act 
of 1994” enabled the City of Conway to adopt the Unified Development Ordinance 
(UDO) of the City of Conway, South Carolina; and 

 

WHEREAS, Article 13, Section 13.1.7 of the Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) provides that 
the regulations, restrictions, and boundaries set forth in said Ordinance may from time be 
amended, supplemented, changed, or repealed in accordance with S.C. State Code §6-29-
760; and 

 

WHEREAS,  the UDO contains regulations relating to Religious Institutions in Article 5, Section 
5.1.22; and 

 

WHEREAS,  in 2000, US Congress adopted the Religious Land Use and Institutionalized Persons Act 
(“RLUIPA”), which prohibits application of land use regulations on religious institutions 
and South Carolina adopted the South Carolina Religious Freedom Act in 1999, which 
already restricted the state’s ability to burden exercise of religion.; and 

 

WHEREAS,  The Municipal Association’s Comprehensive Planning Guide (2018) states “a Planned 
Development district mixes different types of compatible residential use and commercial 
uses, or shopping centers, office parks, and other mixed-use developments”; and 

 

WHEREAS, the proposed amendment to Section 5.1.22 of the UDO removes the language requiring 
religious institutions located on parcels three (3) acres or greater in size to become a 
Planned Development (PD) district to ensure compliance with RLUIPA and the SC 
Religious Freedom Act; and 

 

WHEREAS, following a review by the Planning Commission and the required public hearing, it has 
been determined that the UDO should be amended relative to Religious Institutions.  
Therefore, be it  

 

ORDAINED,  by Conway City Council, in council duly assembled, that the UDO be shall be amended 
as attached hereto; and be it further 

 

ORDAINED, that all ordinances or parts of ordinances inconsistent with this Ordinance are hereby 
repealed to the extent of such inconsistency. 

 
EFFECTIVE DATE: This ordinance shall become effective upon final reading approval. 

81



RATIFIED BY CITY COUNCIL, duly assembled, this   day of    , 2023. 
 
     
 
     
Barbara Jo Blain-Bellamy, Mayor  Justin D. Jordan, Mayor Pro Tem 
 
 
  
     
K. Autry Benton, Jr., Council Member   Amanda Butler, Council Member 
    
 
  
     
William M. Goldfinch IV, Council Member  Beth Helms, Council Member  
     
 
 
    
Larry A. White, Council Member  ATTEST:   Alicia Shelley, City Clerk 
 
 
First Reading:  _______________ 
 
Final Reading: _______________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

82



5.1.22 Religious Institutions 
Religious Institutions include churches, synagogues, temples, mosques and other places of worship, as defined by 
Article 2. A single Religious Institution shall consist of the primary building of worship and all associated accessory 
structures and uses located on the same lot, or on contiguous lots not entirely separated by public rights-of-way or 
other land lots.    
 

Religious Institutions under three acres of contiguous land shall be permitted as a conditional use in zoning districts, 
as shown in Article 4. Religious institutions over three (3) acres in size are subject to the review and procedures 
indicated by the Planned Development District (PD). All accessory uses shall be submitted and approved as part 
of the PD application process. 
 

Religious Institutions less than three acres of contiguous land shall be permitted as a Conditional Use in the following 
Zoning Districts: R, RA, RR, R-1, R-2, R-3, R-4, P, NC, HC, CC, CBD, IN, and FA.  The following requirements shall be met:  

A. Setbacks.   
1. The setback requirements for Religious Institutions shall be thirty (30) feet for parcel boundaries adjacent 

to R, RA, RR, R-1, R-2, R-3, and R-4 Zoning Districts. 
2. Standard setback requirements for the district in which the use is located (as set forth in Article 6) shall 

apply to parcel boundaries not adjacent to RA, RR, R-1, R-2, R-3, and R-4 Zoning Districts. 
B. Storefront Exclusion: In order to protect the vibrant retail and service character of the area, Religious 

Institutions shall not be permitted to occupy a storefront space as indicated in the CBD (See Section 6.3.7). 
C. Buffers. Parcel boundaries adjacent to R, RA, RR, R-1, R-2, R-3, and R-4 Zoning Districts shall require a Type A 

Buffer as set forth in Section 9.2.   
D. Rights-of-Way. For the purpose of determining the setback requirements and buffer requirements set forth 

in Sections 9.2, rights-of-way shall impede the contiguity of parcels. 
E. Accessory Structures. Accessory structures for Religious Institutions shall be subject to the requirements for 

accessory structures in commercial districts as set forth in Section 5.2.2. 
F. Architectural Design Standards.   

1. Religious Institutions located within the HDRDs shall be reviewed and approved by the Community 
Appearance Board (CAB) and shall meet the "Historic Design Review Districts: Community Appearance 
Guidelines". 

2. Religious Institutions that are located outside the HDRDs shall be reviewed and approved by the 
Planning Director and shall meet the architectural design standards stated in Section 6.3.1.C.  [ZA2018-
12-17(A)] 

 
 

83



DATE:  OCTOBER 16, 2023 
ITEM:  VII.D. 

ISSUE: 
First Reading of Ordinance #ZA2023-11-06 (D), amending Article 7 – Streets & Circulation, Article 
10 – Subdivision & Land Development, and Article 12 - Nonconformities, of the City of Conway Unified 
Development Ordinance (UDO) regarding the requirements for the installation of sidewalks. 

BACKGROUND: 
Article 7, Section 7.1.2 (D) – Complete Streets, of the UDO, requires that sidewalks be constructed along 
the frontage of all properties abutting arterial or local non-residential streets. Additionally, Article 10, 
Section 10.5.2 (C) – Street Improvements, requires that sidewalks be constructed where a development 
fronts on any existing street segment maintained by either the City, the County, or SCDOT where a 
sidewalk does not currently exist.  

There is nothing that distinguishes what the requirements for sidewalk installation are for new 
development and existing development, regardless of whether or not the site is nonconforming or could 
accommodate the installation of sidewalks.  

Section 7.1.2 (F) – Exemption/Waivers, allows TRC to exempt developments from certain complete 
street requirements, exception for the requirement to install sidewalks, where required. Only City 
Council can grant sidewalk installation exemptions, and in doing so, the applicant is required to pay the 
fee-in-lieu of installing sidewalks.  

Recently, a property on Fourth Ave (the former Coastal Ice House) requested a waiver of sidewalk 
installation, which received a favorable recommendation from TRC due to the lot constraints. While 
there was a sidewalk installed on the Fourth Ave side of the property, there are no sidewalks installed 
along the sides of the property. The building (existing) is located very close to a side property line as 
well. The requirements for sidewalk installation on this site would require that approx. 366 linear feet of 
sidewalks be constructed, which amounts to a total fee-in-lieu of $9,355 (+/-). Payments in lieu of 
sidewalk installation are used by the City to build or complete pedestrian (i.e. sidewalks), bikeway, or 
pathway systems.  

This amendment proposes to retain the requirement to install sidewalks and for the applicant to request 
a waiver of sidewalk installation; however, the fee-in-lieu amount could be reduced or eliminated if 
approved by Council, and would only be applicable to properties that could be considered legal-
nonconforming.  

CITY COUNCIL: 
The sidewalk waiver request for Conway Ice House was presented to City Council for consideration at 
the August 21, 2023 City Council meeting; wherein, City Council requested staff propose an amendment 

84



to lessen the burden of sidewalk installation requirements on proposed businesses that move into existing 
buildings which also may be located on nonconforming sites. This particular sidewalk waiver request 
was deferred to give staff the opportunity to draft an amendment to the UDO regarding sidewalk waiver 
requirements.  
 

This amendment will give Council the ability to reduce or eliminate the fee in lieu of sidewalk installation 
requirements for properties that are considered to be nonconforming due to site design issues or 
nonconforming structures. 
 
PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission held the required public hearing at their October 5, 2023 meeting. There was no 
public input. Planning Commission recommended approval of the request to amend Article 7 – Streets 
& Circulation, Article 10 – Subdivision & Land Development, and Article 12 - Nonconformities, of the 
City of Conway Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) regarding the requirements for religious 
institutions. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval of First Reading of Ordinance #ZA2023-11-06 (D). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

85



ORDINANCE #ZA2023-11-06 (D) 
 

AMENDMENT TO ARTICLE 7 – STREES & CIRCULATION, ARTICLE 10 – SUBDIVSION & 
LAND DEVELOPMENT, AND ARTICLE  12 – NONCONFORMITIES, OF THE CITY OF 

CONWAY UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORIDNANCE (UDO), REGARDING THE 
REQUIREMENTS FOR THE INSTALLATION OF SIDEWALKS 

 

WHEREAS, Pursuant to Title 6, Chapter 29 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as Amended 
known as the “South Carolina Local Government Comprehensive Planning Enabling Act 
of 1994” enabled the City of Conway to adopt the Unified Development Ordinance 
(UDO) of the City of Conway, South Carolina; and 

 
WHEREAS, Article 13, Section 13.1.7 of the Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) provides that 

the regulations, restrictions, and boundaries set forth in said Ordinance may from time be 
amended, supplemented, changed, or repealed in accordance with S.C. State Code §6-29-
760; and 

 
WHEREAS,  the UDO contains regulations relating to Sidewalk Installation in Article 7, Article 10 and 

Article 12; and 
 
WHEREAS,  fees in lieu of sidewalk installation are used by the City to build or complete pedestrian 

(i.e. sidewalks), bikeway, or pathway systems.; and  
 
WHEREAS,  existing sites/buildings without sidewalks are considered legal non-conforming.; and 
 
WHEREAS,  the fee-in-lieu amount could be reduced or eliminated if approved by Council, and would 

only be applicable to properties that could be considered legal-nonconforming.; and 
 
WHEREAS, following a review by the Planning Commission and the required public hearing, it has 

been determined that the UDO should be amended relative to the Installation of 
Sidewalks.  Therefore, be it  

 
ORDAINED,  by Conway City Council, in council duly assembled, that the UDO be shall be amended 

as attached hereto; and be it further 
 

ORDAINED, that all ordinances or parts of ordinances inconsistent with this Ordinance are hereby 
repealed to the extent of such inconsistency. 

 
EFFECTIVE DATE: This ordinance shall become effective upon final reading approval. 
 
 

86



RATIFIED BY CITY COUNCIL, duly assembled, this   day of    , 2023. 
     
 
 
     
Barbara Jo Blain-Bellamy, Mayor  Justin D. Jordan, Mayor Pro Tem 
 
 
  
     
K. Autry Benton, Jr., Council Member  Amanda Butler, Council Member 
    
 
  
     
William M. Goldfinch IV, Council Member  Beth Helms, Council Member  
   
   
 
    
Larry A. White, Council Member   ATTEST:   Alicia Shelley, City Clerk 
 
 
 
First Reading:  _______________ 
 
Final Reading: _______________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

87



7.1.2  Complete Streets  
 

F. Exemptions / Waivers. 
1. Exempting elements of ‘Complete Streets’, with the exception of sidewalks, can be granted by the 

Technical Review Committee. Exemptions may occur under the following conditions:    
a. Bicycle and pedestrian facilities are not required where they are prohibited by law. 
b. The cost for a particular project in complying with ‘Complete Streets’ principles would be 

excessively disproportionate to the need or probable use of that particular complete 
street.   

c. Estimated low population density or the level of transit service around a particular roadway 
indicates an absence of future need. 

 

2. In the event the Technical Review Committee does not grant a requested exemption, an appeal 
of the decision can be made to the Conway City Council.  City Council shall have the authority to 
grant a waiver as it may deem appropriate. 

 

3. Exemption of sidewalks  
a. The exemption of sidewalks can be granted only by Conway City Council.  If the property 

owner, developer, or the Technical Review Committee requests a waiver of the 
requirement to construct a sidewalk because there is no foreseeable connectivity, a 
waiver can be considered by Conway City Council. However, City Council will require the 
property owner and / or developer to contribute, in lieu of construction, an amount equal 
to the cost of construction of the required sidewalk, which includes any required 
infrastructure improvements for that sidewalk. The payment would then be used for the 
City of Conway to use in building or completing pedestrian, bikeway, and / or pathway 
systems. 

i. In cases where a property is a Nonconforming Site as specified in Section 12.1.4, 
with or without existing structures, Council may choose to grant a waiver of 
sidewalk installation and reduce or eliminate the fee-in-lieu amount(s), if 
recommended by TRC. 

b. The TRC shall review and make a recommendation before a waiver for sidewalk can be 
considered by Conway City Council. 

 
10.5.2 Street Improvements 
 

C. Where a development fronts on any existing street segment maintained by either the City, Horry County or 
the South Carolina Department of Transportation and a sidewalk does not exist in the right-of-way, the 
applicant shall construct a sidewalk to meet the minimum standards for that street classification, unless a 
sidewalk waiver has been granted by City Council, in accordance with Section 7.1.2, F. 

 

88



DATE:  OCTOBER 16, 2023 
ITEM:  VIII. 

 
Issue:  
 
Transfer of Ownership of Kirkland Drive between Lots 1 and 32 of Elmhurst Development  
 
Background:  
 
Developer initially transferred the streets, sidewalks, water/sewer, etc. to the City of Conway 
through a deed. However, there is a discrepancy regarding the ownership of Kirkland Drive as 
depicted on the Original Plat and the subsequent approval of the Revised Plat. 
 
The Original Plat, which was the only recorded plat during the phase 1 development, shows 
Kirkland Drive continuing between lots 1 and 32. The deed executed by Gerald technically 
transferred the title and ownership of the streets as shown on the Original Plat to the City of 
Conway. However, there are errors in the first paragraph of the legal description in the deed. 
 
Subsequently, the City and/or Gerald requested and approved the placement of a cul-de-sac at 
the intersection of Kirkland Drive and Lockwood Lane, leading to the reconfiguration of lots 1 
and 32 as shown on the Revised Plat. It is important to note that the approval of the Revised Plat 
does not revoke or transfer ownership back to Developer of the portion of Kirkland Drive 
between lots 1 and 32 as depicted on the Original Plat. 
 
Recommendation:  
 
Based on the information provided, it is recommended that the City Council approves the signing 
of quitclaim deeds. These quitclaim deeds, which are attached, will grant the necessary interests 
to the current owners of lots 1 and 32 as depicted on the Revised Plat. By signing these quitclaim 
deeds, the City is not providing any warranties of title to the grantees but simply transferring the 
City's interest in Kirkland Drive between lots 1 and 32 on the Original Plat to the owners who 
now own lots 1 and 32 as shown on the Revised Plat. 
 
By approving the signing of these quitclaim deeds, the City Council will ensure that the 
appropriate rights and interests of the current lot owners are recognized and protected. This will 
resolve the ownership discrepancy and provide clarity regarding the transfer of ownership of 
Kirkland Drive between lots 1 and 32. 
 
Please review the attached documentation for a comprehensive understanding of the issue and 
the proposed solution. Thank you for your attention to this matter. 
 

89



90



91



92



Inabnit & Dingle, P.A.  
1004 Buck Street  File Number: 2023-2289 
Conway, SC  29526 
 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 
(No Title Examination Requested or Performed for the Preparation of this Deed) 
 
 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
       TITLE OF REAL ESTATE  
COUNTY OF HORRY     (Quit-Claim Deed-No Title Certification) 
 
 

      KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS,  

That, City of Conway, a Body Politic, in the State of aforesaid for and in consideration of 

the sum of Five and No/100ths ---- ($50,000.00) DOLLARS to me paid by Gerald Builders of 

Conway, Inc. in the State aforesaid, (Receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged) have granted, 

bargained, sold and released; and by these presents do grant, bargain, sell and release unto the said 

Gerald Builders of Conway, Inc., its Successors and Assigns forever, the following described 

property.  

 

(SEE PROPERTY DESCRIPTION RIDER ATTACHED HERETO) 

 

Grantees Address: ____________________________________________ 

 

 TO HAVE AND TO HOLD unto the said Gerald Builders of Conway, Inc., its successors 

and Assigns forever, The Premises and the appurtenances thereto belonging or in anywise 

appertaining, and all the estate, right, title, interest and claim whatsoever of Grantor(s), if any.  

 

93



 
 

 Witness the execution hereof by grantor(s) this ___ day of _____________, 2023 and in the 

Two Hundred and Forty-Seventh year of the Sovereignty and Independence of the United States 

of America.  

 

 

 

 

[Remaining Page Intentionally Left Blank – Signature Page to Follow]  

 

  

94



 
 

[Signature Page] 
 
 
Signed, Sealed and Delivered 
in Presence of :  
 
 
________________________________ 
Witness # 1  
 
________________________________ 
Witness # 2 (Notary)  

 
City of Conway, a Body Politic 
 
_________________________________ 
By: ______________________________ 
Its:  ______________________________      

   
 
 
State of South Carolina 
      ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
County of  Horry 
 
 
 I, the undersigned Notary Public, do hereby certify that the above referenced grantor(s) 

personally appeared before me this day and acknowledged the due execution of the foregoing 

instrument.  Witness my hand and official seal this ____ day of _______________, 2023. 

 

     _______________________________________ 
      

_______________________________ (Print Name)  
     Notary Public for SC    
     My Commission Expires:___________________ 
 
 
 
  

95



 
 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA    
       AFFIDAVIT 
COUNTY OF HORRY  
 
PERSONALLY appeared before me the undersigned who being duly sworn, deposes and says:  
 

1. I have read the information on this affidavit and I understand such information.  
2. The property being transferred is described as Lot 1, Elmhurst Subdivision, Phase I, bearing PIN(S): 338-

08-02-0055 was transferred by City of Conway, a body politic to Gerald Builders of Conway, Inc. on 
____________________, 2023. 

3. Check one of the Following:  The Deed is  
(a) _________ Subject to the deed recording fee as a transfer for consideration paid or to be 

paid in money or money’s worth.  
(b) __________ Subject to the deed recording fee as a transfer between a corporation, a 

partnership, or other entity and a stockholder, partner, or owner of the entity, or is a transfer to 
a trust or as a distribution to a trust beneficiary.  

(c) _____X____ Exempt from the deed recording fee because of Exemption 1 
 
(If exempt, please skip items 4-7, and go to item 8 of this affidavit.)  

If exempt under exemption #14 as described in the information section of this affidavit, did the agent and principal 
relationship exist at the time of the original sale and was the purpose of this relationship to purchase realty? Check 
Yes _____ or No _______ 

4. Check one o the following if either item 3(a) or item 3(b) above has been checked (See Information section 
of this Affidavit):  

(a)  _________The fee is computed on the consideration paid or to be paid in money or money’s 
worth in the amount of  

(b) __________ The fee is computed on the fair market value of the realty which is ___________ 
(c) __________ The fee is computed on the fair market value of the realty as established for 

property tax purposes which is ___________________ 
5. Check Yes __ or No XX to the following: A lien or encumbrance existed on the land, tenement or realty 

before the transfer and remained on the land, tenement or realty after the transfer.  If “Yes”, the amount of 
the outstanding balance of this lien or encumbrance is: _______________________ 

6. The deed recording fee is computed as follows:  
(a) Place the amount listed in item 4 above here:  $ 
(b) Place the amount listed in item 5 above here:  $ 
(c) Subtract line 6(b) and place result here:  $ 

7. The deed recording fee due is based on the amount listed on Line 6(c) above and the deed recording fee due 
is $0.00 

8. As required by Code Section 12-24-70, I state I am a responsible person who was connected with the 
transaction as Attorney(s).  

9. I understand that a person required to furnish this affidavit who willfully furnishes a false or fraudulent 
affidavit is guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction, must be fined not more than one thousand dollars 
or imprisoned not more than one year, or both.  

 
SWORN to before me this  
____ day of ____________, 2023. 
 
 
 
______________________________________  _________________________________________ 
       Davis Inabnit, Jr. 
_______________________________(Print Name)    
Notary Public for South Carolina    
My Commission Expires: _________________   
  

96



 
 

 
EXHIBIT “A” 

 
PROPERTY DESCRIPTION RIDER 

 
 
 
ALL AND SINGULAR, all that certain piece, parcel or lot of land situate, lying and being located 
near Conway, State and County aforesaid, designated as Lot 1, containing 0.40 acres, as more fully 
shown on that certain plat of survey prepared for Gerald Builders of Conway, Inc., prepared by 
Nesbitt Surveying Co., Inc., dated March 10, 2006, recorded March 27, 2006 in Plat Book 212 at 
page 202 in the office of the ROD for Horry County, South Carolina.  Said plat being incorporated 
herein by reference and made a part and parcel of this description. 
 
This being a portion of the property or interest in property conveyed by Gerald Builders of 
Conway, Inc. to the City of Conway, a body politic  by deed, recorded August 19, 2002 in Deed 
Book 2510 at Page 783 in the office of the Register of Deeds for Horry County, South Carolina.  
 
PIN(S): 338-08-02-0055 
 

 
 

97



Inabnit & Dingle, P.A.  
1004 Buck Street  File Number: 2023-2289 
Conway, SC  29526 
 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 
(No Title Examination Requested or Performed for the Preparation of this Deed) 
 
 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
       TITLE OF REAL ESTATE  
COUNTY OF HORRY     (Quit-Claim Deed-No Title Certification) 
 
 

      KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS,  

That, City of Conway, a Body Politic, in the State of aforesaid for and in consideration of 

the sum of Five and No/100ths ---- ($50,000.00) DOLLARS to me paid by Michael P. Mabe in 

the State aforesaid, (Receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged) have granted, bargained, sold and 

released; and by these presents do grant, bargain, sell and release unto the said Michael P. Mabe, 

his Heirs and Assigns forever, the following described property. 

 

(SEE PROPERTY DESCRIPTION RIDER ATTACHED HERETO) 

 

Grantees Address: ____________________________________________ 

 

 TO HAVE AND TO HOLD unto the said Michael P. Mabe, his Heirs and Assigns forever, 

The Premises and the appurtenances thereto belonging or in anywise appertaining, and all the 

estate, right, title, interest and claim whatsoever of Grantor(s), if any.  

 

98



 
 

 Witness the execution hereof by grantor(s) this ___ day of _____________, 2023 and in the 

Two Hundred and Forty-Seventh year of the Sovereignty and Independence of the United States 

of America.  

 

 

 

 

[Remaining Page Intentionally Left Blank – Signature Page to Follow]  

 

  

99



 
 

[Signature Page] 
 
 
Signed, Sealed and Delivered 
in Presence of :  
 
 
________________________________ 
Witness # 1  
 
________________________________ 
Witness # 2 (Notary)  

 
City of Conway, a Body Politic 
 
_________________________________ 
By: ______________________________ 
Its:  ______________________________      

   
 
 
State of South Carolina 
      ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
County of  Horry 
 
 
 I, the undersigned Notary Public, do hereby certify that the above referenced grantor(s) 

personally appeared before me this day and acknowledged the due execution of the foregoing 

instrument.  Witness my hand and official seal this ____ day of _______________, 2023. 

 

     _______________________________________ 
      

_______________________________ (Print Name)  
     Notary Public for SC    
     My Commission Expires:___________________ 
 
 
 
  

100



 
 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA    
       AFFIDAVIT 
COUNTY OF HORRY  
 
PERSONALLY appeared before me the undersigned who being duly sworn, deposes and says:  
 

1. I have read the information on this affidavit and I understand such information.  
2. The property being transferred is described as Lot 32, Elmhurst Subdivision, Phase I, bearing PIN(S): 338-

08-02-0054 was transferred by City of Conway, a body politic to Michael P. Mabe, on 
____________________, 2023. 

3. Check one of the Following:  The Deed is  
(a) _________ Subject to the deed recording fee as a transfer for consideration paid or to be 

paid in money or money’s worth.  
(b) __________ Subject to the deed recording fee as a transfer between a corporation, a 

partnership, or other entity and a stockholder, partner, or owner of the entity, or is a transfer to 
a trust or as a distribution to a trust beneficiary.  

(c) _____X____ Exempt from the deed recording fee because of Exemption 1 
 
(If exempt, please skip items 4-7, and go to item 8 of this affidavit.)  

If exempt under exemption #14 as described in the information section of this affidavit, did the agent and principal 
relationship exist at the time of the original sale and was the purpose of this relationship to purchase realty? Check 
Yes _____ or No _______ 

4. Check one o the following if either item 3(a) or item 3(b) above has been checked (See Information section 
of this Affidavit):  

(a)  _________The fee is computed on the consideration paid or to be paid in money or money’s 
worth in the amount of  

(b) __________ The fee is computed on the fair market value of the realty which is ___________ 
(c) __________ The fee is computed on the fair market value of the realty as established for 

property tax purposes which is ___________________ 
5. Check Yes __ or No XX to the following: A lien or encumbrance existed on the land, tenement or realty 

before the transfer and remained on the land, tenement or realty after the transfer.  If “Yes”, the amount of 
the outstanding balance of this lien or encumbrance is: _______________________ 

6. The deed recording fee is computed as follows:  
(a) Place the amount listed in item 4 above here:  $ 
(b) Place the amount listed in item 5 above here:  $ 
(c) Subtract line 6(b) and place result here:  $ 

7. The deed recording fee due is based on the amount listed on Line 6(c) above and the deed recording fee due 
is $0.00 

8. As required by Code Section 12-24-70, I state I am a responsible person who was connected with the 
transaction as Attorney(s).  

9. I understand that a person required to furnish this affidavit who willfully furnishes a false or fraudulent 
affidavit is guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction, must be fined not more than one thousand dollars 
or imprisoned not more than one year, or both.  

 
SWORN to before me this  
____ day of ____________, 2023. 
 
 
 
______________________________________  _________________________________________ 
       Davis Inabnit, Jr. 
_______________________________(Print Name)    
Notary Public for South Carolina    
My Commission Expires: _________________   
  

101



 
 

 
EXHIBIT “A” 

 
PROPERTY DESCRIPTION RIDER 

 
 
 
ALL AND SINGULAR, all that certain piece, parcel or lot of land situate, lying and being located 
near Conway, State and County aforesaid, designated as Lot 32, containing 0.19 acres, as more 
fully shown on that certain plat of survey prepared for Gerald Builders of Conway, Inc., prepared 
by Nesbitt Surveying Co., Inc., dated March 10, 2006, recorded March 27, 2006 in Plat Book 212 
at page 202 in the office of the ROD for Horry County, South Carolina.  Said plat being 
incorporated herein by reference and made a part and parcel of this description. 
 
This being a portion of the property or interest in property conveyed by Gerald Builders of 
Conway, Inc. to the City of Conway, a body politic by deed, recorded August 19, 2002 in Deed 
Book 2510 at Page 783 in the office of the Register of Deeds for Horry County, South Carolina.  
 
PIN(S): 338-08-02-0054  
 

 
 

102



Oct, 16th Workshop Information 

DATE:  OCTOBER 16, 2023
ITEM: XII.

ISSUE: 
Workshop of the Warden Station Planned Development and Development Agreement 

Property information 
1,765 (+/-) acres of property located on / near the intersection of Hwy 701 S & Pitch Landing Rd, Hwy 
701 S & Wildair Circle, and Hwy 701 S. Pitch Landing Rd, and Blaze Trail (PIN’s 381-00-00-0003, 381-
08-01-0006, 381-08-04-0009, 381-08-04-0010, 380-00-00-0038, 403-00-00-0001, 403-00-00-0002, 403-00-00-
0022). 

Existing Zoning 
Current zoning: Horry County Highway Commercial (HC), Commercial Forest Agriculture (CFA), and 
Community Retail Services (RE2) districts. 

Per Horry County’s Zoning Ordinance, Section 201 – Districts Intent Statements, the CFA district is 
intended to be reserved and utilized for agriculture, forestry, residential, commercial, social, cultural, 
recreational, and religious uses. 

Per Horry County’s Zoning Ordinance, Art. 2 – Established Districts, Sec. 201 – Districts Intent 
Statements, the RE2 district is intended to provide opportunities to locate and develop businesses 
primarily engaged in the sale, rental, and provision of goods or merchandise for personal or household 
use. Uses within this district are generally located outside or on the edge of established residential 
developments along transportation corridors providing easy access to established business. Uses 
permitted in this district may be freestanding or located in minor retail centers with out-parcel 
development. Uses permitted in this district are intended to not impair existing or future residential 
development.  

Per Horry County’s Zoning Ordinance, Art. 2 – Established Districts, Sec. 201 – Districts Intent 
Statements, the HC district is intended to establish and appropriate land reserved for general business 
purposes and with particular consideration for the automobile-oriented commercial development existing 
or proposed along the county’s roadways. The regulations which apply within this district are designed 
to encourage the formation and continuance of a compatible and economically healthy environment for 
business, financial, service, amusement, entertainment, and professional uses which benefit from being 
located in close proximity to each other; and to discourage any encroachment by industrial or other uses 
capable of adversely affecting the basic commercial character of the district.  

Proposed Zoning 
Requested Zoning: City of Conway Planned Development (PD) district. 

Per Section 3.3.2 – Planned Development (PD) District, of the UDO, the intent of the PD District is to 
provide for large-scale, quality development projects (3 acres or larger) with mixed land uses which 

103



Oct, 16th Workshop Information 

create a superior environment through unified development and provide for the application of design 
ingenuity while protecting surrounding developments. 

 
Intent and Purpose – Warden Station PD 
Per the applicant’s updated PD Narrative, the intent of the Planned Development is to provide for large-
scale, quality development projects (3 acres or larger) with mixed land uses which create a superior 
environment through unified development and provide for the application of design ingenuity while 
protecting surrounding developments. The proposed PD will also be bound by a Development 
Agreement. 
 
Overview of project 
The proposed PD will contain a mixture of single-family detached dwellings, single-family attached 
dwellings, townhomes, multifamily units, and commercial outparcels.  
 

The total number for each type of dwelling unit includes the following: 
• 1,380 single-family detached (Tracts D, F, G, H, I, and J) 
• 1,018 single-family attached (townhomes) and 920 multifamily units (Tracts A, C, E, L, M, and N) 

 

The Master Site Plan Summary table in the PD narrative shows a total residential unit number of 3,318. 
The applicant would also like to be able to shift densities between tracts / areas with like uses.  
 

• Commercial uses are planned for Tracts B, O, P, Q, R, S, and T, and are identified as Commercial 
Type 1, Type 2, or Type 3. 

 
Wetlands / Flood Zones  
The largest portion of the PD (PINs 403-00-00-0002, 403-00-00-0001, and 380-00-00-0038), which is 
approx. 1,668 acres (+/-), contains 714.3 +/- acres of wetlands, per an ACOE preliminary jurisdictional 
determination (PJD) letter dated January 6, 2021. Also contained on the subject parcels is 107,688 LF 
+/- of non-wetland waters. A Wetland Assessment Report was provided, dated June 21, 2023, for an 
approximate 165-acre portion of this PIN (located closer to the Hwy 701 portion of the property), that 
shows this portion of the property contains 126 +/- acres of wetlands, which appears to be a slight 
reduction in the overall wetlands for the subject property.  
 

PIN 403-00-00-0022 (TMS 160-00-01-0004), referred to as the Richardson Tract and containing 72.8 
+/- acres, provided a delineation concurrence exhibit map showing 9.52 +/- acres of wetlands and linear 
non-aquatic resources. This tract is part of the main PD that will contain a majority of the residential 
dwellings.  
 

For properties closer to or at the intersection of Pitch Landing Rd and Hwy 701 S (including PIN’s 381-
00-00-0003, -0006, -0009, and -001), ACOE provided a letter dated March 5, 2023, stating that these 
properties do not contain aquatic resources subject to regulatory jurisdiction. The map provided as an 
exhibit to the letter shows that 0.25 +/- acres is a non-aquatic resource (pond).  

104



Oct, 16th Workshop Information 
 

Additionally, approx. 507 acres of the largest tract is located within the AE flood zone. The wetlands 
and the flood zone overlap in some areas (as seen on the site plan for the project). There is also a portion 
of a floodway on this property, as shown on the master site plan and flood zone overlay exhibits.  
 
Public utilities 
Water / Sewer Availability 
This project is outside of the City’s utility service area. Sewer would be provided via GSWSA and water 
would be provided via Bucksport Water Systems.  
 
Comprehensive Plan 
This property is not currently identified on the City’s Future Land Use Map of the Comprehensive Plan. 
It is identified on Horry County’s Imagine 2040 Comprehensive Plan as 3 future land uses: Scenic and 
Conservation Areas, Rural, and Rural Communities.  
 

Scenic and Conservation Areas: applied to areas of the county that scored exceptionally high on the 
environmental analysis and/or received strong recommendation from the community for future 
conservation. Estuarine and forested wetlands, and agricultural lands are examples of Scenic and 
Conservation. While not off limits to development, policy guidance is clear; in cases where more site-
specific information is available to show that a property or a portion of a property is not environmentally 
constrained, that information may be presented…to be considered for uses other than those defined. (taken 
from Horry County PC Decision Memo re: future land use amendment for property in same area as the 
subject property). 

 

Rural: applied to areas of the county with prime agricultural soils, extensive farm and timberlands, as 
well as natural resources and scenic views. These areas scored high in terms of soil and land cover data, 
have associated rural area management plans, and/or received feedback from the community for future 
preservation as a rural land use. Policy guidance suggests the county protect active agricultural and 
forestry operations, farmland and erodible soils in the rural areas by minimizing residential subdivisions, 
but also consider such things as rural tourism and a potential density transfer program (taken from Horry 
County PC Decision Memo re: future land use amendment for property in same area as the subject 
property).  

 

Rural Communities: would allow for lots sizes of 14,500 sq. ft. or with a max of 3 net units per acre. It 
would also allow for lot sizes as small as 10,000 sq. ft. in certain zoning districts if sustainable 
development criteria are used to preserve substantial open space and natural features, utilize buffers for 
screening from roadways and adjacent properties, avoid natural hazards, and not impeded on adjacent 
farming operations.  

 
Proposed development schedule 
The Development Agreement (DA) proposed allows the length of the initial agreement to be for a period 
of 20 years, which is based on the highland acreage of the project. The DA may be extended for up to 

105



Oct, 16th Workshop Information 

three (3), five (5) year increments; provided that the developer is not determined to be in default of the 
agreement.  
 

Per the PD narrative, subject to the current market demands, the developer anticipates a period of approx. 
18 months from approval of the PD for design and permitting, and an additional 12 months from the date 
of issuance of permits and approval for installation of required infrastructure. One-fifth of the project to 
be completed in 5 years from approval of the PD, and an additional one-fifth of project to be completed 
in each subsequent 5-year periods.  
 

The timing for completion of the project is approx. 25 years for full buildout.  
 
Permitted Uses in Current County Zoning Districts (refer to proposed PD narrative / ordinance for a list of 
proposed uses) 

PIN / Location of 
Property 

Current Zoning 
District (Horry 

County) 
Permitted / Conditional uses in Current County Zoning District 

PIN’s 380-00-00-0038; 
403-00-00-0001; -0002; 
-0022 (Pitch Landing 
Rd, Hwy 701 S, & Blaze 
Trail) 

Commercial 
Forest Agriculture 
(CFA) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Residential: manufactured homes; single-family detached dwellings (site 
built); townhomes; multiple homes on a single parcel 
 

Lodging & Transient Accommodations: bed & breakfasts; non-
profit/religious centers; group homes; RV’s as temp. living 
accommodations 
 

Animal Facilities: fishery/hatchery; animal services; livestock/agricultural, 
auction facility; commercial agricultural facility; animal raising facility 
 

Agricultural: commercial crop production; horticulture farm; product 
processing; beer, wine & spirit production, tastings, and retail sales of 
related merchandise 
 

Storage uses: accessory outdoor storage 
 

Repair & Service uses: vehicle & equipment repairs; boat service; repair 
services 
 

Outdoor Amusement Commercial (limited): golf course; firearm & sports 
facilities 
 

Transportation uses: residential subdivision airparks; commercial marina, 
fishing & shipping facility; railroad depot; water transportation service 
(not casino boats) 
 

Medical uses: medical offices and clinics 
 

Professional uses: banks, beauty salons, commercial 
cemeteries/mausoleums; community/personal services; laundromat; 
offices (i.e. admin., business, general, etc.); therapeutic massage 
 

Industrial uses: trade shops; warehouse 
 

Retail uses: bait & tackle; grocery stores; retail; lawn & garden, etc. 

106



Oct, 16th Workshop Information 
 

High Bulk Retail uses: bulk landscape material supplier; hardware store; 
bottled gas dealer (less than 1,000 gallons) 
Other Commercial uses: ATM & ice vending machines; commercial 
centers; gas stations; mini-warehouse/self-storage; restaurants/bars 
 

PIN 381-00-00-0003 
(intersection of Pitch 
Landing Rd & Hwy 701) 

Highway 
Commercial (HC) 

Residential uses: single-family detached dwellings 
 

Lodging & Transient Accommodation uses: bed & breakfasts; 
hotel/motel; campers/RV’s as temp. living accommodations; group homes 
Agricultural uses: commercial crop production; horticulture farm; produce 
stand; beer, wine & spirit production, tastings, and retail sales of related 
merchandise 
 

Storage uses: automobile storage, including tow yards; accessory outdoor 
storage; outdoor storage; boat storage 
 

Sales & Rental uses: vehicle, equipment manufactured home, & building 
sales/rentals; outdoor sales/rental; boat sales/rental 
 

Repair & Service uses: vehicle & equipment repairs; boat service; repair 
services; car wash 
 

Indoor Amusement uses: indoor amusement (general); adult 
entertainment; auditorium/theater; event center 
 

Outdoor Amusement uses: batting cages; paintball facility; golf 
amusements (driving ranges, miniature golf); golf course; family fun parks 
(temporary); sports facility 
 

Transportation uses: taxi, limousine & ground transportation vehicles; 
railroad depot (passengers & freight) 
 

Medical uses: counseling facilities that distribute prescription medication 
onsite; psychiatric hospitals; healthcare facilities (excluding standalone 
psychiatric facilities); outpatient drug & alcohol addiction treatment 
clinic; assisted living facilities 
 

Professional uses: banks/savings & loans, barber/beauty shop/salons; 
commercial cemeteries & mausoleums; community & personal services; 
fitness centers / health spas; laundromat, coin operated / dry cleaners store 
& pick up station (excluding industrial launderer); motion picture 
production studio & allied services; office uses (i.e. administrative, 
business, general purpose, professional); therapeutic massage 
 

Industrial uses: manufacturing of precision instruments; salvage yards; 
trade shops (includes contractors office); warehouse 
 

Retail uses: bait & tackle shops; grocery stores; retail; lawn/garden 
nurseries 
 

High Bulk Retail uses: bulk landscape material supplier; hardware stores; 
high bulk retail stores; LP Gas (bottled gas dealer) dealer less than 1,000 
gallons 

107



Oct, 16th Workshop Information 
 

Other Commercial uses: ATM & ice vending machines (free-standing); 
commercial center; gas stations; mini-warehouse/self-storage; 
restaurants/bars 
 

Institutional uses: civic/fraternal/social associations; schools (private); 
specialty schools 

PIN 381-08-01-0006 
(Hwy 701 S, Pitch 
Landing Rd, & Wildair 
Circle) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Community Retail 
Services (RE2) 

Residential uses: Multifamily dwellings; Quadraplex dwellings; 
townhomes 
 

Lodging & Transient Accommodation uses: hotel/motel 
 

Animal Facility uses: animal services 
 

Repair & Service uses: repair services; car wash 
 

Indoor Amusement uses: auditorium/theater 
 

Medical uses: medical offices & clinics 
 

Professional uses: banks/savings & loan; barber shops/beauty salons; 
commercial cemeteries / mausoleums; community & personal services; 
laundromats, coin operated / dry cleaners store & pick up station 
(excluding industrial launderers); office uses (administrative, business, 
general purpose, professional); therapeutic massage 
 

Retail uses: bait & tackle shops; grocery stores; retail 
 

High Bulk Retail uses: LP Gas (bottled gas) dealer less than 1,000 gallons 
 

Other Commercial uses: ATM & ice vending machines (freestanding); 
commercial centers; gas stations; restaurants/bars 
 

Institutional uses: civic/fraternal/social associations; specialty schools 
 

PIN 381-08-04-0009 & -
0010 (Hwy 701 S) 
 

Commercial 
Forest Agriculture 
(CFA) 

See list previously provided 

 
 

Previous meetings the request has been discussed and considered 
 

April 17th City Council meeting 
Staff gave a special presentation on the initial request, which included the majority of the property 
requesting a Planned Development, with outparcels requesting to annex as Highway Commercial (HC). 
 
May 4th Planning Commission 
The first public hearing was scheduled for the May 4th Planning Commission meeting. However, the 
applicants requested deferral to the July PC meeting, and the agenda for the May meeting stated the 
requests had been deferred. Therefore, the public hearing was not held. There was public input at the end 
of the PC agenda, where several people spoke in opposition to the requests. The concerns raised included 

108



Oct, 16th Workshop Information 

contiguity issues, strain on city services, traffic, lack of infrastructure, strain on affordable housing, cost 
to the city, and the possible uses in proximity to existing residential. 
 
May 17th Planning Commission Workshop 
Planning Commission held a workshop with the applicant to discuss the project in detail and the concerns 
of staff and the public. These included impacts to wetlands, collection of sanitation fees, proximity of 
city fire stations to the property, design standards for the proposed development, lack of infrastructure, 
building in or near flood zones, buffers to existing residential dwellings, open space, lot sizes for 
commercial tracts, and the development agreement.  
 
June 1st Planning Commission meeting: applicant requested deferral. 
 
July 13th Planning Commission 
A public hearing on the request to annex and rezone the property to a PD as well as the Development 
Agreement at the July 13 meeting. There were approx. 60-70 people in attendance to oppose the request. 
The concerns that were expressed included existing and future traffic on Hwy 701 South and the 
surrounding roads, strain on emergency services, lack of water/sewer facilities, capacity of public 
schools in the area, tax increases on surrounding residents, stormwater runoff, distance to existing 
residences from subject property, uncontrolled growth, flooding on surrounding properties as a result of 
this development, removal of trees, destruction of forestland and animal habitats, lack of hospitals in 
immediate area, density of the multifamily proposed, and the potential for more cookie-cutter 
developments. The applicant had just submitted revisions that had not yet been reviewed by staff, and as 
such, staff recommended that the request be deferred so that staff and Planning Commission had ample 
time to review the revisions. The request was deferred.  
 

August 3rd Planning Commission 
The applicant’s requested that the item be deferred to the September 7th Planning Commission meeting, 
in order to address some of the outstanding comments.  
 
September 7th Planning Commission 
Planning Commission recommended approval of annexing the property known as the Warden Station as 
a Planned Development (PD), with staff’s recommendations / requested revisions, to allow the request 
to move forward to council, and for the appropriate enhancement fees to be included in the development 
agreement, and for the traffic improvements as recommended in the traffic study be in line with city 
recommendations, and that the sidewalk improvements be implemented as discussed during this 
meeting. The motion passed with 2 members voting no. PC also recommended approval of the 
development agreement with the conditions specified by staff and echoing the previous motion for the 
annexation and rezoning request. This motion also passed with 2 members voting no. 
 
 

109



Oct, 16th Workshop Information 

Outstanding staff comments/concerns 
Review the attached document containing the list of remaining comments. Ones that have been addressed 
are struck thru. The applicants have submitted revised documents, as of Sept. 13th, for review and 
discussion.  
 

The biggest areas of concern for staff that remain include stormwater (runoff, maintenance of master 
stormwater ponds) and the traffic improvements as recommended in the traffic impact study.   
 
Attachments 

• Updated comment checklist (provided by staff) 
• Final copy of the TIS (traffic impact study) 
• Updated Master Plan 
• Updated PD exhibits (buffer plan, stormwater management plan, downstream analysis, 

transportation improvements plan, traffic hierarchy plan, flood zones exhibit, and wetlands 
exhibit) 

• Conceptual plan showing how property could be developed under current zoning 
• Design modifications to include in PD 
• (Clean) PD Narrative 
• Red-lined PD narrative and Development Agreement 

110



Updated Comment Checklist (PD Narrative). 

Should Planning Commission recommend approval of annexation and rezoning, staff recommends the following 

revisions to the PD, identified in Section numbers that correlate with Sections in PD narrative. 

Items that have been struck thru have been either removed or revised. What remains is what needs further 

discussion / negotiation. 

Section 1: Purpose and Intent 
a. Update UDO to latest edition, currently July 17, 2023 

 

b. Enhancement fees: Sanitation, Public Safety, Parks & Recreation, and Planning & Development. Amounts 

to be finalized by City Council, if annexation is granted. Cost analysis will assist in determining fee amounts.  
 

c. Multipurpose Path must be installed concurrently with the Spine Rd network, or a financial guarantee in 

lieu of completion be provided, subject to Council approval. 
 

d. All sections that discuss stormwater, stormwater maintenance, stormwater conveyance: ensure that 

language is clear that all stormwater will meet or exceed the requirements of the City of Conway’s 

Stormwater Ordinance that is in effect at the time of plan / permit submittal.  
 

e. 5 separate roadway improvements (as identified in the Traffic Impact Study): to be completed at such time 

that access is provided (from the external roadway into the project…i.e. from 701 to Kinlaw Lane, Pitch 

Landing Rd to Blaze Trail, etc.). Developer proposes to pay a fee in lieu of installing improvements, an 

amount equal to the engineer’s estimated costs of such roadway improvements, and for the burden of 

installing such improvements to be on the City of Conway. These improvements can be stepped, but need 

to be installed when access is required for the project. 100% of the cost will need to be the responsibility 

of the developer.  
 

Staff comment: Developer to be solely responsible for installation of roadway improvements that are 

specified in the TIA, not the City of Conway, as it is not possible to determine costs associated with required 

improvements, that would include ROW acquisition, legal fees, relocation of easements and utilities, 

permitting, and impacts to wetlands that may be incurred.  
 

Kinlaw Lane: how does developer propose to connect the project to Kinlaw? There is a small area where 

the connection is on property not owned by the applicant. We cannot approve road improvements to be 

built on someone elses property. It must be dedicated to the city once improvements are done.  
 

f. Conveyance of 500+ acres of real property to City of Conway, to include: 

o Floodproof playground installation, adequate in size to accommodate number of children that 

would utilize playground at project buildout 

o Installation of 4 pickleball courts 

o Parking areas for recreational area 

o Installation of Wildlife Refuge Trail connection, in accordance with the City’s Pathway’s & Trails Plan 

o Facilities and structures (all improvements) proposed for this acreage to be installed before 

conveyance of property to City and before plans for any tract may occur, with the exception that a 

financial guarantee may be provided to guarantee installation of these improvements.  

Need to ensure that the improvements and the conveyance will occur either by a certain length of time, or 

before so many permits have been issued, and NOT three years following the completion of the entire 

project. This will not be a conservation easement, but dedication of property, fee-simple, to the City.  
 

111



g. License Plate Readers / Cameras installed at each main entrance into project (3 entrances). Remove cost 

from PD and DA. That would be a cost to developer and could be more (or less) when installation occurs. 
 

h. Remove conflicting language concerning number of permits to be issued for installation of roadway 

improvements. There are several different numbers provided. Remove 13 (c) and 13 (c) (iv).  
 

i. Wildlife Refuge Trail should be its own enhancement. Not all appears to be within the acreage to be 

conveyed to city. Specify trail details (materials) and locations.  
 

j. Remove notes or references to Perimeter Rd and SELL 
 

k. Clarify what improvements the City would need to be responsible for on Kinlaw Lane. 
 

Section 2: Legal Description 

Section 3: Project Developer & Title 

Section 4: Master Site Plan 
a. Provide a total gross v. net density across all residential acreage in project 

b. Notes 4, 5 and 6: permitted uses are provided in these notes. Is a separate chart or table for permitted uses 

necessary, except maybe to list prohibited uses? Applicant to work with staff on fine-tuning the uses for 

each tract. 

 

Section 5: Development Description 
a. Some of the paragraphs in this section could be deleted or moved to DA 

 

b. Proposed uses for subject parcels (Table 1): 

o Clarify what Type A, B, C, D mean. Is this necessary? 

o Consider removing commercial square footage 

o Tract O: almost all (if not all) of Tract O is in the AE flood zone. Limit uses on this tract. Flood damage 

prevention standards will apply.  

o Lot widths in this table (Table 1) are different than what is provided on Table 2 of document. 
 

c. Remove any reference to utilities (water/sewer) being dedicated to the City. 
 

d. Remove any reference to Tri-plex or Quadraplex homes 
 

e. Remove sentence “style of each neighborhood being reflected in the appendices attached to this PD 

document” – there are no styles in appendices.  
 

f. Recreational acreage to be conveyed to City (with improvements) – should be done at one time, preferably 

once all improvements are installed, but a financial guarantee can be provided in lieu of all improvements 

being installed for a period of 1 year. Need language as to when the City can expect the improvements to 

be installed and when the property will be conveyed to the city (but after installation of improvements). 

This should occur within a certain timeframe or on or before the issuance of a certain number of permits – 

to be determined by Council.  
 

g. Table 2: Proposed Dimensional Standards: 

o PD perimeter buffer: setbacks would not be from the buffer, but could be within the buffer, except 

where the buffer exceeds the setback, in which case, the buffer is the setback.  

o Clarify how impervious surface ratios are being determined 

112



o Will standards for each single-family “type” be applicable to fee simple and in-common 

developments? You may want to look at adding different standards if developed in-common v. fee-

simple. 
 

Section 6: General Development Standards Throughout the PD District 
a. Is the square footage of the commercial necessary to include? Setbacks, buffers, max building heights, etc. 

will determine size of structures for each commercial tract.  
 

b. Staff would prefer simplification of permitted uses. Would rather list uses that would be prohibited.  
 

c. Conditional uses: uses could be adopted that are not currently in the UDO. I would not want the PD to be 

limited to what the UDO currently allows as a conditional use, which would essentially prohibit future uses 

that could be adopted as a conditional use in an HC or LI zoning district. 
 

d. Additional Commercial Uses: locations for such uses, as specified, would not be permitted on Tract K. 
 

e. Decks & Promenades: will docks/piers be added to the stormwater ponds throughout the project? Please 

identify where. In order for ponds (water surfaces) to count towards open space requirements (max of 

25%), a fountain or dock/pier must be installed. 
 

f. Definitions for zoning districts: add “for reference only”.  
 

g. Design Standards: should be compliant with the design standards that are in effect at the time of 

plan/permit submittal, not at the time of adoption of the PD. It would be too difficult for staff to determine 

years in the future what standards to apply, unless they were adopted as part of the PD and specified. Since 

they are not, design standards for all structures – residential or commercial, must be compliant with the 

UDO that is in effect at the time of plan/permit submittal.  
 

h. Temporary Uses: unless specific temporary uses can be specified, staff recommends removing this section. 

The UDO and the Building Code will take precedent.  
 

i. Change of one permitted use to another permitted use: this section was added for conversion of in-common 

developments to be fee-simple, and staff determined that it would not be possible to do so outside of a 

horizontal property regime (HPR) or unless parcels were designed ahead of time with the intent that the 

units would eventually become fee simple in the future, so this section cannot be supported by staff. 
 

j. Development activity, clearing and grading: Stormwater and erosion control measures will need to meet or 

exceed the requirements of the City’s Stormwater Ordinance that is in effect at the time of plan/permit 

submittal. Specific language previously provided.  
 

k. The City’s tree preservation ordinance: currently in process of being rewritten and adoption of the revised 

ordinance will be adopted in the City’s UDO and removed from general code. Remove reference from Ch. 

4 of the Code of Ordinances.  

Additionally, ADD section in PD and DA that specifies that a tree survey shall be provided for each tract 

within the PD at the time of civil plan submittal (before disturbance of any land) for such tract/area 

proposed to be developed. No clearing/grading/development will occur until staff has verified that no 

protected trees will be removed and/or that such removals are property permitted and mitigation is 

provided for such removals in accordance with the standards of the Tree Preservation Ordinance that is in 

effect at the time of plan submittal.  

l. Signage: specify “tracts” instead of commercial “types” so that it is clear “where” a sign easement is 

possible, or show easement locations on Master Site Plan. 
 

113



Remove “Article 11” and replace with “signage requirements”. 
 

m. Buffers: refers to “buffer plan”. This is too vague. Missing: landscape buffers for different uses. Staff 

recommends simplification. To PD narrative, add: 

o PD Perimeter Buffer requirements 

o Landscape buffers and specifics (i.e. plantings) 

o Buffer requirements within residential developments (i.e. single-family detached v. multifamily v. 

townhomes) 

o Buffer requirements for commercial properties/tracts (for property boundaries not required to 

have a perimeter buffer) 

o Double frontage of lots prohibited. Landscape buffers will be required to prevent double frontage, 

a minimum of 10’ in width and Type B buffer plantings, per the UDO.  
 

n. Design modifications: 

o Mod. 1: Kinlaw Lane. A detailed plan showing proposed modification needs to be added as an 

appendix in PD. 

o Mod. 2: Needs clarification. Not sure this is necessary. 

o Mod. 3: Buffers, street trees, and sidewalks not required on certain sections of roadways (as 

provided in PD). Need clarification on buffers along Kinlaw Lane.  

o Mod. 4: to allow spine road to count towards the requirements for access points for all proposed 

tracts until secondary connections are required. This is likely a Fire Code issue. 

o Mod. 5: Temporary block lengths – needs clarification. Is this necessary if only temporary? 

o Mod. 6: Max number of unit’s access from a single road internal to parcels to be increased to 50 

units where future spine road extensions provide the min. requirements of UDO. Fire Code issue.  

o Mod. 7: max number of units off of a single access at full buildout within parcel E/J shall be increased 

to 50 units. Fire code issue. However, the master site plan shows multiple points of access.  

o Mod. 8: should parcel H be developed prior to Parcel G, number of units off a single point of access 

shall be waived as long as future roadway connection to parcel G is provided. Fire code issue, but 

not sure this modification is necessary given that the site plan shows appropriate number of access 

points.  

o Mod. 9: each lot shall front a public street, but parcels developed as attached single-family to allow 

variable width access and utility easements to access the units. Staff cannot support. Fire Code 

does not permit exemption. 

o Mod. 10: sidewalk installation along roadways to be installed on each street based on criteria 

designated in the cross-walk sections on Ex. VII. Staff comments: 

▪ Why can’t sidewalks be installed on both sides of local streets where there is no trail system 

proposed? 

▪ Verify that curb/gutter will be installed on collector/minor arterial / major arterial roads. 

What will the materials be for the multipurpose paths? 

▪ Sidewalks are required to be installed on the outside perimeter of the project as well (i.e. 

Pitch Landing rd/Hwy 701) that have frontage along such exterior roadways…applicable 

when development of such tracts occur. 
 

Section 7: Residential Regulations 
a. Residential Design Standards: add “in effect at the time of plan and/or permit submittal” to end of sentence.  

 

Section 8: Commercial Regulations 
a. Add similar sentence as provided for residential design standards. See below: 

114



“All commercial development within the PD shall comply with the City’s Non-Residential Design Standards, 

and where applicable, the requirements of the Gateway Corridor Overlay (GCO)”. 
 

Section 9: Maintenance and Control 
a. Sentence should end after “public”. The City does not allow access easements in lieu of meeting frontage 

requirements for development or private roadways. Remove any reference to private roadways or rights 

of way within this section and the entire PD. 
 

Section 10: Construction Schedule 
a. Phasing covered in earlier section of PD 

b. “…various phases of PD may be developed in non-numerical order…” Improvements required to provide 

proper access to individual phases, regardless of where they are located. No gaps in connections of the 

spine road will be permitted with a financial guarantee and approval by TRC. 
 

Section 11: Offsite and Streetscape Improvements 
a. Traffic improvements outside the boundaries of the project may be required, including ROW connections 

to existing public roadways, in accordance with the requirements of the regulations of the regulatory body 

having jurisdiction over the respective roadways, as shown in the exhibits of the PD ordinance, and prior to 

the date in which 600 total permits have been issued for the project. 

o Staff needs clarification, as this seems to imply that the City will be responsible for installing 

required ROW connections and must do so before the 600-permit threshold is reached. Also 

conflicts with other sections of the document.  
 

Section 12: Amendments and Enforcement 
a. “…amendments to the PD district shall be determined administrative, minor or major, by the Planning 

Director for the City.”  

o Administrative should be “minor”.  

o Add: major amendments require a recommendation from Planning Commission and approval by 

City Council. 
 

Appendices 
Appendix A: PD District and Documentation (exhibits). Staff would like the Master Site Plan to have its own appendix 

or be the first of the exhibits. 

Appendix B: Project Aesthetics. This should be removed, since the Pattern Book is no longer included for 

consideration by the applicant. Can this be the DA instead? 

Appendix C: Reports and Addendums. Traffic Impact Study should be its own appendix. 

Staff recommends adding Appendices for: 

o Wetland delineations/letters 

o Design modifications 

o Development agreement 

o Acreage to be conveyed to city and improvements 

Additionally, ensure that appendices match those mentioned throughout the PD narrative and development 

agreement. 
 

 

115



OTHER (comments/recommendations from staff) 

Add section, as previously requested, for: Flood Damage Prevention Ordinance.  

Add section for Gateway Corridor Overlay (GCO) and which properties are subject to these standards 

Add Open Space Standards. Staff needs to review acreage being provided in each tract along with water surface 

percentages to be included as part of open space, whether ponds will contain docks/fountains and an open space 

table. Then, staff can determine if a design modification for open space standards is necessary. 

116



P
H

A
SE

 I
I

P
H

A
SE

 I
P

H
A

SE
 I

II

WARDEN STATIONWARDEN STATION SCALE: 1” = 400’
0 200’ 400’ 800’ 1600’

NORTHmaster site plan
APPENDIX A

wetlandswetlands

EXCLUDEDEXCLUDED

ex
is

tin
g 

15
5’

 R
OW

/ u
til

ity
 e

as
em

en
t

ex
is

tin
g 

15
5’

 R
OW

/ u
til

ity
 e

as
em

en
t

pr
op

os
ed

 3
0’

 g
as

 e
as

em
en

t

H
ighw

ay 701
H

ighw
ay 701

Kinlaw Lane

Kinlaw Lane

Master 
Stormwater 

Master 
Stormwater 

Master 
Stormwater 

Master 
Stormwater 

floodway

flo
od

w
ay

Master 
Open Space 

Master 
Open Space 

Potential 
Horry 

Electric Site

Pitch Landing Road

Pitch Landing Road

Master 
Open Space 

wetlandswetlands

wetlandswetlands

wetlandswetlands

flood line

flood line

flood line

flood line

TRACT ACREAGE PERMITTED USES UNITS/LOTS DENSITY

A 40.47 Single-Family 
attached; Multifamily 246 6.08 | 7.11

B 10.72 Commercial - Type 3 - -

C 21.66 Single-Family 
attached; Multifamily 104 4.80 | 6.73

D 56.84 Single Family 
detached 135 2.38 | 3.01

E 50.94 Single-Family 
attached; Multifamily 408 8.01 | 8.67

F 128.57 Single Family 
detached 302 2.35 | 2.76

G 178.76 Single Family 
detached 341 1.91 | 2.58

H 232.80 Single Family 
detached 321 1.38 | 2.81

I 153.20 Single Family 
detached 91 0.59 | 2.28

J 88.02 Single Family 
detached 190 2.16 | 2.56

K 550.14
Master Open Space;
City Recreation 
Acreage

- -

L 27.82 Multifamily 480 17.25 | 24.78

M 34.81 Multifamily 440 12.64 | 27.79

N 64.43 Single-Family 
attached; Multifamily 260 4.04 | 7.84

O 23.47 Commercial - Type 2 - -

P 66.32 Commercial - Type 1 - -

Q 14.13 Commercial - Type 1 - -

R 4.30 Commercial - Type 1 - -

S 5.26 Commercial - Type 2 - -

T 12.56 Commercial - Type 1 - -

Commercial Acreage 136.76 ac

Residential Acreage 1628.46 ac

Total Acreage 1765.22 ac

Total Number of Dwelling Units 3318 units

Gross Residential Density 2.04 du/ac

Net Residential Density 4.18 du/ac

NOTES :

1. DENSITY MAY BE SHIFTED BETWEEN RESIDENTIAL TRACTS/AREAS WITH LIKE USES 
(I.E. SINGLE-FAMILY TO SINGLE-FAMILY) MAY BE CONSIDERED A “MINOR” AMENDMENT 
TO THE PD, PROVIDED THAT THE OVERALL (TOTAL) DENSITY IS NOT INCREASED AND 
REMAINS CONSTANT.

2. SINGLE-FAMILY ATTACHED/MULTIFAMILY TRACTS/AREAS MAY BE DEVELOPED IN-
COMMON. DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS FOR IN-COMMON DEVELOPMENT MAY DIFFER 
FROM FEE-SIMPLE DEVELOPMENT.

3. REFER TO TABLE 2 IN THE PD DOCUMENT FOR DIMENSIONAL STANDARDS.

4. REFER TO THE PD DOCUMENT FOR PERMITTED USES FOR COMMERCIAL TYPE 1, 
COMMERCIAL TYPE 2, AND COMMERCIAL TYPE 3. 

5. TRACTS R, S, AND T EXCLUDED FROM PHASING DESIGNATIONS.

6. TRACT O MAY ONLY BE USED FOR OUTDOOR RECREATION AND/OR STORAGE.

GROSS | NET

Potential Potential 
GSWSA GSWSA 

SiteSite

117



20' SPINE ROAD BUFFER

100' RESIDENTIAL PD PERIMETER
BUFFER

50' RESIDENTIAL PD PERIMETER
BUFFER

25' COMMERCIAL PD PERIMETER
BUFFER

20' LAND USE BUFFER
(10' BUFFER PER TRACT)
RESIDENTIAL TO RESIDENTIAL

50' LAND USE BUFFER
(25' PER TRACT)
COMMERCIAL TO RESIDENTIAL

10' LAND USE BUFFER
(5' PER TRACT)
COMMERCIAL TO COMMERCIAL

20' SPINE ROAD BUFFER

100' RESIDENTIAL PD PERIMETER
BUFFER

50' RESIDENTIAL PD PERIMETER
BUFFER

25' COMMERCIAL PD PERIMETER
BUFFER

20' LAND USE BUFFER
(10' BUFFER PER TRACT)
RESIDENTIAL TO RESIDENTIAL

50' LAND USE BUFFER
(25' PER TRACT)
COMMERCIAL TO RESIDENTIAL

10' LAND USE BUFFER
(5' PER TRACT)
COMMERCIAL TO COMMERCIAL

WARDEN STATIONWARDEN STATION SCALE: 1” = 400’
0 200’ 400’ 800’ 1600’

NORTHbuffer plan
EXHIBIT II

wetlandswetlands

EXCLUDEDEXCLUDED

ex
is

tin
g 

15
5’

 R
OW

/ u
til

ity
 e

as
em

en
t

ex
is

tin
g 

15
5’

 R
OW

/ u
til

ity
 e

as
em

en
t

pr
op

os
ed

 3
0’

 g
as

 e
as

em
en

t

H
ighw

ay 701
H

ighw
ay 701

Kinlaw Lane

Kinlaw Lane

Master 
Stormwater 

Master 
Stormwater 

Master 
Stormwater 

Master 
Stormwater 

floodway

flo
od

w
ay

Master 
Open Space 

Master 
Open Space 

Pitch Landing Road

Pitch Landing Road

Master 
Open Space 

wetlandswetlands

wetlandswetlands

wetlandswetlands

flood line

flood line

flood line

flood line

NOTES:
ALL BUFFERS
1. BUILDING ENCROACHMENTS SHALL BE PROHIBITED WITHIN ALL BUFFERS
2. ADDITIONAL BUFFER WIDTH PROVIDED BEYOND REQUIRED SIZES SPECIFIED WITHIN THE PD MAY BE COUNTED TOWARDS 

MINIMUM OPEN SPACE PER TRACT.
3. BICYCLE, PEDESTRIAN AND EQUESTRIAN TRAILS AND SIGNAGE SHALL BE PERMITTED WITHIN THE BUFFER BY NO MORE THAN 

25% OF THE REQUIRED MINIMUM WIDTH; IF CONDITIONAL USE EXCEEDS THIS PERCENTAGE, THE BUFFER WIDTH SHALL BE 
WIDENED TO ACCOMMODATE THE DIFFERENCE.

4. LANDSCAPE BUFFERS, WETLAND BUFFERS AND ANY SUPPLEMENTAL PLANTINGS SHALL BE REQUIRED AT TIME OF TRACT 
DEVELOPMENT.

5. BUFFERS SHALL BE INSTALLED UPON FINAL APPROVAL PER TRACT DEVELOPMENT.

SPINE ROAD BUFFER
1. A 20 FT SPINE ROAD BUFFER SHALL BE PROVIDED ALONG THE PROPOSED SPINE ROADS  DEPICTED ON EXHIBIT VII WITH 

EXCEPTION TO THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS:
a. SHALL NOT BE REQUIRED ALONG PORTIONS OF SPINE ROAD ADJACENT TO MASTER OPEN SPACE.
b. SHALL NOT BE REQUIRED AT WETLAND CROSSINGS OR INTERSECTIONS WITH WETLAND BUFFERS.
c. PLANTINGS SHALL NOT BE REQUIRED WITHIN UTILITY RIGHT OF WAY OR WHEN ADJACENT TO COMBINED UTILITY 

EASEMENTS MORE THAN 50 FT IN WIDTH.
d. IN INSTANCES WHERE PARCELS OR TRACTS ARE INTENDED TO BE DEVELOPED FOR PUBLIC SAFETY OR MUNICIPAL USES 

(INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO: FIRE, POLICE, OR EMS STATIONS, WATER, WASTEWATER OR UTILITY IMPROVEMENTS), 
THE BUFFER REQUIREMENTS SHALL BE WAIVED.

2. SHALL MEET THE STANDARDS SET FORTH BY THE CITY OF CONWAY’S UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE FOR “STREET” 
DESIGNATION.

3. STORMWATER FEATURES, UTILITIES AND DEVELOPMENT ENTRANCE RIGHT OF WAYS AND ACCESSES SHALL BE PERMITTED 
WITHIN THE BUFFER 

4. SIGNAGE SHALL BE PERMITTED WITHIN THE SPINE ROAD BUFFER

LAND USE BUFFERS- 
1. LANDSCAPE BUFFERS TO DISTINGUISH LAND USES INTERNAL TO THE PD SHALL BE INSTALLED AS SPECIFIED WITH EXCEPTION 

TO THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS::
a. SHALL NOT BE REQUIRED WITHIN WETLANDS OR WETLAND BUFFERS.
b. PLANTINGS SHALL NOT BE REQUIRED WITHIN UTILITY RIGHT OF WAY OR WHEN ADJACENT TO COMBINED UTILITY 

EASEMENTS MORE THAN 50 FT IN WIDTH AT TRACT BOUNDARIES.
c. IN INSTANCES WHERE PARCELS OR TRACTS ARE INTENDED TO BE DEVELOPED FOR PUBLIC SAFETY OR MUNICIPAL USES 

(INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO: FIRE, POLICE, OR EMS STATIONS, WATER, WASTEWATER OR UTILITY IMPROVEMENTS), 
THE BUFFER REQUIREMENTS SHALL BE WAIVED IF IT IMPEDES THE ABILITY TO DEVELOP THE TRACT FOR THE INTENDED 
USE.

2. LAND USE BUFFERS SHALL BE PLANTED ACCORDING TO THE FOLLOWING RATE ON EACH TRACT, BASED UPON THE CRITERIA 
SET FORTH IN THE CITY OF CONWAY’S UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE:

a. 10 FT. LAND USE BUFFER- 5 FT. BUFFER TO BE PROVIDED EACH SIDE AND PLANTED AT THE “TYPE A” LANDSCAPE RATE.
b. 20 FT. LAND USE BUFFER- 10 FT. BUFFER TO BE PROVIDED EACH SIDE AND PLANTED AT THE “TYPE B” LANDSCAPE RATE.
c. 50 FT LAND USE BUFFER-  25 FT. BUFFER TO BE PROVIDED EACH SIDE AND PLANTED AT THE “TYPE B” LANDSCAPE RATE.
d. WHERE LIGHT INDUSTRIAL USES ARE DEVELOPED NEXT TO RESIDENTIAL PROPERTIES, THE REQUIRED PLANTING RATE 

SHALL BE INCREASED BY ONE (1) LETTER (E.G. FROM “TYPE B” TO “TYPE C”)
e. AN UNDISTURBED, VEGETATED BUFFER MAY BE UTILIZED IN LIEU OF THE ABOVE LANDSCAPE RATE REQUIREMENTS 

PROVIDED THAT A TREE SURVEY IS SUPPLIED DEPICTING THAT THE UNDISTURBED BUFFER CONTAINS AT LEAST TEN 
(10)  - FOUR INCH (4”) CALIPER TREES OR GREATER, PER 100 LF OR THAT THE BUFFER MEETS THE MINIMUM RATE 
REQUIREMENTS AS DEFINED IN THE CITY OF CONWAY’S UDO.

3. MIXED USE DESIGNATIONS SHALL BE CONSIDERED COMMERCIAL WHERE APPLICABLE.
4. STORMWATER FEATURES AND UTILITIES SHALL BE PERMITTED WITHIN THE BUFFER.
5. SHOULD LAND USE ON A TRACT CHANGE AFTER COMPLETION OF A CONTIGUOUS TRACT, THE PORTION OF BUFFER WITHIN  

THE LATER DEVELOPMENT SHALL ADHERE TO THE UPDATED BUFFER REQUIREMENT FOR THEIR HALF OF THE BUFFER.
6. 20 FT. TRACT BUFFER SHALL BE PROVIDED ALONG THE EXISTING DRIVEWAY ACCESS TO REMAIN KNOWN AS WANYA MARIE LN.

WETLAND BUFFER
1. A 30 FT. NATURAL WETLAND BUFFER SHALL BE PROVIDED ALONG THE PERIMETER OF REMAINING WETLANDS ON SITE AT 

TRACT DEVELOPMENT.
a. SHALL NOT BE REQUIRED ALONG LOCATIONS OF PROPOSED WETLAND FILL FOR ROADS, UTILITIES OR PEDESTRIAN, 

BICYCLE AND EQUESTRIAN TRAIL CROSSINGS.
b. SHALL NOT BE REQUIRED ALONG EXISTING ROADWAY AND DRIVEWAY SECTIONS TO REMAIN INTERNAL TO THE 

DEVELOPMENT.
c. IN INSTANCES WHERE PARCELS OR TRACTS ARE INTENDED TO BE DEVELOPED FOR PUBLIC SAFETY OR MUNICIPAL USES 

(INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO: FIRE, POLICE, OR EMS STATIONS, WATER, WASTEWATER OR UTILITY IMPROVEMENTS), 
THE BUFFER REQUIREMENTS SHALL BE WAIVED IF IT IMPEDES THE ABILITY TO DEVELOP THE TRACT FOR THE INTENDED 
USE.

d. SUPPLEMENTAL PLANTINGS SHALL NOT BE REQUIRED WITHIN UTILITY RIGHT OF WAY OR WHEN ADJACENT TO COMBINED 
UTILITY EASEMENTS MORE THAN 50 FT IN WIDTH.

2. STORMWATER FEATURES INCLUDING OUTFALLS, AND UTILITIES SHALL BE PERMITTED WITHIN THE NATURAL BUFFER PROVIDED 
THE REMAINING NON-DISTURBED AREAS SHALL BE NATURALLY VEGETATED IF PROPOSED INFRASTRUCTURE ALLOWS

PERIMETER STREETSCAPE BUFFERS
1. 25 FT COMMERCIAL PD PERIMETER BUFFER, LOCATED ON HWY 701 AND/OR PITCH LANDING ROAD, SHALL MEET THE DESIGN 

STANDARDS  SET FORTH IN THE CITY OF CONWAY’S UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE FOR THE GATEWAY CORRIDOR 
OVERLAY “NON-RESIDENTIAL FRONT BUFFER”.

2. 100 FT RESIDENTIAL PD PERIMETER BUFFER, LOCATED ON PITCH LANDING ROAD, SHALL MEET THE DESIGN STANDARDS SET 
FORTH IN THE CITY OF CONWAY’S UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE FOR “STREET” DESIGNATION. THE BUFFER WIDTH MAY 
BE REDUCED TO A MINIMUM OF 40 FT IF REMOVED PORTION IS UTILIZED FOR WIDENING OF THE EXISTING RIGHT OF WAY FOR 
TRAFFIC IMPROVEMENTS.

3. PERIMETER STREETSCAPE BUFFER REQUIREMENTS MAY BE WAIVED IN INSTANCES WHERE PARCELS OR TRACTS ARE 
INTENDED TO BE DEVELOPED FOR PUBLIC SAFETY OR MUNICIPAL USES (INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO: FIRE, POLICE, OR 
EMS STATIONS, WATER, WASTEWATER OR UTILITY IMPROVEMENTS IF IT IMPEDES THE ABILITY TO DEVELOP THE TRACT FOR 
THE INTENDED USE.

4. SUPPLEMENTAL PLANTINGS SHALL NOT BE REQUIRED WITHIN UTILITY RIGHT OF WAY OR WHEN ADJACENT TO COMBINED 
UTILITY EASEMENTS MORE THAN 50 FT IN WIDTH.

5. SIGNAGE SHALL BE PERMITTED WITHIN PERIMETER STREETSCAPE BUFFER

PERIMETER PD BUFFERS
1. ALL PERIMETER PD BUFFERS, UNLESS ADJACENT TO  A STREET OR OTHERWISE NOTED BELOW, SHALL BE PLANTED ACCORDING 

TO THE “TYPE B” LANDSCAPE RATE AS LISTED IN THE CITY OF CONWAY’S UDO.
2. PERIMETER PD LANDSCAPE BUFFERS SHALL BE PLANTED ACCORDING TO THE FOLLOWING RATE ON EACH TRACT, BASED 

UPON THE CRITERIA SET FORTH IN THE CITY OF CONWAY’S UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE:
a. 100 FT. RESIDENTIAL PD PERIMETER BUFFER - “TYPE B” LANDSCAPE RATE.
b. 50 FT. RESIDENTIAL PD PERIMETER BUFFER -  “TYPE B” LANDSCAPE RATE. 
c. 25 FT. COMMERCIAL PD PERIMETER BUFFER -  “TYPE B” LANDSCAPE RATE.

3. WHERE LIGHT INDUSTRIAL USES ARE DEVELOPED NEXT TO RESIDENTIAL PROPERTIES, THE REQUIRED PLANTING RATE SHALL 
BE INCREASED BY ONE (1) LETTER (E.G. FROM “TYPE B” TO “TYPE C”)

4. AN UNDISTURBED, VEGETATED BUFFER MAY BE UTILIZED IN LIEU OF THE ABOVE LANDSCAPE RATE REQUIREMENTS PROVIDED 
THAT A TREE SURVEY IS SUPPLIED DEPICTING THAT THE UNDISTURBED BUFFER CONTAINS AT LEAST TEN (10)  - FOUR INCH 
(4”) CALIPER TREES OR GREATER, PER 100 LF OR THAT THE BUFFER MEETS THE MINIMUM RATE REQUIREMENTS AS DEFINED 
IN THE CITY OF CONWAY’S UDO.

5. PERIMETER PD BUFFER REQUIREMENTS MAY BE WAIVED IN INSTANCES WHERE PARCELS OR TRACTS ARE INTENDED TO BE 
DEVELOPED FOR PUBLIC SAFETY OR MUNICIPAL USES (INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO: FIRE, POLICE, OR EMS STATIONS, 
WATER, WASTEWATER OR UTILITY IMPROVEMENTS) IF IT IMPEDES THE ABILITY TO DEVELOP THE TRACT FOR THE INTENDED 
USE.

6. 50’ RESIDENTIAL PD PERIMETER BUFFER IS NOT REQUIRED ALONG THE IMPROVED LOCAL ROAD (KNOWN AS BLAZE TRAIL) 
ADJACENT TO PIN 380-00-00-0039 OR WHERE ADJACENT TO WETLANDS.

7. SUPPLEMENTAL PLANTINGS WITHIN PERIMETER PD BUFFERS ARE NOT REQUIRED IN WETLANDS, THE EXISTING POWER LINE 
RIGHT OF WAY (OR UTILITY EASEMENTS MORE THAN 50 FT IN WIDTH), OR IN LOCATIONS WHERE BUFFER IS NOT ADJACENT TO 
DEVELOPED ACREAGE, SUCH AS UNDISTURBED UPLAND AREAS ISOLATED BY WETLANDS. 

8. WALLS AND FENCES, A MINIMUM OF 6 FEET IN HEIGHT (CONSTRUCTED OF MASONRY, STONE, PRESSURE TREATED LUMBER) 
MAY BE USED TO REDUCE THE REQUIRED WIDTH OF THE COMMERCIAL PD PERIMETER BUFFER UP TO 15 FT.

9. THE 50’ RESIDENTIAL PD PERIMETER BUFFER ALONG THE KINLAW LANE EXTENSION SHALL COMMENCE WHERE THE ENTIRE 
BUFFER WIDTH IS AVAILABLE INTERNAL TO THE PD EXTENTS.

118



WARDEN STATIONWARDEN STATION SCALE: 1” = 400’
0 200’ 400’ 800’ 1600’

NORTH
EXHIBIT IV

stormwater management plan

NOTES:

1. STORMWATER SHALL MEET THE MINIMUM DESIGN REQUIREMENTS FOR THE 
CITY OF CONWAY UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE.

2. MASTER STORMWATER PONDS SHALL BE INSTALLED PRIOR TO COMPLETION 
OF THE SPINE ROADS WHERE STORMWATER DISCHARGE SHALL ULTIMATELY 
DISCHARGE.

3. STORMWATER INFRASTRUCTURE WITHIN THE PD SHALL REQUIRE 
INSTALLATION SIZED TO ACCOMMODATE UPSTREAM TRACTS WITHIN THE 
PD.

4. TRACTS A THROUGH Q WITHIN THE PD ARE DEPICTED FOR CONCEPTUAL 
STORMWATER CONVEYANCE.

5. DITCHES WITHIN PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAYS WILL BE CONSTRUCTED AND 
MAINTAINED BY THE DEVELOPER AND/OR AN OWNERS ASSOCIATION.

6. RETENTION PONDS, DITCHES AND OTHER STORMWATER RETENTION AND 
TREATMENT AREAS (INCLUDING STORMWATER PONDS IN MASTER OPEN 
SPACE) WILL BE CONSTRUCTED AND MAINTAINED BY THE DEVELOPER 
AND/OR AN OWNERS ASSOCIATION, AS APPROPRIATE, AND WILL NOT BE 
ACCEPTED OR MAINTAINED BY THE CITY.

119



WARDEN STATIONWARDEN STATION SCALE: 1” = 600’
0 300’ 600’ 1200’ 2400’

NORTHexisting conditions - downstream analysis
EXHIBIT I-C

Warden adj. properties

Warden Property

20

30

40

50

10

NOTES:
1. DOMINANT WATERSHED BREAK ALONG WILLOW 

SPRINGS/PAWLEYS SWAMP RD INTERSECTION WITH 
PITCH LANDING.

2. PITCH LANDING WEST OF SITE (NEAREST WILLOW 
SPRINGS INTERSECTION) PREDOMINANTLY TRAVELS 
EASTBOUND ALONG PITCH LANDING DITCH NETWORK 
BEFORE DISCHARGE INTO CENTRAL WETLANDS ON 
SITE.

3. PITCH LANDING EAST OF SITE (NEAREST 701 
INTERSECTION) PREDOMINANTLY TRAVELS 
WESTBOUND ALONG PITCH LANDING; PORTIONS OF 701 
DRAINAGE NETWORK CONVERGE AT INTERSECTION 
WITH PITCH LANDING AND DISCHARGE UPSTREAM 
AND DOWNSTREAM OF THE BRIDGE AT PITCH LANDING 
ROAD.

4. DOMINANT PORTION OF PD DISCHARGES INTO 
WETLANDS AND THROUGH BRIDGE UNDER PITCH 
LANDING ROAD.

5. SOUTHWESTERN PORTION OF PD EXTENTS AND 
SURROUNDING TRACTS- TRAVEL SOUTH OF SITE 
TOWARDS DITCH NETWORKS SOUTH OF SITE BEFORE 
CROSSING HARPER ROAD- DITCH TRAVELS EAST 
THROUGH HALFWAY SWAMP UNDER REBA ROAD 
BETWEEN RHEUARK DRIVE AND MT. TRIUMPH LANE 
BEFORE CROSSING HWY. 701 S AND DISCHARGING INTO 
WACCAMAW RIVER.

6. SOUTHEASTERN PORTION OF PD EXTENTS AND 
SURROUNDING TRACTS- TRAVEL SOUTHEAST TOWARDS 
DITCH NETWORKS SOUTH OF KINLAW LANE; DITCH 
TRAVELS EAST UNDER DENNIS LANE AND 701 BEFORE 
DISCHARGE INTO WACCAMAW RIVER.

120



WARDEN STATIONWARDEN STATION SCALE: 1” = 400’
0 200’ 400’ 800’ 1600’

NORTHtransportation plan
EXHIBIT V

IMPROVEMENT 1

IMPROVEMENT 2

IMPROVEMENT 3

IMPROVEMENT 4

IMPROVEMENT 5

IMPROVEMENT 1
SCALE: 1”=80’

IMPROVEMENT 2
SCALE: 1”=80’

IMPROVEMENT 3
SCALE: 1”=80’

IMPROVEMENT 4
SCALE: 1”=80’

IMPROVEMENT 5
SCALE: 1”=10’

NOTES:

1. TRACTS WITHIN PD, WHERE APPLICABLE, SHALL PROVIDE NECESSARY 
RIGHT OF WAY FOR COMPLETION OF PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS FOR 
EXISTING PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAYS.

2. PROPOSED TRAFFIC IMPROVEMENTS INDEPENDENT OF TRACTS R, S 
& T; SUPPLEMENTAL TRAFFIC INVESTIGATIONS MAY BE REQUIRED FOR 
THE ASSOCIATED TRACTS.

3. PROPOSED IMPROVEMENT SCHEDULE PRESCRIBED WITHIN THE PD 
ARE INDEPENDENT OF TRACTS R, S & T.

4. ANTICIPATED LOCATIONS FOR TRACTS TO BE UTILIZED FOR MUNICIPAL 
PURPOSES (INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO: FIRE, POLICE, OR EMS 
STATIONS, WATER, WASTEWATER OR UTILITY IMPROVEMENTS) AS 
DEPICTED IN TRACT K SHALL BE SUBDIVIDED AND PROVIDED THE 
NECESSARY ACCESS AND EASEMENTS TO THE PROPOSED ROADWAYS 
WITHIN THE PD. SHOULD THE ANTICIPATED USE NO LONGER BE 
REQUIRED, THE TRACT(S) SHALL BE CONVEYED TO THE CITY OF 
CONWAY FOR INCLUSION WITHIN THE ANTICIPATED USES ON TRACT 
K. LOCATION AND SIZE SHOWN ARE CONCEPTUAL AND SUBJECT TO 
CHANGE.

5. SPINE ROAD DRIVEWAY INSTALLATION SHALL REQUIRE THE TRAFFIC 
IMPROVEMENTS AT THE PROPOSED ACCESS POINT PER THE APPROVED 
TRAFFIC STUDY.

6. KINLAW LANE SHALL BE UTILIZED AS A PUBLIC ACCESS BASED UPON 
THE PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS DEPICTED ON THE CONSTRUCTION 
PLANS FOR HORRY COUNTY DIRT ROAD IMPROVEMENTS, KINLAW LANE 
(PROJECT #S102015) AND THE APPROVED TRAFFIC STUDY FOR THE PD. 
ADDITIONAL IMPROVEMENTS OF KINLAW LANE SHALL BE EXTENDED 
CONSISTENT WITH THE APPROVED DESIGN SET UNTIL WITHIN THE PD 
EXTENTS. 

121



 
 

TRAFFIC IMPACT STUDY 
 

for the 
 
 
 

Warden Tract 
Mixed-Use Development 

 
 

 
 

Located in 
City of Conway, South Carolina 

 
 
 

Prepared for 
G3 Engineering, LLC 

 
 
 

Prepared by 
Ramey Kemp Associates 

 
 
 
 

 
 

May 2023 
RKA Project #22438 

 

122



   
 

 
 

 TRAFFIC IMPACT STUDY 
 

  for the 
 
 
 

 Warden Tract 
 Mixed-Use Development 

 
 

 
 

   Located in 
   City of Conway, South Carolina 

 
 
 

   Prepared for 
   G3 Engineering, LLC 

   PO Box 2666 
   Pawleys Island, SC 29585 

 
   Prepared by 

   Ramey Kemp Associates 
   1411 Gervais Street, Suite 150 

   Columbia, SC 29201 
 
 

   
 

   May 2023 
   RKA Project #22438 

 
 
  
  
 

 

    

 This document has been digitally signed and sealed by Katelyn N. Love, 
South Carolina Professional Engineer Number 37486, August 22, 2023.  This 
electronic document is 147 pages in length. 
 
The digital signature certificate must be verified on any electronic copies of 
this document. 
 
Printed copies of this document are not considered signed and sealed. 
 

8/22/2023

123



Warden Tract TIS | i 
 

 

Table of Contents 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY .................................................................................................................. iii 

1. INTRODUCTION ......................................................................................................................... 1 

1.1. Project Background .......................................................................................................... 1 

1.2. Existing Roadway Conditions ........................................................................................ 5 

1.3. Existing Traffic Count ..................................................................................................... 5 

1.4. Driveway Location .......................................................................................................... 5 

2. PROJECT TRAFFIC ...................................................................................................................... 9 

2.1. Proposed Land Uses ........................................................................................................ 9 

2.2. Trip Generation Estimates .............................................................................................. 9 

2.3. Trip Distribution & Assignment .................................................................................. 10 

3. TRAFFIC VOLUME DEVELOPMENT .................................................................................... 14 

3.1. Future No-Build Traffic Volumes ................................................................................ 14 

3.2. Build Out Traffic Volumes ............................................................................................ 14 

4. TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS ................................................................................................. 17 

4.1. Turn Lane Analysis........................................................................................................ 17 

4.2. Intersection LOS Analysis............................................................................................. 17 

4.3. Improvement Timing .................................................................................................... 21 

5. SUMMARY OF FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS ................................................. 24 

 

  

124



Warden Tract TIS | ii 
 

 

List of Tables 

Table 1 – Street Inventory ......................................................................................................................... 5 

Table 2 – Trip Generation Estimates ....................................................................................................... 9 

Table 3 – HCM 6th Edition LOS Criteria for Unsignalized and Signalized Intersections ................ 18 

Table 4 – Intersection Analysis Results ................................................................................................. 19 

Table 5 – Build + Improvement Analysis Results ............................................................................... 21 

List of Figures 

Figure 1 – Project Location Map .............................................................................................................. 3 

Figure 2 – Conceptual Site Plan ............................................................................................................... 4 

Figure 3 – Existing Lane Configuration .................................................................................................. 7 

Figure 4 - Existing (2022) Peak-Hour Traffic Volumes ......................................................................... 8 

Figure 5 – Project Trip Distributions ..................................................................................................... 11 

Figure 6 – Project Trip Assignment ....................................................................................................... 12 

Figure 7 – Pass-By Trip Assignment ..................................................................................................... 13 

Figure 8 - No-Build (2035) Peak-Hour Traffic Volumes ..................................................................... 15 

Figure 9 - Build (2035) Peak-Hour Traffic Volumes ............................................................................ 16 

Figure 10 – Proposed Lane Configuration ............................................................................................ 23 

List of Appendices 

A) Traffic Count Data 

B) Traffic Volume Development Worksheets 

C) Turn Lane Analysis Worksheets 

D) Capacity Analysis 

125



Warden Tract TIS | iii 
 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

A traffic impact study was conducted for the proposed Warden Tract Mixed-Use development in 
accordance with SCDOT and City of Conway guidelines. The development is proposed to be 
located south of Pitch Landing Road and west of US 701 in Conway, South Carolina. The 
development is anticipated to be constructed in phases but is proposed to contain a total of 3,333 
residential units and 418.8 ksf of retail at full buildout. Access is proposed via one (1) full site access 
on Pitch Landing Road and two (2) full accesses on US 701.  
 
Based on the anticipated traffic volumes the following turn lanes are recommended: 

 right -turn and left-turn lane on US 701 at Access #1 (once access provided) 
 right -turn and left-turn lane on US 701 at Kinlaw Lane/Access #2 (once access provided) 
 right -turn and left-turn lane on Pitch Landing Road at Access #3 (once access provided) 
 westbound right-turn lane on Pitch Landing Road at the Willow Springs Road intersection 

(once approximately 1,300 homes occupied) 
 southbound right-turn on US 701 (with or without the Warden Tract Mixed-Use) at the 

Pitch Landing Road intersection (once US 701 & Pitch Landing Road improvements built) 
 
The US 701 & Access #1 intersection is expected to experience significant delays in the 2035 build 
conditions along the project leg. To mitigate delays, signalization is recommended once warranted 
at Access #1. The MUTCD warrant criteria are expected to be satisfied at US 701 & Access #1 by 
completion of Phase 3 construction. The intersection of Pitch Landing Road & Access #3 is expected 
to experience delays along the project approach. To mitigate delays, signalization is also 
recommended once warranted at Access #3. The MUTCD warrant criteria are expected to be 
satisfied at Pitch Landing Road & Access #3 by completion of Phase 1 construction. The US 701 & 
Access #2 intersection is expected to experience delays along the project leg, however traffic is 
likely to reroute to Access #1 and Access #3 once signalized; therefore there are no 
recommendations. The site accesses should be constructed with one ingress and two egress lanes 
and meet SCDOT and City of Conway design criteria. 
 
With construction of the project, the study intersections of Cates Bay Highway & N Pawley 
Road/Allen Dew Road, Willow Springs Road/Pauley Swamp Road & Allen Dew Road/Pitch 
Landing Road, and Willow Springs Road & Cates Bay Highway should continue to function with 
very minor delays. The intersection of Cates Bay Highway & Highway 134 is expected to 
experience delays in AM peak of the build conditions. This operation is typical of minor 
approaches of two-way stop-controlled intersections; no improvements are recommended. 
 
The signalized intersection of US 701 & Pitch Landing Road is expected to operate with delays in 
the 2035 build conditions. The eastbound approach of the intersection operates as an LOS E in the 
2035 AM peak build conditions. Additional improvements such as eastbound dual lefts are likely 

126



Warden Tract TIS | iv 
 

   

to be needed for improved operation. Dual lefts will require two receiving lanes on US 701 that 
should be provided for a minimum of 1,000 feet. The existing traffic on US 701 along with projected 
project traffic may require widening on US 701 north of Pitch Landing Road in the future. 
Widening of US 701 south of Pitch Landing Road requires widening based on the projected 
demand at the signal. Removal of the east leg of Pitch Landing may provide additional 
improvement for signal operation. 
 
The improvements at the US 701 & Pitch Landing Road intersection include a southbound right-
turn lane on US 701, dual left-turns along the westbound approach of Pitch Landing, an additional 
northbound through lane, and an additional southbound through lane.  
 
The existing 2022 ADT (Annual Daily Traffic) along the northern portion of US 701 to Pitch Landing 
Road is 16,600 vpd (SCDOT Station #26-0177). Historical SCDOT Hourly Count Data at this site 
shows this road segment experiences consistent demand throughout the day from 7 am to 5 pm.  
The projected ADT utilizing only the background growth rate, same as the analysis, results in a 
2035 ADT of approximately 23,000 vpd. The existing ADT and the future ADT should likely 
earmark this segment as a candidate for widening. The addition of the proposed development 
would also contribute to the need for widening. 
 
The analysis to determine improvement timing considered the background hourly volumes and 
the incremental Phase 1 development trips. With the proposed development the improvements at 
the US 701 & Pitch Landing Road are expected to be warranted once 435 homes are occupied. 

127



Warden Tract TIS | 1 
 

   

1. INTRODUCTION 

The purpose of this report is to document a traffic impact study for the proposed Warden Tract 
Mixed-Use development in Conway, South Carolina in accordance with SCDOT and City of 
Conway guidelines. This report summarizes the procedures and findings of the traffic impact 
study.  

1.1. Project Background 

The development is proposed to be located south of Pitch Landing Road and west of US 701 in 
Conway, South Carolina. The development is anticipated to be constructed in phases but is 
proposed to contain a total of 3,333 residential units and 418.8 ksf of retail at full buildout with one 
(1) full site access on Pitch Landing Road and two (2) full access driveways on US 701. 
 
The traffic impact study considers the weekday AM peak period (between 7:00 AM and 9:00 AM) 
and the weekday PM peak period (between 4:00 PM and 6:00 PM) as the study time frames. The 
following intersections are studied: 
 

 US 701 & Access #1 
 US 701 & Kinlaw Lane/Access #2 
 Pitch Landing Road & Access #3 
 Cates Bay Highway & Highway 134 
 Cates Bay Highway & Allen Dew Road/N Pauley Road 
 Cates Bay Highway & Willow Springs Road 
 Willow Springs Road/Pauley Swamp Road & Allen Dew Road/Pitch Landing Road 
 Highway 701 & Pitch Landing Road  

 
Future-year analyses assume 2035 conditions as the full Buildout scenario. The construction is 
expected to occur in three phases. The construction phasing density is provided in the appendix. 
Phase 1 is expected in 2028, Phase 2 in 2031 and the final buildout in 2035. Figure 1 shows the 
location of the project site and Figure 2 illustrates the conceptual site plan. 
 
There are planned projects in the area, Perimeter Road and the Southern Evacuation Lifeline, 
however final traffic studies have not been completed for these projects at the time of this analysis. 
If these projects become funded and implemented, project traffic from the Warden Tract Mixed-
Use development will not be significantly impacted or rerouted. 
 
This study’s analysis is based on a conservative, fast-paced build out completion in 2035. However, 
the full build out schedule could reach completion in 25 years, during the year 2050. The existing 
ADT on US 701 is 16,600 vpd north of Pitch Landing Road and 7,800 vpd south of Pitch Landing 
Road. The future 2035 No-Build ADT is projected to be approximately 23,000 vpd and 10,800 vpd 

128



Warden Tract TIS | 2 
 

   

based on the analysis growth rate, respectively. Similarly, the 2050 ADT is projected to grow to 
approximately 30,500 vpd north of Pitch Landing Road and 14,300 vpd south of Pitch Landing 
Road. It should be noted the background growth in the area may require roadway and municipal 
facility improvements. 
 
 
 
 

  

129



Warden Tract - Traffic Impact Study - Tier 3
Figure 1 - Project Location Map

Page 3

Access #1

Ac
ce

ss
 #

3

130



Warden Tract - Traffic Impact Study - Tier 3
Figure 2 - Conceptual Site Plan

Page 4

Access #3

Access #1

Access #2

Kinlaw Lane

131



Warden Tract TIS | 5 
 

   

1.2. Existing Roadway Conditions 

A review of the existing roadway conditions in the study area was conducted and is summarized 
in Table 1.  Figure 3 illustrates the existing lane geometry. 
 

Table 1 – Street Inventory 

Facility Name Route # 
Typical Cross 

Section 

Posted 
Speed 
Limit 

Maintained 
By 

2021 
AADT 

Pitch Landing Road S-110 2-lane undivided 45 MPH SCDOT N/A 

Allen Dew Road N/A 2-lane undivided 35 MPH Local N/A 

Willow Springs Road N/A 2-lane undivided 35 MPH Local N/A 

Pauley Swamp Road S-109 2-lane undivided 55 MPH SCDOT N/A 

Cates Bay Highway S-29 2-lane undivided 45 MPH SCDOT 3,5002 

Highway 134 S-134 2-lane undivided 50 MPH SCDOT N/A 

Highway 701 S-701 2-lane undivided 55 MPH SCDOT 16,6001 

Kinlaw Lane N/A 2-lane undivided - Local N/A 
1.SCDOT Count Station 26-0177, 2.SCDOT Count Station 26-0372 

1.3. Existing Traffic Count 

Vehicle turning movement counts were collected by Short Counts, LLC in September 2022 for the 
AM peak period (7:00 AM to 9:00 AM) and PM peak period (4:00 PM to 6:00 PM) at the following 
intersections: 
 

 Cates Bay Road & Hwy 134 
 Willow Springs Road & Cates Bay Hwy  
 Cates Bay Road & Allen Dew Road/N Pawley Road 
 Willow Springs Road & Pitch Landing Road 
 US 701 & Pitch Landing Road 
 US 701 & Lake Way Drive 
 US 701 & Kinlaw Lane 

 
All counts were conducted while the local school district was in session. The 2022 raw traffic 
volumes are provided in Appendix A. Existing Traffic Volume are illustrated in Figure 4. 
 

1.4. Driveway Location 

The Warden Tract Mixed-Use development is expected to provide three full access driveways. One 
full access driveway is proposed on Pitch Landing Road located approximately 450 feet west of the 

132



Warden Tract TIS | 6 
 

   

Station 46 Fire Station driveway. One full access on US 701 is proposed to align with Lake Way 
Drive and the other full access on US 701 is proposed to be along the existing Kinlaw Lane access 
to US 701. 
 
The proposed driveways appear to meet the SCDOT ARMS spacing requirements. 
 
  

133



Warden Tract TIS | 24 
 

   

5. SUMMARY OF FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
A traffic impact study was conducted for the proposed Warden Tract Mixed-Use development in 
accordance with SCDOT and City of Conway guidelines. The development is proposed to be 
located south of Pitch Landing Road and west of US 701 in Conway, South Carolina. The 
development is anticipated to be constructed in phases but is proposed to contain a total of 3,333 
residential units and 418.8 ksf of retail at full buildout. Access is proposed via one (1) full site access 
on Pitch Landing Road and two (2) full accesses on US 701.  
 
Based on the anticipated traffic volumes the following turn lanes are recommended: 

 right -turn and left-turn lane on US 701 at Access #1 (once access provided) 
 right -turn and left-turn lane on US 701 at Kinlaw Lane/Access #2 (once access provided) 
 right -turn and left-turn lane on Pitch Landing Road at Access #3 (once access provided) 
 westbound right-turn lane on Pitch Landing Road at the Willow Springs Road intersection 

(once approximately 1,300 homes occupied) 
 southbound right-turn on US 701 (with or without the Warden Tract Mixed-Use) at the 

Pitch Landing Road intersection (once US 701 & Pitch Landing Road improvements built) 
 
The US 701 & Access #1 intersection is expected to experience significant delays in the 2035 build 
conditions along the project leg. To mitigate delays, signalization is recommended once warranted 
at Access #1. The MUTCD warrant criteria are expected to be satisfied at US 701 & Access #1 by 
completion of Phase 3 construction. The intersection of Pitch Landing Road & Access #3 is expected 
to experience delays along the project approach. To mitigate delays, signalization is also 
recommended once warranted at Access #3. The MUTCD warrant criteria are expected to be 
satisfied at Pitch Landing Road & Access #3 by completion of Phase 1 construction. The US 701 & 
Access #2 intersection is expected to experience delays along the project leg, however traffic is 
likely to reroute to Access #1 and Access #3 once signalized; therefore there are no 
recommendations. The site accesses should be constructed with one ingress and two egress lanes 
and meet SCDOT and City of Conway design criteria. 
 
With construction of the project, the study intersections of Cates Bay Highway & N Pawley 
Road/Allen Dew Road, Willow Springs Road/Pauley Swamp Road & Allen Dew Road/Pitch 
Landing Road, and Willow Springs Road & Cates Bay Highway should continue to function with 
very minor delays. The intersection of Cates Bay Highway & Highway 134 is expected to 
experience delays in AM peak of the build conditions. This operation is typical of minor 
approaches of two-way stop-controlled intersections; no improvements are recommended. 
 
The signalized intersection of US 701 & Pitch Landing Road is expected to operate with delays in 
the 2035 build conditions. The eastbound approach of the intersection operates as an LOS E in the 
2035 AM peak build conditions. Additional improvements such as eastbound dual lefts are likely 
to be needed for improved operation. Dual lefts will require two receiving lanes on US 701 that 

134



Warden Tract TIS | 25 
 

   

should be provided for a minimum of 1,000 feet. The existing traffic on US 701 along with projected 
project traffic may require widening on US 701 north of Pitch Landing Road in the future. 
Widening of US 701 south of Pitch Landing Road requires widening based on the projected 
demand at the signal. Removal of the east leg of Pitch Landing may provide additional 
improvement for signal operation. 
 
The improvements at the US 701 & Pitch Landing Road intersection include a southbound right-
turn lane on US 701, dual left-turns along the westbound approach of Pitch Landing, an additional 
northbound through lane, and an additional southbound through lane.  
 
The existing 2022 ADT (Annual Daily Traffic) along the northern portion of US 701 to Pitch Landing 
Road is 16,600 vpd (SCDOT Station #26-0177). Historical SCDOT Hourly Count Data at this site 
shows this road segment experiences consistent demand throughout the day from 7 am to 5 pm.  
The projected ADT utilizing only the background growth rate, same as the analysis, results in a 
2035 ADT of approximately 23,000 vpd. The existing ADT and the future ADT should likely 
earmark this segment as a candidate for widening. The addition of the proposed development 
would also contribute to the need for widening. 
 
The analysis to determine improvement timing considered the background hourly volumes and 
the incremental Phase 1 development trips. With the proposed development the improvements at 
the US 701 & Pitch Landing Road are expected to be warranted once 435 homes are occupied. 

135



WARDEN STATIONWARDEN STATION SCALE: 1” = 400’
0 200’ 400’ 800’ 1600’

NORTHtraffic hierarchy plan
EXHIBIT VI

100' RIGHT OF WAY

7'
 P

LA
N

TI
N

G
ST

R
IP

 &
SH

O
U

LD
ER

ROADWAY
WIDTH VARIES

DRAINAGE
SWALE

ROADWAY
WIDTH VARIES 4'

SH
O

U
LD

ER

8'
M

U
LT

I-U
SE

TR
AI

L

7'
 P

LA
N

TI
N

G
ST

R
IP

 &
SH

O
U

LD
ER

5'
SI

D
EW

AL
K

4'
SH

O
U

LD
ER

R
IG

H
T 

O
F 

W
AY

R
IG

H
T 

O
F 

W
AY

CL

TYPICAL MAJOR  ARTERIAL
SCALE: 1”=10’

7'
 P

LA
N

TI
N

G
ST

R
IP

 &
SH

O
U

LD
ER

16' ROADWAY
WIDTH

DRAINAGE
SWALE

16' ROADWAY
WIDTH

R
IG

H
T

O
F 

W
AY

80' RIGHT OF WAY

4'
SH

O
U

LD
ER

8'
M

U
LT

I-U
SE

TR
AI

L

C

7'
 P

LA
N

TI
N

G
ST

R
IP

 &
SH

O
U

LD
ER

L

5'
SI

D
EW

AL
K

4'
SH

O
U

LD
ER

R
IG

H
T

O
F 

W
AY

TYPICAL MINOR ARTERIAL
SCALE: 1”=10’

70' RIGHT OF WAY

CL

28' ROAD
& CURB

6'
 P

LA
N

TI
N

G
ST

R
IP

8'
M

U
LT

I-U
SE

TR
AI

L

5'
SI

D
EW

AL
K

6'
 P

LA
N

TI
N

G
ST

R
IP

R
IG

H
T

O
F 

W
AY

R
IG

H
T

O
F 

W
AY

TYPICAL COLLECTOR
SCALE: 1”=10’

EXISTING
CONDITIONS

VARY

EXISTING
CONDITIONS

VARY

50' EX. RIGHT OF WAY

CL

EX. ROAD

R
IG

H
T

O
F 

W
AY

R
IG

H
T

O
F 

W
AY

IMPROVED EXISTING ROAD
SCALE: 1”=10’

50' RIGHT OF WAY

CL

24' ROAD
& CURB 5'

SI
D

EW
AL

K

5'
 P

LA
N

TI
N

G
ST

R
IP

5'
 P

LA
N

TI
N

G
ST

R
IP

R
IG

H
T

O
F 

W
AY

R
IG

H
T

O
F 

W
AY

TYPICAL LOCAL ROAD
SCALE: 1”=10’

NOTES :

1. ALL LOCAL ROADS TO HAVE A MIN. 5’ SIDEWALK AND 4-5’ PLANTING STRIP ON ONE SIDE OF 
THE ROAD. 

2. COLLECTOR, MINOR ARTERIAL AND MAJOR ARTERIAL ROADS SHALL PROVIDE THE FOLLOWING: 

a. AN 8’ MULTI-USE TRAIL WITH A MINIMUM 6’-7’ PLANTING STRIP ON ONE SIDE 

b.     A 5’ SIDEWALK WITH 6-7’ PLANTING STRIP ON THE OPPOSING SIDE. 

3. STREET TREES SHALL BE PROVIDED ALONG MAJOR ARTERIAL, MINOR ARTERIAL, COLLECTOR 
AND LOCAL ROADS. STREET TREES SHALL BE PLACED AT IN THE PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY AT FIFTY 
FOOT (50’) INTERVALS ON BOTH SIDES OF THE STREET AND SHALL MEET THE REQUIREMENTS 
SET FORTH IN SECTION 9.3.6 OF THE  CITY OF CONWAY’S UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE 
UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED. 

4. STREET TREES SHALL BE PLACED IN THE PLANTING STRIP LOCATED BETWEEN THE SIDEWALK 
AND ROADWAY WHERE PRESENT. ROAD SECTIONS WITHOUT SIDEWALKS SHALL PLACE 
STREET TREE NO CLOSER THAN THREE FEET (3’) AND NO GREATER THAN FIVE FEET (5’) 
FROM BACK OF CURB.

5. THE IMPROVED EXISTING ROAD AND THE EXISTING DRIVEWAY ACCESS KNOWN AS WAYNA 
MARIE LANE SHALL BE EXEMPT FROM PROVIDING SIDEWALKS, STREET TREES, AND BUFFERS.

6. STREET TREES SHALL NOT BE REQUIRED AT WETLAND CROSSINGS.

7. MULTI-USE TRAIL INSTALLATION BASED UPON THE CONWAY PATHWAYS AND TRAILS PLAN 
MAY BE UTILIZED TOWARDS ACCEPTABLE OPEN SPACE WHEN EXTERNAL TO THE PROPOSED 
SPINE ROADS; THE PROPOSED PATHWAYS PLAN MAY BE RELOCATED TO ALIGN WITH THE 
PROPOSED SPINE ROADS WITHIN THE COMMUNITY AS LONG AS THE TERMINUS REMAINS 
CONSISTENT WITH THE INTENT DEPICTED IN THE CONWAY PATHWAYS AND TRAILS PLAN

8. SPINE ROADS ARE CONSIDERED ROADWAYS PROPOSED INTERNAL TO THE DEVELOPMENT 
BUT EXTERNAL TO THE PROPOSED TRACTS TO ALLOW CONNECTIVITY AND ARE ASSUMED 
INTERNAL TO THE DEVELOPMENT AND SIZED BASED UPON ANTICIPATED TRAFFIC VOLUMES. 
ANTICIPATED USES ARE CONCEPTUAL AND SUBJECT TO CHANGE BASED UPON DEVELOPMENT 
TRIP GENERATION. DEVIATIONS TO DENSITIES MAY INCUR MODIFICATIONS TO INTENDED 
CLASSIFICATIONS OF PROPOSED ROADS.

9. DITCHES WITHIN PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAYS WILL BE CONSTRUCTED AND MAINTAINED BY THE 
DEVELOPER AND/OR AN OWNERS ASSOCIATION.

LEGEND

Major Arterial 100’ ROW

Minor Arterial 80’ ROW 

Collector 70’ ROW

Improved Existing Road

Local ROAD

136



WARDEN STATIONWARDEN STATION SCALE: 1” = 400’
0 200’ 400’ 800’ 1600’

NORTHflood zone overlay
EXHIBIT VIII

X-SHADED FLOOD ZONE

AE FLOOD ZONE

FLOODWAY

NOTES :

1. NO FEE SIMPLE RESIDENTIAL UNITS OR BUILDINGS FOR 
RESIDENTIAL USES SHALL BE LOCATED WITHIN THE FEMA AE 
FLOOD ZONE.

2. IN COMMON RESIDENTIAL UNITS SHALL MAINTAIN SEPARATION 
EQUIVALENT TO THE PROPERTY SETBACKS OFF THE FEMA 
FLOOD ZONE FOR THE RESPECTIVE USE.

137



WARDEN STATIONWARDEN STATION SCALE: 1” = 400’
0 200’ 400’ 800’ 1600’

wetlands + topography
EXHIBIT I-B

NORTH

NOTES:
1. TOPOGRAPHY FOR COMMERCIAL TRACTS R, S & T TO 

BE FIELD VERIFIED
2. WETLAND DETERMINATIONS SUBJECT TO CHANGE AT 

TIME OF PERMITTING OF TRACTS

138



1 

A written project description of 

WARDEN STATION 
PLANNED DEVELOPMENT 

 DISTRICT (PD District) 

April 5, 2023 
Latest Revision:  September 145, 2023 

Prepared by: 

Robert S. Guyton, P.C. 
4605 B Oleander Drive, Suite 202 
Myrtle Beach, SC  29577 
(843) 839-2100

And 

G3 Engineering & Surveying, LLC 
24 Commerce Drive 
Pawleys Island, SC  29585 
(843) 237-1001

STAFF RED-LINED PD NARRATIVE - PROVIDED 
TO APPLICANT

139



 

 2 

PD DISTRICT DOCUMENT TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
PD DISTRICT NARRATIVE         
  
Section 1: PURPOSE AND INTENT STATEMENT 
Section 2: LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
Section 3: PROJECT DEVELOPER AND TITLE 
Section 4: MASTER SITE PLAN 
Section 5: DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION 
Section 6: GENERAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS THROUGHOUT THE PD 

DISTRICT 
Section 7: RESIDENTIAL REGULATIONS 
Section 8: COMMERCIAL REGULATIONS 
Section 9: MAINTENANCE AND CONTROL 
Section 10: CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE 
Section 11: OFF-SITE AND STREETSCAPE IMPROVEMENTS 
Section 12: AMENDMENTS AND ENFORCEMENT 
 
APPENDICES: (Submitted by Separate Supplement)  
    
Appendix A: Master Site Plan 
 
Appendix B: Additional PD District Documentation  
 

(I) Existing Conditions – (a) Boundary Survey, (b) Wetlands and 
Topography, (c) Downstream Analysis, (d) Aerial, and (e)  Existing 
Zoning. 

(II) Buffer Plan 
(III) Open Space Plan 
(IV) Stormwater Management Plan 
(V) Transportation Plan 
(VI) Traffic Hierarchy Plan 
(VII) Utility Plan – (a) Potable water, (b) Sanitary Sewer 
(VIII) Flood Zone Overlay    

       
Appendix C:   City Recreation Acreage Exhibit 
Appendix D:    Project Traffic Report  
Appendix E:   Threatened and Endangered Species  
Appendix F:    Wetlands Letters 
Appendix G:    Design Modifications Approved as part of PD      
 
 
 
 
 
 

140



 

 3 

SECTION 1: PURPOSE AND INTENT STATEMENT 
 
The intent of the Planned Development District (PD District) is to provide for large-scale, quality 
development projects (three acres of larger) with mixed land uses which create a superior 
environment through unified development and provide for the application of design ingenuity 
while protecting surrounding developments.  More specifically, the intent of the PD District is to 
permit:   
 

A. Flexibility in design to take the greatest advantage of natural land, trees, historical 
and other features; 

B. Accumulation of large areas of usable open space for recreation, preservation of 
natural amenities, and provision of community facilities; 

C. Creation of a variety of residential and compatible neighborhood arrangements that 
give the home occupant greater choice in selecting types of environment and living 
units; 

D. Clustering of one residential type for better use of the land and open space; 
E. Allowance of sufficient freedom for the developer to take a creative approach to 

the use of land and related physical development, as well as utilizing innovative 
techniques to enhance visual character of the city; 

F. Efficient use of land which may result in reduction in development and 
maintenance cost of street and utility systems; 

G. Simplification of the procedure for obtaining approval of proposed development 
through simultaneous review by the city of proposed land use, site consideration, 
lot and setback consideration, public needs and requirements, and health and safety 
factors [City of Conway Unified Development Ordinance Adopted July 17, 2023]. 

 
The real property that is the subject of his PD District consist of approximately One Thousand 
Seven Hundred Sixty Five and 2229/100 (1,765.2229) Acres, more or less (the “Subject Parcels”).  
The Subject Parcels are located within the Conway and Bucksport Sections of Horry County, but 
outside of the jurisdiction of the City of Conway, bounded generally by U.S. Highway 701 to the 
East, Pitch Landing Road to the North, Kinlaw Lane to the South and Bear Creek to the West.  
Simultaneously with the adoption of this PD District, the Subject Parcels will be annexed into the 
City of Conway, by separate petition for annexation (the “Annexation Agreement”), and will be 
subjected to the terms of a separate development agreement between BRD Land & Investment 
Management, LLC, a North Carolina limited liability company (the “Developer”), of the Subject 
Parcels, its successors and assigns and the City of Conway (the “Development Agreement”), which 
Development Agreement will also be adopted simultaneously with the adoption of this PD District.  
The Subject Parcels are generally located Southwest of the intersection of U.S. Highway 701 and 
Pitch Landing Road.  
 
Pursuant to the terms of the Development Agreement and the requirements of the City’s Unified 
Development Ordinance (the “City’s UDO”), public benefit is not required under the City’s UDO 
as a part of the PD District, the Developer, and its successors and assigns, have nevertheless agreed 
to provide certain public benefits, which are as follows: 
 

141



 

 4 

1. The creation of a direct internal roadway network with public rights-of-way ranging 
in width from 50’ to 100’, including an internal right-of-way connection from U.S. 
Highway 701 to Pitch Landing Road measuring 100’ in width at U.S. Highway 701 
and Pitch Landing Road, with variable widths internal of not less than 60’, and the 
roadway improvements thereon (the “Spine Road”), such Spine Road to be 
completed in more than one phase, each of which shall be completed with any 
adjacent subdivisions requiring access, whether directly or indirectly from the 
Spine Road, or, in the alternative, bonded for completion in accordance with the 
requirements of the City, provided that no Residential Units or Commercial Units 
may be completed within such respective subdivision until such portion of the 
Spine Road has been completed .  Notwithstanding any other provision herein, the 
Developer shall install, as a part of the initial Spine Road installation, not less than 
Two (2) lanes, along the entire corridor of the Spine Road, such that the PD will 
have not less than Two (2) means of access on or before the recording of the first 
final plat for any subdivision within the PD.  

 
2. A sanitation service enhancement fee in an amount equal to $_______ per 

residential lot or residential unit (individually a “Residential Unit” and collectively 
“Residential Units”), and $_______ per 1,000 square feet of commercial space 
(individually a “Commercial Unit” and collectively the “Commercial Units”), 
which shall be payable at the time of building permit application.  

 
3. A public safety enhancement fee in an amount equal to $_______ per Residential 

Unit, and $________ per Commercial Unit, which shall be payable at the time of 
building permit application. The purpose of the public safety enhancement fee is to 
offset the additional costs anticipated to be incurred by the City as a result of the 
PD, including the addition of Four (4) police officers, One (1) detective, Five (5) 
additional police vehicles, and the costs of required equipment for each of such 
police officers and police vehicles.   

 
4. A parks and recreation enhancement fee in an amount equal to $______ per 

Residential Unit, which shall be payable to the time of building permit application. 
 

5. A planning and development service enhancement fee in an amount equal to 
$______ per Residential Unit, and an amount equal to $_______ per Commercial 
Unit, which shall be payable at the time of building permit application.  

 
6. The installation of a multi-purpose path of 8’ in width on one side of the road, and 

a 5’ sidewalk on the opposite side of the road, following the internal Spine Road, 
in accordance with the requirements of the City for other similar-situated 
properties, to be complete on or before the date on which the respective portion of 
the Spine Road providing access, directly or indirectly, to one or more subdivisions 
within the PD is completed.  In the event the installation of such multi-purpose path 
or sidewalk is delayed beyond completion of the corresponding portion of the Spine 
Road, then, in such event the multi-purpose path and/or sidewalk shall be bonded 
for completion, in accordance with the bonding requirements of the City.  The 

142



 

 5 

installation of this path must be in accordance with the City’s Pathway’s and Trails 
Plan, adopted in 2022, and the same must be completed at the same time as the 
installation of the Spine Road is complete, without regard to the number of building 
permits that have been issued for the PD by the City.   

 
7. As a requirement, the installation of at least One (1) new sewer pump station on the 

Subject Parcels, and, to the extent required in order to provide sufficient capacity 
as necessary for the proposed development of the Project, a second sewer pump on 
the Subject Parcels.  Sewer pump installation shall be in accordance with the 
requirements of Grand Strand Water & Sewer Authority (“GSWSA”), or such other 
agency then providing sanitary sewer service to the Subject Parcels.    

 
8. Stormwater conveyance and retention facilities sufficient in capacity to 

accommodate the storm water generated from the Subject Parcels, and provide the 
City with evidence of the necessary and required permanent and perpetual 
easements necessary to facilitate such drainage from the Subject Parcels.  All 
stormwater shall be designed to meet or exceed the City’s Stormwater Ordinance 
that is in effect at the time of plan submittal. 

 
9. The installation of roadway improvements to Five (5) separate roadway 

intersections, Three (3) existing roadway intersections, and Two (2) proposed 
intersections, each lying on  the boundary of the Subject Parcels, in accordance with 
the Transportation Plan submitted as part of the Exhibit Supplement under 
Appendix A, Exhibit VII.  Provided, however, that, in the event any of such 
roadway intersection improvements require the acquisition of additional right-of-
way not located on the Subject Parcels, which Developer has no means of acquiring 
then, in such event the City may (i)  acquire the additional right-of-way not located 
on the Subject Parcels for such roadway intersection improvements and provide 
access to Developer for the installation of such improvements, or, (ii)  in the event 
the City declines to acquire such additional required right-of-way, the Developer 
may, in lieu of installing such roadway intersection improvements, instead pay to 
the City any amount equal to the then current engineer’s estimated costs of such 
roadway intersection improvements, as approved by the City under the ordinances 
and regulations of the city, with the City then having the burden of installing such 
roadway intersection improvements at a time and under the conditions as 
determined by the City to be reasonable.  The respective roadway intersections must 
be completed on or before the time on which any subdivision within the PD which 
is accessed by way of such roadway intersection is completed, as evidenced by the 
recording of a final plat, or by recording of a master deed creating any in-common 
units, together with any utilities which are to provide service to such subdivision 
within the PD.  The intent of this provision is to insure that either (i)  such roadway 
intersection improvements have been installed by the Developer;  or (ii)  the costs 
of such improvements have been paid to the City by the Developer, to the extent 
not previously completed by Developer, with each  of such roadway intersection 
improvements being completed on or before the date on which any final plat or 
master deed is recorded within any portion of the PD having access by way of such 

143



 

 6 

roadway intersection improvements (directly or indirectly), in accordance with the 
Project Traffic Report.   
   

10. Conveyance to the City of approximately 500 acres of real property, shown and 
delineated on the Master Site Plan (the “City Recreation Acreage”), which City 
Recreation Acreage also comprises open space in accordance with the requirements 
of the PD, and includes uplands, wetlands and flood plain areas for ownership, 
perpetual maintenance and preservation, also as indicated on the Open Space Plan 
submitted as part of the Exhibit Supplement under Appendix A, Exhibit IV, which 
City Recreation Acreage may be conveyed in one or more parcels, each at the time 
an adjoining parcel is submitted for final plat.  In addition, prior to the date on which 
the City Recreation Acreage is conveyed to the City, Developer shall have 
completed,  caused to be completed, or bonded for future completion, in accordance 
with the typical bonding requirements of the City, the following improvements, 
each to be shown on the Open Space Plan: 

 
(a) Installation of not less than Four (4) pickle ball courts; 
(b) Installation of a floodproof playground, adequate in size to 

accommodate the number of children anticipated to use such playground at the 
completion of the PD;  

(c) Installation of parking areas sufficient in size, to accommodate 
visitors to the above reference recreational facilities; 

(d) Notwithstanding any other provision herein, the City Recreation 
Acreage shall be deemed a portion of the Open Space required under the PD. 

(e) To the extent any portion of the City Recreation Acreage includes 
stormwater lakes and ponds serving the PD, Developer may convey such 
stormwater lakes and ponds to the City, subject to a maintenance easement in favor 
of Developer, which requires Developer to maintain such stormwater lakes and 
ponds at the sole cost and expense of Developer.  

(f) To the extent any of the above referenced improvements are not 
complete at the time of conveyance of the City Recreation Acreage from Developer 
to the City, Developer shall bond the completion of the same, in accordance with 
the City’s standard procedures for bonds and financial guarantees. 

 
11. Installation of a Wildlife Refuge Trail connection, in accordance with the City’s 

Pathway’s and Trails Plan (adopted in 2022).  Refer to this plan for appropriate trail 
materials, widths, locations, etc. To the extent any approvals and coordination are 
required with agencies other than the City, including but not limited to U.S. Army 
Corps of Engineers and South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental 
Control with regards to any wetland impacts or the materials or methods of trailway 
construction, Developer shall be solely responsible for approvals and coordination.  
Such Wildlife Refuge Trail is to be located on portions of the PD both within the 
City Recreation Acreage and on portions of the Subject Parcel not comprising a 
portion of the City Recreation Acreage. 

 

144



 

 7 

12. Tree Preservation.  Developer and City recognize the public benefit of tree 
preservation, and therefore agree that, a tree survey shall be provided for each Tract 
within the PD at the time of plan submittal, and before land disturbance or such 
Tract(s) is approved, in accordance with  

 
13. Developer shall install, at each entrance to the PD (two on U.S. Highway 701 and 

one on Pitch Landing Road), cameras, which capture identification of each vehicle 
entering the PD.  The following represent the ongoing costs of such license plate 
readers or cameras, which costs shall be paid by Developer, or, any property owners 
association to which Developer assigns the rights and obligations of maintenance, 
which costs per camera are to be determined at the time of acquisition, including 
both acquisition costs and monthly cellular fees, if any.    

 
14. Developer shall install speed control devices along the Spine Road, in the form of 

traffic circles, in each of the areas along the Spine Road where 3-Way and 4-Way 
stops would be required, in accordance with the Transportation Plan.  

 
The proposed Perimeter Road and Southern Evacuation Lifeline, if funded and 

implemented, will not be materially impacted or interfered with by development of the PD.  
Background growth in the area may require roadway and municipal facility improvements.  Phase 
1 construction (phasing density) is scheduled to occur in 2028.  Phase 2 construction (phasing 
density) in 2031;  and Phase 3 construction (phasing density) in 2035. 
  

15. It is the specific intent of this PD  document (“PD Document” or “PD 
District Document”) approved by the City on or about the ____ day of 
_________________, 2023, to create and maintain an interconnected pedestrian and active 
lifestyle driven residential community which includes a variety of single family areas, a 
limited number of commercial areas, open spaces, common areas, and amenities, including 
parks, recreational and passive spaces, which are together referred to as “Warden Station 
PD District” (the “Project”), in accordance with the City’s UDO, which are specifically 
addressed as follows: 

 
(1) The proposed land uses within the PD  are a combination of various residential uses 

consisting of approximately 1,628.57 Acres, including single family detached homes, 
single family subdivided attached homes ranging from Two (2) to Eight (8) homes per 
individual building, mid-rise multi-family condominiums, mid-rise multi-family 
apartments, and mid-rise multi-family apartments with elevators, which, dependent 
upon the product, may be offered for sale or rent, or a combination of both, together 
with those amenities and recreational facilities as set forth herein.  The commercial 
component of the PD  consists of approximately 136.7678 Acres, which may include 
many different commercial uses which would typically be associated with a 
development of this scale, such uses being set forth herein.  The proposed land uses for 
the Project were selected in an effort to compliment and blend with the existing 
surrounding uses, while exemplifying the primary components of the active lifestyle 
market for both families and retirees. The proposed gross and net densities for the PD 
are set forth on the Master Site Plan Summary Table below. 

145



 

 8 

 
(2) Connections between the PD and the surrounding roadways are designed to enhance 

both the interconnectivity and the usability of U.S. Highway 701, Pitch Landing Road 
and Kinlaw Lane and to allow residents to safely travel along the interior of the Project 
from neighborhood to neighborhood with minimal impact to adjoining neighborhoods 
outside of the PD.  

 
(3) Pathways adjacent to public rights-of-way, and pedestrian and bicycle connections 

reflected on the Master Plan to be constructed within the PD provide for safe and 
accessible travel for pedestrians and bicycles.  

 
(4) The variety of housing products provided within the PD are intended to appeal to single 

adults, working families, pre-retirees, early retirees and late in life retirees by providing 
opportunities for home ownership at a variety of price points. 

   
(5) Streets follow the City’s design standards, except to the extent revised standards are 

included within the PD District Appendices, reflecting a revised design standard, and 
where varied, consist of wider green space, and multi-purpose paths, rather than 
additional asphalt.  Build-out demand considerations have been incorporated in the 
initial project design, including exterior connections from the PD to existing public 
roadways to avoid constricting traffic flow. Notwithstanding the above requirements, 
Developer and the City acknowledge and agree that the right-of-way of Kinlaw Lane, 
and the existing portion of Blaze Trail (driveway) do not comply with the City’s design 
standards.  To the extent improvements are required by the City to Kinlaw Lane, and/or 
Blaze Trail, Developer will reserve and dedicate any additional right-of-way from the 
Subject Parcels, at no additional cost to the City, for the City to make such 
improvements, at the City’s expense, and at the time the City deems such improvements 
appropriate.  

 
(6) The PD incorporates both water, open space and passive amenities, among the Subject 

Parcels, that may include, at the election of the Developer with regards to each 
individual parcel, swimming pool, neighborhood clubhouse, docks, shelters and open 
air gazebos to encourage resident’s maximization of outdoor spaces, and these 
improvements, to the extent included in any individual parcel, shall be for the benefit 
of one or more individual neighborhoods within the PD, and not as a master amenity 
for the benefit of the entire PD, and set forth on the Master Site Plan.  Site design has 
been guided, and actual construction will be guided by an effort to maintain key trees 
and environmentally sensitive areas, to meet all regulatory requirements. All 
stormwater will be designed to meet or exceed the standards within the City’s 
Stormwater Ordinance. 

 
All development within this Project will be regulated by the terms of the master site plan, approved 
ordinance, the City’s UDO, the Development Agreement, and other applicable codes and 
ordinances of the City of Conway.  The definitions applicable throughout this Document are set 
forth in Article 2 of the City of Conway Unified Development Ordinance. 
 

146



 

 9 

SECTION 2: LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 

The Subject Parcels are described as all of those certain pieces, parcels or tracts of land lying and 
situate near the City of Conway, Horry County, South Carolina, and being more particularly 
depicted on Appendix A (i) attached hereto. 
 

SECTION 3: PROJECT DEVELOPER AND TITLE 
 
The Project title of this development is “Warden Station PD”, although the Project may be branded 
among various neighborhoods within the Project following the approval of this PD by the City.  
The developer for the Project is BRD Land & Investment Management, LLC.  The term 
“Developer” throughout this Document will include all subsidiaries and affiliates of BRD Land & 
Investment Management, LLC, and the term will also include any of its successors in interest or 
successors in title and/or assigns by virtue of assignment or other instrument.   
 

SECTION 4: MASTER SITE PLAN 
 
Appendix A of this Document, attachment hereto, contains the PD Documentation, and the Twelve 
(12)  different neighborhoods, together with the commercial parcels located on each side of the 
Spine Road, within the Project (“Master Site Plan”).  The Master Site Plan shall be binding on the 
Subject Parcels and any materially major departure, other than as set forth in Section 6 an Section 
12 below, shall be authorized by amendment only.  The controlling Master Site Plan shall negate 
any contradiction between the Master Site Plan and any other plan, and this PD  Document.   
 

A. This Project will ultimately include Nineteen (19) phases, including Twelve (12) 
phases of residential product, and Seven (7) phases of commercial product, together 
with amenity areas, park and open space areas, and each of such components may be 
developed at various times relative to the residential development and commercial 
development portion of the PD, any one of which may be further developed in sub-
phases, and any of which may be developed in any particular order, with all homes 
remaining under ownership of the Developer, its successors and assigns, until such time 
as a final plat approved by the City may be recorded in the public records of Horry 
County, South Carolina.  Although the timing of completion of any particular Phase of 
the PD is subject to then current market demands, the Developer anticipates a period 
of approximately Eighteen (18) months from approval of the PD for design,  and 
permitting, and additional period of approximately Twelve (12) months from the 
issuance of permits and approvals for the installation of initial required infrastructure, 
and that approximately One-Fifth of the Project would be complete within Five (5) 
years of approval of the PD, with an additional One-Fifth of the Project being 
completed in each of the subsequent Five (5) year periods, with a projected build-out 
period for the Project of Twenty Five (25) years.  A general description of each Phase 
of the Project is set forth in the Tables included herein.  The relevant infrastructure 
necessary for development of the individual Phases of the PD , including water, sewer, 
drainage and other supporting utilities and other improvements will be installed in 
accordance with construction plans to be approved by and in accordance with the 
requirements as per City departmental reviews. 

147



 

 10 

 
 

[SEE MASTER SITE PLAN SUMMARY TABLE ON FOLLOWING PAGE] 
 
 
 

 
MASTER SITE PLAN SUMMARY TABLE 

 

Tract 
/ Area 

Acreage Permitted Use Lots/Units  
Density 

Gross/Net 
(units/acre)  

Other 

A 40.47 acres 
Attached Single Family; 

Multifamily 
246 lots/units 6.08/7.116.72 Notes 1; 2 

B 10.72 Commercial (Type 3) -  Note 6 

C 21.66 
Attached Single Family; 

Multifamily 
104 lots/units 4.80/6.735.03 Notes 1; 2 

D 56.84 Detached Single Family 135 lots 2.38/23.01.42 Note 1 

E 50.94 
Attached Single Family; 

Multifamily 
406 lots/units 8.01/8.678.01 Notes 1; 2 

F 128.54 Detached Single Family 302 lots 2.35/2.762 Note 1 
G 178.76 Detached Single Family 341 lots 1.91/2.58 Note 1 
H 232.97 Detached Single Family 321 lots 1.38/2.81 Note 1 
I 153.20 Detached Single Family 91 lots 0.59/2.28 Note 1 
J 85.78 Detchaed Single Family 190 lots 2.16/2.5648 Note 1 

K 552.34 
Master Open Space/City 

Recreational Acreage 
   

L 27.82 Multifamily 480 units 17.25/217.25 Notes 1; 2 
M 34.81 Multifamily 440 units 12.64/214.82 Notes 1; 2 

N 64.46 
Attached Single Family; 

Multifamily 
260 lots/units 4.03/7.844.95 Notes 1; 2 

O 23.47 Commercial (Type 2)   Note 5 
P 66.30 Commercial (Type 1)   Note 4 
Q 14.14 Commercial (Type 1)   Note 4 
R 4.30 Commercial (Type 1)   Note 4 
S 5.26 Commercial (Type 2)   Note 5 
T 12.56 Commercial (Type 1)    

Totals  
Residential Area 1,628.46 AC 
Commercial Area 136.76 AC 

3,316 
lots/units 

 

Total Gross/Net 
Density 

2.04_____/4.18_____ 
 

 
Notes to Master Site Plan Summary Table: 

148



 

 11 

1. Density may be shifted between residential tracts/areas with like uses (i.e. single-family to single-family) 
may be considered a “minor” amendment to the PD, provided that the overall (total) density is not increased 
and remains constant, applicable to Tracts A, C, E, F, G, H, I, J, L, M and N. 

2. Attached Single Family/Multifamily tracts/areas may be developed in-common. Development Standards 
for in-common development may differ from fee-simple development, applicable to Tracts A, C, E, L, M 
and N.  

3. Refer to Table 2 in the PD document for dimensional standards applicable to all Tracts. 
4. Unless otherwise specified in the PD, all uses permitted in the Highway Commercial (HC) district, per the 

City of Conway’s Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) shall be permitted on tracts/areas identified as 
Commercial (Type 1), applicable to Tracts P, Q, R and S. 

5. Unless otherwise specified in the PD, all uses permitted in the Highway Commercial (HC) / Light Industrial 
(LI) districts, per the City’s UDO, shall be permitted on tracts/areas identified as Commercial (Type 2), 
applicable to Tracts O and S, provided that Tract O may be used only for outdoor recreation and/or storage. 

6. Unless otherwise specified in the PD, all uses permitted in the Neighborhood Commercial (NC) and 
Conservation Preservation (CP) districts, per the City’s UDO, shall be permitted on tracts/areas identified 
as Commercial (Type 3), applicable to Tract B. 

 
SECTION 5: DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION 

 
The Project is planned to include a mix of land uses, which together form an integrated active 
lifestyle community. The Project will be the subject of master covenants, conditions and 
restrictions, which will apply to the community as a whole, as well as additional covenants, 
conditions and restrictions which may be applicable only to certain portions of the community 
(collectively the “CCRs”).  The CCRs will define the building size, aesthetic style and shared 
amenities and open spaces of each of the respective neighborhoods within the Project.   
 
The Developer has significant experience in bringing new communities that meet the needs of both 
the local community and the new residents, throughout the Southeast region of the United States, 
with a significant concentration of such communities within North Carolina and South Carolina.  
By being involved in the creation of the new development, the Developer is able to insure the 
desires of future homebuyers are incorporated in the initial land design, and carried through 
consistently to the completion of the final home. Often in today’s market, the Developer is 
disconnected from the builder’s targeted homebuyer, and that disconnect can have a significant 
impact on the success of the community. For this PD, the Developer has planned the amenities and 
the product offerings to reflect an active lifestyle to accommodate families, soon to be retirees and 
retirees.  The key word in the phrase “Master Planned Community”,  is Community, since success 
for an active community is dependent upon substantial amenities encouraging an active lifestyle 
with outdoor activity and interaction among residents.  In today’s real estate market, communities 
are typically a collection of one or more neighborhoods, with compatible architectural character, 
promoting a way of life and diversity with a common purpose.  The Project is designed to anticipate 
a variety of users, and to balance the environment between them.   
 
Neighborhoods are the building blocks of a community. The neighborhood is where we experience 
our family and friends, it’s where life happens, and it’s where we tell people we live. Residents 
are offered a range of options for getting where they want to go rather than having to depend solely 

149



 

 12 

on their automobile.  Each neighborhood within the PD will offer distinctive product type, to 
appeal to the needs of a particular targeted resident. The offering of various product types further 
encourages the diversity of both residents and their interests. In addition, the covenants, conditions 
and restrictions for the various neighborhoods within the PD will provide for limitations on certain 
types of uses that conflict with the target resident for that particular neighborhood.  As an example, 
private restrictions that are not a part of the PD may dictate that a particular neighborhood may be 
restricted for leases terms of not less than One (1) year, while other neighborhoods are intentionally 
design to attract the short-term, transition resident, who may be building are anticipating the 
building of a permanent residence within another area of the PD.   
 
Public spaces are the social heart of communities. Today, modern development has arranged public 
space into two forms;  the first being activity areas for organized leisure activities and sports; and 
the second being preservation areas such as lakes, wetlands, pocket parks, groves of preserved 
trees, and drainage channels.  The recreational areas are designed to accommodate leisure activities 
and sports, but also to create places where one can go simply to be outside, enjoy nature and maybe 
have a picnic. The relationship between leisure and recreation has to be better understood.  Leisure 
is time and experience based, while recreation is activity and space based.  One is aesthetically 
oriented and the other is functionally oriented.  While a good community should provide both, the 
two are not the same, and must be balanced so the needs of the residents are being met in equal 
proportion.  The Project incorporates a significant flood plain area, which contributes to the 
Developer’s efforts to separate uses, provide buffers between neighborhoods, and preserve the 
flood plain areas and wetlands in order to accommodate any rising water during an historical storm 
event.  Portions of the flood plain area within the PD  may be supplemented with docks, recreation 
lawns and preservation of existing vegetated border areas.  Public space and green areas help 
provide a transition between the various neighborhoods and residences, and provide a sense of 
movement, and enhances the feeling of being in a distinct place.  The interconnection of activities, 
through the use of pathways, provides opportunities for activities to all residents.  
 
The public spaces, including open space, flood plain areas, jurisdictional and non-jurisdictional 
wetlands to be conveyed by Developer, its successors and assigns, including the owners of the 
individual parcels comprising the Subject Parcels, to the City, shall be conveyed in conjunction 
with the development of the individual Phases, on or before the date on which the development 
within a particular Phase has been completed.  To the extent any area within the PD is, at the time 
of the development of the Phase in which such area is located, designated as a jurisdictional or 
non-jurisdictional wetland, or required wetland buffer, then, and only then, will the same be 
conveyed by Developer to the City, provided, however, that the Developer, its successors and 
assigns, including the owners of the individual parcels comprising the Subject Parcels, such 
conveyance shall be subject to reservations of ingress, egress, access and the installation, 
extension, tie-in, repair, maintenance and replacement of utilities serving the Subject Parcels. 
 
The arterial roadway providing access through the Project from U.S. Highway 701 to Pitch 
Landing Road, as a spine road, is anticipated to be a variable width public roadway. The interior 
roadways within the Project, to the extent the same meet with requirements of the City for a public 
roadway, are also anticipated to be public roadways. Roadways within the Project, in addition to 
public roadways, may include private roadways, internal drives and other areas within the multi-
family areas of the Project where subdivision from a public right-of-way is not required and 

150



 

 13 

planned by the Developer.  Setbacks and easements will be arranged so as to allow for off-street 
parking of at least one car in depth for the residences. All water and sewer systems within the 
Project, upon completion, will be dedicated to one or more of Grand Strand Water & Sewer 
Authority or Bucksport Water System, Inc. The neighborhoods within the Project may consist of 
detached single family lots of varying width,  single family subdivided attached units ranging from 
Two (2) to Eight (8) units, mid-rise multi-family buildings and many different commercial uses 
within the commercial areas of the PD. The architectural style of the homes will be consistent and 
compatible, but will also allow for an identity to be established within each neighborhood by its 
distinctive elements. Elevated entries, varying rooflines, oversized windows and durable but 
distinctive roofing materials will be present in each of the neighborhoods, the elements and style 
of each neighborhood being reflected in the appendixes attached to this PD Document.  Structures 
within the PD will comply with City’s Design Standards for residential and non-residential 
structures are in effect at the time of plan and/or permit submittal. 
 
Single Family residences may include Detached Single Family, Attached Single Family ranging 
from Two (2) to Eight (8) units per building. Single Family Attached may be subdivided, or may 
be in common. To the extent such units are subdivided, each unit shall comply with the subdivision 
requirements of the City, including, but not limited to the requirement that in order to be 
subdivided, lots must adjoin (front) a public right-of-way.   
 
Multi-Family residences may include mid-rise condominiums, and mid-rise apartments, not 
exceeding Four (4) stories, all of which may be offered for sale, for rent or both.  
 
The Commercial areas may include subdivided commercial lots, shopping centers and commercial 
condominium complexes, combining various uses within a single development.  
 
Architecture, signage design and landscaping are proposed to be controlled with detailed design 
guidelines, which will be administered by a Subject Parcels under a property owners association 
(“POA”) or homeowners association (“HOA”) and/or an architectural review board (“ARB”).  
Table 1 below identifies the proposed uses for the Subject Parcels within the PD.   
 
 

[SEE TABLE 1 PROPOSED USES ON FOLLOWING PAGE] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

151



 

 14 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

TABLE 1 
PROPOSED USES FOR SUBJECT PARCELS 

 
Master 

Plan Tract 
Approximate 

Acres 
Proposed Land 

Use 
Product Type Proposed 

Density 

Tract D 56.84 AC Detached Single 
Family 

SF Type A (Min. 60’ Lot 
Width) Detached 135 

Tract F 128.57 AC Detached Single 
Family 

SF Type A (Min. 60’ Lot 
Width) Detached 302 

Tract G 178.76 AC Detached Single 
Family 

SF Type A (Min. 60’ Lot 
Width) Detached 341 

Tract H 232.80 AC Detached Single 
Family 

SF Type A (Min. 60’ Lot 
Width) Detached 321 

Tract I 153.20 AC Detached Single 
Family 

SF Type A (Min. 60’ Lot 
Width) Detached 91 

Tract J 88.02 AC Detached Single 
Family 

SF Type A (Min. 60’ Lot 
Width) Detached 190 

Tract A* 40.47 AC Attached Single 
Family  

SF Type C (Min. 28’ Lot 
Width) Attached 246 

Tract C* 21.66 AC Attached Single 
Family  

SF Type B (Min. 38’ Lot 
Width) Attached 104 

Tract E* 50.94 AC Attached Single 
Family  

SF Type D (Min. 20’ Lot 
Width) Attached 408 

Tract N* 64.43 AC Attached Single 
Family  

SF Type D (Min. 20’ Lot 
Width) Attached 260 

Tract L 27.82 AC Multi-Family 3-4 Story Multi-Family 480 
Tract M 34.81 AC Multi-Family 3-4 Story Multi-Family 440 

Tract K** 550.14 AC Open Space Recreational Open Space N/A 

Tract B 10.72 AC Commercial Type 3 Commercial 161,000 SF 
Max. 

Tract O*** 23.47 AC Commercial Type 2 Commercial 352,000 SF 
Max. 

Tract P 66.32 AC Commercial Type 1 Commercial 995,000 SF 
Max. 

Tract Q 14.13 AC Commercial Type 1 Commercial 212,000 SF 
Max. 

152



 

 15 

Tract R 4.30 AC. Commercial Type 1 Commercial 64,000 SF 
Max. 

Tract S 5.26 AC. Commercial Type 2 Commercial 79,000 SF 
Max. 

Tract T 12.56 AC. Commercial Type 1 Commercial 188,000 SF 
Max. 

      TOTAL        1,765.22 AC                                         Residential                         3,318 UNITS 
                         
 
*Tract A, Tract C, Tract E and Tract N each represent Attached Single Family use at the highest 
intensity.  As to SF Type B, SF Type C and SF Type D Parcels set forth above, which parcels are 
intended to be interchangeable based upon market conditions, Developer may elect to replace any 
one of these Three (3) designations with any other of these Three (3) designations by submittal of 
a minor amendment to the Planning Director for approval.   
**Tract K represents acreage to be conveyed to the City by the Developer, in one or more parcels, 
upon completion of improvements, but not later than the date which is the third anniversary of the 
final approval of the PD. 
***Tract O lies primarily within the AE Flood Zone and may be used only for Outdoor Recreation 
and/or Storage without regard to the allowable uses within Type 2 Commercial.   
 
Table 2 below identified the dimensional standards for each of the proposed uses within the PD 
District. 
 

TABLE 2 
PROPOSED DIMENSIONAL STANDARDS CHART 

 
 

Permitted 
Uses 

Min. 
Lot 
Size 
Sq. Ft. 

Min. 
Lot 
Width 

Min. 
Lot 

Depth 

Setbacks (Feet)  Max. 
Height*(
Applica
ble in 
both 
subdivid
ed and 
in 
common 
Resident
ial 
Units) 

Impervious 
Surface 
****(Applica
ble in both 
subdivided 
and in 
common 
Residential 
Units) 

Min. 
Separation 
of 
Structures*(
Applicable 
in both 
subdivided 
and in 
common 
Residential 
Units) 

    Front Side Rear Corner    
Detached 
Single 
Family SF 
Type “A”** 

6,000 60’ 100’ 20’ 5’ 15’ 10’ 35’ 80% 10’ Wall to 
Wall 

Attached  SF 
Type “B”*** 

3,000 38’ 84’ 20’ 0’ 20’ 10’ 35’ 75% 20’ 

Attached  SF 
Type “C”*** 

2,300 28’ 84’ 20’ 0’ 20’ 10’ 35’ 75% 20’ 

Attached SF 
Type “D”*** 

1,650 20’ 84’ 20’ 0’ 10’ 10’ 35’ 75% 20’ 

Multi-Family  5,000 50’ 150’ 15’ 10’ 10’ 10’ 52’ 75% 20’ 
Amenities 1,000 N/A N/A 10’ 10’ 10’ 20’ 35’ N/A 10’ Wall to 

Wall 

153



 

 16 

Commercial 
1 

10,000 50’ 125’ 30’ 20’ 20’ 20’ 42’ 75% 20’ 

Commercial 
2 

15,000 80’ 150’ 40’ 20’ 20’ 20’ 52’ 75% 20’ 

Commercial 
3 

7,500 60’ 125’ 20’ 20’ 20’ 15’ 42’ 75% 20’ 

Accessory 
(All Tracts)  

N/A N/A N/A 10’ 10’ 10’ 10’ 35’ N/A 20’ 

 
*Minimum wall to wall separation for single family homes shall be Ten (10) feet.  
**SF Type A Minimum Front Foot shall be reduced to 40’ along curves, and 35’ along cul de sac. 
***SF Type B, SF Type C and SF Type D Minimum Front Foot shall be reduced to to the greater of (i)  50% of the 
Minimum Front Foot otherwise required;  or (ii)  2018’ along curves and along cul de sac.  
**** Impervious Surface is determined by the ratio of building roof area together with driveways, patios, pools, etc. 
not under roof, to total Lot or Tract/Parcel area, as applicable to subdivided or in common development.  
 
Note:  SF Type A requires a minimum Lot Width of 60’, SF Type B requires a minimum Lot Width of 38’, SF Type 
C requires a minimum Lot Width of 28’ and SF Type D requires a minimum Lot Width of 20’.  The dimensional 
standards set forth above as being applicable to Attached SF Type B, Attached SF Type C and Attached SF Type D, 
including the above minimum Site Area S.F., Lot Width, minimum Lot Depth, shall be applicable only to subdivided 
lots, and shall not apply to units which are owned in-common, except as specifically noted.   

 
SECTION 6: GENERAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS THROUGHOUT THE PD 

DISTRICT 
 

Densities.  The overall density for the Project through all Phases, as shown on the Master 
Site Plan, shall not exceed 3,318 total units, and shall not exceed 1,892 detached single 
family residential units, 1,648 attached single family residential units or  920 multi-family 
residential units, together with the applicable commercial square footage not exceeding the 
maximum square footage for each Tract set forth in Table 1 above.   

 
  Permitted Uses. 

Permitted Uses are as follows: 
 
(1) Commercial Uses:  Commercial may include each of the uses set forth in Table 3 below, 

the definition of such uses being consistent with the definitions set forth in the City’s 
UDO, or, to the extent not defined in the City’s UDO, and classified and designated, 
for purposes of the PD District, as Type 1 Commercial, Type 2 Commercial or Type 3 
Commercial: 

 
TABLE 3.  

PERMITTED USES IN COMMERCIAL TYPES 1, 2, AND 3 & OPEN 
SPACE/RECREATIONAL USES 

Type 1 Commercial Type 2 Commercial Type 3 Commercial 
Open 

Space/Recreational 
(Tract K) 

Tracts / Areas: Tracts / Areas: Tracts / Areas: Tracts / Areas: K 
In addition to the uses specified 
in this Table, all uses permitted 

In addition to the uses 
specified in this Table, all uses 

In addition to the uses 
specified in this Table, all 

All uses permitted in 
the Conservation 

154



 

 17 

in the Highway Commercial 
(HC) district, shall be a 
permitted or conditional use on 
Tracts/Areas identified as Type 
1 Commercial on the Master 
Site Plan. 

permitted in the Highway 
Commercial (HC) & Light 
Industrial (LI) districts shall 
also be permitted or 
conditional use on 
Tracts/Areas identified as 
Type 2 Commercial on the 
Master Site Plan. 

uses permitted in the 
Neighborhood 
Commercial (NC) & 
Conservation 
Preservation (CP) 
districts shall be permitted 
on Tracts/Areas identified 
as Type 3 Commercial on 
the Master Site Plan. 

Preservation (CP) 
district, AND as 
specified in Table 3 / 
Master Site Plan 

Permitted Uses: 
• Conservation Area(s) 
• Passive Open Space 
• Public Recreational 

Facilities 
• Athletic Fields (with or 

without lights) 
• Golf Course (with or 

without lights) 
• Gymnasiums 
• Nursing Home 
• Hospital 
• Civic Club 
• Fire/Police station 
• Educational Facility 
• Library 
• Business office (i.e. 

accounting, consulting, 
financial institution, real 
estate, law firm, and the 
like) 

• Chiropractor 
• Counseling service 
• Dentist / Orthodontist / 

Oral Surgeon 
• Doctor’s office 
• Government office 
• Barber Shop / Beauty 

Salon (including Hair/Nail 
salons) 

• Dry Cleaner (no drive-
thru) 

• Dance/Fitness Studio 

Permitted Uses: 
• All uses listed under Type 

1 Commercial as a 
Permitted use 

• Conservation Area(s) 
• Passive Open Space 
• Public Recreational 

Facilities 
• Athletic Fields (with or 

without lights) 
• Gymnasiums 
• Agricultural Crop 
• Tree Farms & Silviculture 
• Skating Rinks 
• Fire / Police Station 
• Vocational, Trade School 
• Business Offices (i.e. 

accounting, consulting, 
financial institution, real 
estate, law firm, and the 
like) 

• Charitable Institution 
• Government Office 
• Clothing Alterations; 

Seamstress 
• Dance / Fitness Studio 
• Dry Cleaner (no drive-

thru) 
• Shoe Repair 
• Bakery 
• Wholesale Bakery 
• Butcher Shop 
• News Stand 

Permitted Uses: 
• Boat Dock 
• Conservation Area(s) 
• Forest Management 

Area 
• Passive Open Space 
• Public Recreational 

Facilities 
• Private Sports 

Facilities (i.e. athletic 
fields, golf courses, 
gymnasiums, and the 
like) 

• Fire / Police Station 
• Fitness Center; 

Athletic Club 
• Passenger Facility 

(transit stop, station) 
• Civic Clubs 
• Fire / Police Station 
• Educational Facility 
• Library 
• Business Offices (i.e. 

accounting, 
consulting, financial 
institution, real 
estate, law firm, and 
the like) 

• Chiropractor 
• Counseling Service 
• Dentist / Orthodontist 

/ Oral Surgeon 
• Doctor’s Office 

 

155



 

 18 

• Fitness Center; Athletic 
Club 

• Laundromat 
• Pharmacy 
• Bakery 
• Butcher Shop 
• Convenience Store 
• Grocery Store 
• Ice Cream Shop 
• Specialty Food Store 
• News Stand 
• Bars/Tavern/Nightclub 
• Café / Coffee Shop 
• Restaurant (with or without 

a drive-thru) 
• Clothing Stores 
• Shoe Store 
• Artists & Craftsmen’s 

Stores (i.e. antique, gift, 
hobby, and frame shops, 
and the like) 

• Photography Sales & 
Studio; film developing 

• Bookstore 
• Tobacco shop 
• Florist 
• Hardware Store 
• Pet Supply, Pet Grooming 
• Musical Instrument Sales 

& Repair; Music Store 
• Gas & Service Station 
• Optical / Hearing Center 
• Retail & Service uses (i.e. 

appliance sales/service, big 
box retail dept. store, 
computer sales/service, 
liquor stores, furniture 
stores/showrooms, 
discount stores, jeweler, 
and the like) 

• Shopping Center 

• Wholesale Produce 
• Bars / Tavern / Nightclub 
• Clothing Stores 
• Artists & Craftsmen’s 

Stores (i.e. antique, gift, 
hobby, and frame shops, 
and the like) 

• Photography Sales & 
Studio; film developing 

• Bookstore 
• Tobacco Shop 
• Wholesale Florist 
• Hardware Store 
• Musical Instrument Sales 

& Repair; Music Store 
• Pet Supply; Pet Grooming 
• Gas & Service Station 
• Optical & Hearing Center 
• Appliance Sales & 

Service 
• Boat Sales; Boat Service 
• Computer Sales & 

Service 
• Copy Center; Print Shops 
• Discount Store 
• Furniture Repair & 

Upholstery 
• Jeweler 
• Leather Shop 
• Sign Shop 
• Auto Accessory Store 
• Automobile Dealership 
• Rental Car Agency 
• Truck & Auto Repair 
• Building Supply; 

Equipment Sales 
• Fitness Center; Athletic 

Clubs 
• Hotel / Motel / Inn 
• Private Club 

• Charitable Institution 
• Government Office 
• Barber Shops / 

Beauty Salons 
(including Hair / Nail 
salons) 

• Clothing Alterations; 
Seamstress 

• Dance / Fitness 
Studio 

• Dry Cleaner (no 
drive-thru) 

• Laundromat 
• Pharmacy 
• Shoe Repair 
• Bakery 
• Candy Store; 

Confectionary 
• Convenience Store 
• Grocery Store 
• Health; Vitamin; 

Nutrition Food Store 
• Ice Cream Shop 
• News Stand 
• Specialty Food Store 
• Café / Coffee Shop 
• Restaurant (no drive-

thru) 
• Clothing Stores 
• Artists & 

Craftsmen’s Stores 
(i.e. antique, gift, 
hobby, and frame 
shops, and the like) 

• Photography Sale & 
Studio; film 
developing 

• Bookstore 
• Tobacco Shop 
• Florist 
• Hardware Store 

156



 

 19 

• Auto-Accessory Store 
• Automobile Dealership 
• Rental Car Agency 
• Truck & Auto Repair 
• Building Supply; 

Equipment Sales 
• Office Supply Stores 
• Paint, Floor Supply & 

Sales 
• Hotel / Motel / Inn 
• Armory 
• Sporting Goods 
• Portable Storage Unit 
• Mini Storage Unit/Mini 

Storage Warehouse with 
Outdoor Storage 

• Warehousing with Outdoor 
Storage 

• Building Supply/Lumber 
Yard 

• Nursery/Garden Center 
• Car Wash & Detailing 

Facility 
• Dry Cleaner (with drive-

thru) 
•  
 

• Passenger Facility (transit 
stop, station) 

• Nursery / Garden Center 
• Dry Cleaner (with drive-

thru) 
• Car Wash & Detailing 

Facility 
• Portable Storage Unit 
• Mini Storage Unit; Mini 

Storage Warehouse with 
Outdoor Storage 

• Warehousing with 
Outdoor Storage 

• Building Supply Lumber 
Yard 

• Wholesaling, Storage & 
Distribution (Light) 
 
 

• Musical Instrument 
Repair & Sales; 
Music Store 

• Pet Supply; Pet 
Grooming 

• Gas & Service 
Station 

• Optical & Hearing 
Center 

• Appliance Sales & 
Service 

• Computer Sales & 
Service 

• Copy Center; Print 
Center 

• Furniture Repair & 
Upholstery 

• Furniture Store & 
Showroom 

• Jeweler 
• Shoe Store 
• Fitness Center; 

Athletic Club 
• Hotel / Motel / Inn 
• Sporting Goods 
• Passenger Facility 

(transit stop; station) 

Conditional Uses: 
• Adult Day Care Services; 

Adult Day Care Facilities 
• Child Day Care Facilities 
• Community Support 

Services 
• Funeral Home; Mortuary 
• Religious Institution 
• Doggie Day Care; spa 
• Sidewalk Café; Outdoor 

Dining 
• Farmers’ Market 
• Mobile Vending 

Conditional Uses: 
• All uses listed under Type 

1 Commercial as a 
Conditional use 

 
• Community Support 

Services 
• Doggie Day Care / Spa 
• Produce Stand 
• Amphitheater 
• Armory 
• Manufactured / Modular 

Home Sales 
• Pawn Shop 

Conditional Uses: 
• Farmers’ Market 
• Mobile Vending 
• Portable Storage Unit 
• Public Utility Facility 
• Adult Day Care 

Services; Adult Day 
Care Facilities 

• Child Day Care 
Facilities 

• Community Support 
Facility 

• Funeral Home; 
Mortuary 

 

157



 

 20 

• Veterinarian / Animal 
Clinic 

• Custom Manufacturing 
• Parking Lot 
• Public Utility Facility 
• Indoor Shooting Range 

• Veterinarian / Animal 
Clinic 

• Research Facility 
• Science Laboratory 
• Custom Manufacturing 
• High Technology Industry 
• Microbrewery 
• Agricultural Processing 
• Manufacturing; 

Processing 
• Meat Processing 
• Public Utility Facility 
• Indoor Shooting Range 

• Religious Institution 
• Sidewalk Café / 

Outdoor Dining 
• Farmers’ Market 
• Mobile Vending 

District Definitions (Provided for reference only): 
Highway Commercial (HC): 
The intent of the HC District is to provide compatible locations to serve the automobile oriented commercial activities in 
harmony with major highway developments, reduce traffic congestions, and to enhance the aesthetic atmosphere of the 
City. 
Light Industrial (LI): 
The intent of the LI District is to provide areas for light industrial uses, such as manufacturing, processing, repairing of 
goods, wholesaling, storage, packaging, distribution and retailing while ensuring adjacent and nearby properties are not 
adversely impacted. 
Neighborhood Commercial (NC):  
The NC District is intended to provide small-scale retail and service uses for nearby residential areas. Dimensional 
requirements and design standards of the NC district are intended to promote compatibility to surrounding residential 
areas and accommodate pedestrian use and access. Strip commercial development, designed primarily to accommodate 
vehicular access and parking, and development that is insensitive or incompatible with the scale and character of the 
surrounding residential areas, is discouraged in this district.  
Conservation Preservation (CP): 
The intent of the CP District is to provide needed open space for general outdoor and indoor recreational uses, and to 
protect environmentally sensitive areas and flood prone areas from the encroachment of any residential, commercial, 
industrial, or other uses capable of adversely affecting the relatively undeveloped character of the district.  
 
Conditional Uses specified in this Table: Uses identified as a “conditional” use in this Table shall comply with specific 
use regulations contained within Article 5 of the City of Conway Unified Development Ordinance identified for such use.  
 
Tract K: All uses proposed for Tract K that are deemed recreational (i.e. park facilities/structures, trails, activity courts, 
etc. shall be shown on the Master Site Plan. 

 
 

(2) Additional Commercial Uses:  Prior to the completion of the Project, and the sale of all 
homes from the Developer to third party purchasers, the Developer may operate a 

158



 

 21 

commercial sales center and a design center, as a freestanding structure, within any 
model home, or as a part of any Amenity buildings within the PD District, which uses 
shall be in addition to the commercial uses set forth in Table 3 above, provided 
however, that Tract K shall be specifically excluded from such uses at any time.  

   
(3) Single Family:  Fee simple Detached Single Family,  fee simple Attached Single 

Family subdivided, and Attached Single Family in common.   
 

(4)  Multi-Family:  Multi-Family homes shall not exceed 4 stories.     
 

(5) Amenity and Recreational Areas.  Commons areas, common elements, clubhouses, 
pools, public restrooms, picnic shelters, barbeque/fire pits, multi-purpose paths, 
jogging trails, recreation fields, sports courts and open spaces.   

 
(6) Decks and Promenades.   Decks, docks, gazebos, bridges and elevated walkways, 

fountains and other water features may be incorporated within any stormwater lake or 
pond within the PD.   

 
(7) Temporary Uses.  Temporary uses, if any, shall be approved by the City, in accordance 

with the City’s then current UDO.     
 

SECTION 7: ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS THROUGHOUT THE PD DISTRICT 
 

A. Tree Preservation.  All of the Subject Parcels shall comply with the City of Conway’s Tree 
Preservation Ordinance that is in effect at the time of  the PD is approved.  No protected 
trees, as defined under the City’s Tree Preservation Ordinance shall be removed without a 
Protected Tree Permit and the submission of a tree survey.  Tree surveys indicating the 
location of all protected trees under the City’s Tree Preservation Ordinance shall be 
submitted for each Tract or parcel within the PD at the time of plan submittal, and prior to 
the approval of any land disturbance, clearing, grading, confirming that development will 
not occur without verification by the City’s staff that no protected trees will be removed 
without proper permitting and mitigation.   

 
B. Development Activity, Clearing and Grading.  The Subject Parcels which are the subject 

of the PD, are primarily undeveloped.  Clearing and Grading of the PD  will require both 
removal of inferior materials, and replacement with structurally sound materials, in 
addition to providing for storm water and erosion control measures over the Subject 
Parcels, in accordance with the requirements of the Stormwater Management and Sediment 
Control Ordinance for the City of Conway, South Carolina, Ordinance #2015-05-04(C).   
In addition, any protected trees are proposed for removal, shall be approved for mitigation 
by the City Arborist, in accordance with the City’s Tree Preservation Ordinance, Chapter 
4, Conway South Carolina Code of Ordinances. 

 
C. Temporary Storm Drainage Maintenance.  Developer will provide temporary storm 

drainage measures, which incorporate storm drainage facilities located on the Subject 
Parcels to the reasonable satisfaction of the Public Works Director for the City, such that 

159



 

 22 

prior to commencement of Development Activities, the Subject Parcels shall continue to 
maintain the existing storm drainage facilities until the storm drainage facilities which are 
a part of the Development Activities for each respective Phase of the PD are complete, and 
the same are dedicated to the City. 
 

D. Signage.  Signage within the PD District shall comply with Article 11 of the City’s UDO, 
as in effect at the time a permit is requested for a sign, provided, however, that, to the extent 
any of the Subject Parcels designated as Commercial 1, Commercial 2 or Commercial 3, 
includes more than One (1) business, a sign easement may be created and reserved by the 
owner of the respective parcel, for the installation of a multi-tenant pylon sign at the road 
frontage of such respective parcel..    

 
E. Parking.  Parking with the PD District shall comply with the City’s UDO, and the following 

additional provisions: 
 

(i) Unless otherwise specified within this PD, on-street parking shall be 
prohibited in public rights-of-way. 

(ii) All uses specified in the Use Tables within this PD shall comply 
with the minimum off-street parking requirements for such proposed in accordance 
with the City’s UDO.  

  
F. Buffers.  Applicable buffers, including wetland buffers, perimeter buffers and buffers 

separating specific uses shall be noted on the Buffer Plan.  The perimeter buffer of the PD 
shall be not less than 25’.  Landscape buffers within the PD shall be  not less than 10’.  
Wetland buffers within the PD shall be not less than 30’.  Buffer between single family 
detached and single family attached shall be not less than 20’.  Buffers between single 
family attached and multi-family shall be not less than 50’.  Buffers between residential 
and commercial shall be not less than 50’.  Such buffers being set noted on the Buffer Plan 
submitted as part of the PD.   
 

G. Utilities.   
 

(i) Electric services to be provided by Horry County and/or Santee 
Cooper.  

(ii) Water services to be provided by Bucksport Water System. 
(iii) Sewer services to be provided by Bucksport Water System and 

Grand Strand Water & Sewer Authority. 
(iv) Telecommunication/Cable Service.  Telecommunication and cable 

services to be provided by Horry Telephone Cooperative and 
Spectrum Service to be extended as needed in order to serve each of 
the Subject Parcels. 

(v) Developer has, and will continue to reserve One (1) booster pump 
site for sewer for the benefit of Bucksport Water System and/or 
Grand Strand Water & Sewer Authority, as shown on the Master 
Site Plan. 

160



 

 23 

(vi) Developer has, and will continue to reserve One (1) substation site 
for electrical service for the benefit of Horry Electric Cooperative, 
as shown on the Master Site Plan. 
 

*All utilities to be placed underground. 
 

H. Other Services.  Residents and businesses within the PD will be served by Horry County 
Schools, Conway Police, Conway Fire and EMS, Conway Parks and Recreation. 
 

I. Governing Documents.  To the extent the provisions of the approved PD could be read so 
as to conflict with the City’s UDO, and the other ordinances of the City, the PD  shall be 
deemed to govern, as an approved, intended departure, written into this PD District 
Ordinance, amending the standards otherwise applicable to the Subject Parcels under the 
City’s UDO and other ordinances.   
 

J. Design Standards.  Residential Design standards shall be applicable to all structures, single 
family detached, single family attached or multi-family, and shall be determined at the tie 
of permit submittal, based on the then current design standards.   
 

K. Design Modifications.  Certain modifications of the City’s design standards set forth in the 
City’s UDO shall be allowed within the PD, as set forth in the table below. 

 
DESIGN MODIFICATIONS APPROVED AS A PART OF PD 

 
Mod. # Description  Section 
1 Kinlaw Lane shall be utilized as a public access based upon the 

proposed improvements depicted on the construction plans for 
Horry County Dirt Road Improvements (Project #S102015), such 
that the minimum width may vary from 25’ to 50’.   

Complete 
Streets 

2 The existing portion of Blaze Trail abutting PIN 380-00-00-0039 
shall be utilized as a public access based upon the existing roadway 
cross section and paving improvements on the exsiting 
roadwayRoadways internal to the community shall utilize the 
equivalent roadway cross sectional widths specified within Exhibit 
VII- Traffic Hierarchy Plan for the lane, shoulder, planting strip and 
sidewalk/multi-use trail widths and frequencies. 

Complete 
StreetsAccess 
& Circulation 

3 Buffers, street tree plantings and sidewalks shall not be required 
along the following sections of roadways: 

(a)  Along the improved local road commonly known as Blaze 
Trail adjacent to PIN 380-00-00-0039 

(b) Along the existing driveway access commonly known as 
Wayna Marie Lane 

(c) Along the existing portions of Kinlaw Lane until the full 
landscape buffer width is permittable within the PD. 

Buffer 
Requirements;  
Landscaping 
Requirements;  
Design 
Standards 

4 Spine roads shall be considered upon installation for utilization 
towards the multiple points of access for the proposed tracts until 

Access & 
Circulation 

161



 

 24 

such time as the requirements within the PD for secondary 
connection of the Spine Road are required.   

5 Temporary considerations of block length shall be allowed if future 
Spine Road installation provides future connection point to adhere 
to the minimum requirements within the City’s UDO.  

Access & 
Circulation 

6 Maximum number of units access from single road access internal 
to the parcels shall be increased to 50 units where future Spine Road 
extensions shall provide the minimum requirements specified 
within the City’s UDO. 

Fire Code 

7 Maximum number of units off a single access at full buildout within 
Parcel E and Parcel J shall be increased to 50 units. 

Fire Code 

8 Should Parcel H be developed prior to Parcel G, the number of units 
off a single point of access shall be waived so long as the future 
roadway connection to Parcel G is provided.  

Fire Code 

49 Sidewalks shall be installed along both sides of collector and arterial 
roadways internal to the PD in accordance with the cross sections 
prescribed.  Local roadway designations shall require the 
installation of a 5’ sidewalk along one side of the public right of 
ways.  Sidewalks shall be constructed in accordance with materials 
approved in the City’s UDO.Each lot shall front on a public street.  
In Parcels developed as Attached Single Family, variable width 
utility and access easements shall be allowable for access to the 
units. 

Design 
Standards;  
Dimensional 
Requirements;  
Access & 
Circulation 

10 Sidewalk installation along roadways to be installed on each street 
based on criteria designated in the cross walk sections depicted on 
Exhibit VII- Traffic Hierarchy Plan.  

Access & 
Circulation;  
Complete 
Streets 

 
 

SECTION 8:  RESIDENTIAL REGULATIONS 
 

A. Geographic Description.  The residential regulations applicable to the single family homes 
portions of the Project shall be included in a set of restrictive covenants, either applicable 
to all residential neighborhoods as a master declaration, or applicable to each neighborhood 
individually, or both. 

 
B. Public Purpose.  The public purpose of the Residential Regulations is to establish and 

thereafter maintain for its residents, tenants and visitors a sense of community through the 
design of exterior spaces and buildings at a human scale with appropriate architectural 
transitions.  The sense of community will be further enhanced by the utilization of generous 
vegetation in and around the residential portion of the Project. 
 

C. Residential Design Standards.  All residential development within the PD shall comply 
with the City’s Residential Design Standards in effect at the time of plan and/or permit 
submittal.   

 

162



 

 25 

SECTION 9:  COMMERCIAL REGULATIONS 
 

A. Geographic Description.  The commercial regulations applicable to the Commercial 
portions of the Project, shall be included in a set of restrictive covenants, either applicable 
to all commercial areas as a master declaration, or applicable to the commercial area. 

 
B. Public Purpose.  The public purpose of the Commercial Regulations is to establish and 

thereafter maintain for its residents, tenants and visitors a sense of community through the 
design of exterior spaces and buildings at a human scale with appropriate architectural 
transitions.  The sense of community will be further enhanced by the utilization of generous 
vegetation in and around the residential portion of the Project. 
 

C. Commercial Design Standards.  All commercial development within the PD shall comply 
with the City’s Non-Residential Design Standards in effect at the time of plan and/or permit 
submittal, and, where applicable, the Gateway Corridor Overlay.   

 
SECTION 10: MAINTENANCE AND CONTROL 

 
Roadways within the PD are public roadways unless specifically indicated on the Master Site Plan.  
It will be the responsibility of the Developer to maintain or provide for the maintenance of the 
Subject Parcels within the PD, including any private roadways, pathways and driveways. The 
Developer’s maintenance responsibilities and restrictions will cover the private rights-of-way, 
driveways, landscape areas, trees, parking areas, pathways, walkways, open space, common areas, 
stormwater conveyance and retention facilities, buildings and other features of the development as 
appropriate under this Document, applicable City UDO provisions and other ordinances.  Upon 
execution and recording of the declarations of conditions, covenants and restrictions, which must 
occur prior to the conveyance of any single family residential lot to a third party buyer, the 
foregoing responsibilities shall be assumed by the applicable POA.  In addition to the standards 
set forth within the PD, the CCRs will establish additional requirements for landscaping, 
particularly foundation landscaping and layering, signage and materials for single family 
residences. 
 

SECTION 11: CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE 
 
Construction will begin following receipt of permits from the City and from other regulatory 
bodies.  The nature of this Project, together with the current economic conditions, prevents the 
Developer from providing exact dates for commencement of future phases or exact completion 
dates.  Although the timing of completion of any particular Phase of the PD District is subject to 
then current market demands, the Developer anticipates a period of approximately Eighteen (18) 
months from approval of the PD for design and permitting, and an additional period of Twelve 
(12) months from the issuance of permits for the installation of initial required infrastructure.  
Developer estimates that approximately One-Fifth of the Project would be complete within Five 
(5) years of approval of the PD District, with an additional One-Fifth of the Project being 
completed in each of the subsequent Five (5) year periods. Notwithstanding the fluid nature of 
development, and that various Phases of the PD District may be developed in non-numerical order, 
the number of building permits issued for single family residential units, including both attached 

163



 

 26 

and detached homes, and multifamily residential units shall not exceed Three Thousand  Three 
Hundred Eighteen (3,318) total units.    
 

SECTION 12:  AMENDMENTS AND ENFORCEMENT 
 
For purposes of this Ordinance, amendments to the PD District shall be determined as Minor or 
Major, by the Planning Director for the City.   
 
Notwithstanding the classification of amendments to the PD District, revisions to the approved 
Master Site Plan made during the preparation of construction design documents to account for 
topography, soil quality, trees, grading, minor adjustments to roadway alignment, and changes to 
the location of lot lines, provided such revisions do not increase the maximum allowable density 
of the PD District, shall be deemed Minor amendments to the PD District, subject to the review of 
the City’s Planning Director. 
 
The Developer shall record the approved ordinance in the public records of Horry County and 
return two (2) time-stamped copies to the City. 
 
Expansions and further amendments to this PD District shall not be permitted without review by 
the Planning Director and approval as prescribed by the City’s UDO. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

164



 

 27 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX A 
 

Master Site Plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

165



 

 28 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

APPENDIX B 
 

Additional PD Documentation 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

166



 

 29 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX C 
 

City Recreational Exhibit 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

167



 

 30 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX D: 
 

Project Traffic Report 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

168



 

 31 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX E: 
 

Threatened and Endangered Species 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

169



 

 32 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX F: 
 

Wetland Letters for Subject Tracts 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

170



 

 33 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX G: 
 

Design Modifications Approved as part of PD 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

171



1 

A written project description of 

WARDEN STATION 
PLANNED DEVELOPMENT 

 DISTRICT (PD District) 

April 5, 2023 
Latest Revision:  September 14, 2023 

Prepared by: 

Robert S. Guyton, P.C. 
4605 B Oleander Drive, Suite 202 
Myrtle Beach, SC  29577 
(843) 839-2100

And 

G3 Engineering & Surveying, LLC 
24 Commerce Drive 
Pawleys Island, SC  29585 
(843) 237-1001

CLEAN VERSION SUBMITTED BY APPLICANT

172



 

 2 

PD DISTRICT DOCUMENT TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
PD DISTRICT NARRATIVE         
  
Section 1: PURPOSE AND INTENT STATEMENT 
Section 2: LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
Section 3: PROJECT DEVELOPER AND TITLE 
Section 4: MASTER SITE PLAN 
Section 5: DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION 
Section 6: GENERAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS THROUGHOUT THE PD 

DISTRICT 
Section 7: RESIDENTIAL REGULATIONS 
Section 8: COMMERCIAL REGULATIONS 
Section 9: MAINTENANCE AND CONTROL 
Section 10: CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE 
Section 11: OFF-SITE AND STREETSCAPE IMPROVEMENTS 
Section 12: AMENDMENTS AND ENFORCEMENT 
 
APPENDICES: (Submitted by Separate Supplement)  
    
Appendix A: Master Site Plan 
 
Appendix B: Additional PD District Documentation  
 

(I) Existing Conditions – (a) Boundary Survey, (b) Wetlands and 
Topography, (c) Downstream Analysis, (d) Aerial, and (e)  Existing 
Zoning. 

(II) Buffer Plan 
(III) Open Space Plan 
(IV) Stormwater Management Plan 
(V) Transportation Plan 
(VI) Traffic Hierarchy Plan 
(VII) Utility Plan – (a) Potable water, (b) Sanitary Sewer 
(VIII) Flood Zone Overlay    

       
Appendix C:   City Recreation Acreage Exhibit 
Appendix D:    Project Traffic Report  
Appendix E:   Threatened and Endangered Species  
Appendix F:    Wetlands Letters 
Appendix G:    Design Modifications Approved as part of PD      
 
 
 
 
 
 

173



 

 3 

SECTION 1: PURPOSE AND INTENT STATEMENT 
 
The intent of the Planned Development District (PD District) is to provide for large-scale, quality 
development projects (three acres of larger) with mixed land uses which create a superior 
environment through unified development and provide for the application of design ingenuity 
while protecting surrounding developments.  More specifically, the intent of the PD District is to 
permit:   
 

A. Flexibility in design to take the greatest advantage of natural land, trees, historical 
and other features; 

B. Accumulation of large areas of usable open space for recreation, preservation of 
natural amenities, and provision of community facilities; 

C. Creation of a variety of residential and compatible neighborhood arrangements that 
give the home occupant greater choice in selecting types of environment and living 
units; 

D. Clustering of one residential type for better use of the land and open space; 
E. Allowance of sufficient freedom for the developer to take a creative approach to 

the use of land and related physical development, as well as utilizing innovative 
techniques to enhance visual character of the city; 

F. Efficient use of land which may result in reduction in development and 
maintenance cost of street and utility systems; 

G. Simplification of the procedure for obtaining approval of proposed development 
through simultaneous review by the city of proposed land use, site consideration, 
lot and setback consideration, public needs and requirements, and health and safety 
factors [City of Conway Unified Development Ordinance Adopted July 17, 2023]. 

 
The real property that is the subject of his PD District consist of approximately One Thousand 
Seven Hundred Sixty Five and 22/100 (1,765.22) Acres, more or less (the “Subject Parcels”).  The 
Subject Parcels are located within the Conway and Bucksport Sections of Horry County, but 
outside of the jurisdiction of the City of Conway, bounded generally by U.S. Highway 701 to the 
East, Pitch Landing Road to the North, Kinlaw Lane to the South and Bear Creek to the West.  
Simultaneously with the adoption of this PD District, the Subject Parcels will be annexed into the 
City of Conway, by separate petition for annexation (the “Annexation Agreement”), and will be 
subjected to the terms of a separate development agreement between BRD Land & Investment 
Management, LLC, a North Carolina limited liability company (the “Developer”), of the Subject 
Parcels, its successors and assigns and the City of Conway (the “Development Agreement”), which 
Development Agreement will also be adopted simultaneously with the adoption of this PD District.  
The Subject Parcels are generally located Southwest of the intersection of U.S. Highway 701 and 
Pitch Landing Road.  
 
Pursuant to the terms of the Development Agreement and the requirements of the City’s Unified 
Development Ordinance (the “City’s UDO”), public benefit is not required under the City’s UDO 
as a part of the PD District, the Developer, and its successors and assigns, have nevertheless agreed 
to provide certain public benefits, which are as follows: 
 

174



 

 4 

1. The creation of a direct internal roadway network with public rights-of-way ranging 
in width from 50’ to 100’, including an internal right-of-way connection from U.S. 
Highway 701 to Pitch Landing Road measuring 100’ in width at U.S. Highway 701 
and Pitch Landing Road, with variable widths internal of not less than 60’, and the 
roadway improvements thereon (the “Spine Road”), such Spine Road to be 
completed in more than one phase, each of which shall be completed with any 
adjacent subdivisions requiring access, whether directly or indirectly from the 
Spine Road, or, in the alternative, bonded for completion in accordance with the 
requirements of the City, provided that no Residential Units or Commercial Units 
may be completed within such respective subdivision until such portion of the 
Spine Road has been completed.  Notwithstanding any other provision herein, the 
Developer shall install, as a part of the initial Spine Road installation, not less than 
Two (2) lanes, along the entire corridor of the Spine Road, such that the PD will 
have not less than Two (2) means of access on or before the recording of the first 
final plat for any subdivision within the PD.  

 
2. A sanitation service enhancement fee in an amount equal to $_______ per 

residential lot or residential unit (individually a “Residential Unit” and collectively 
“Residential Units”), and $_______ per 1,000 square feet of commercial space 
(individually a “Commercial Unit” and collectively the “Commercial Units”), 
which shall be payable at the time of building permit application.  

 
3. A public safety enhancement fee in an amount equal to $_______ per Residential 

Unit, and $________ per Commercial Unit, which shall be payable at the time of 
building permit application. The purpose of the public safety enhancement fee is to 
offset the additional costs anticipated to be incurred by the City as a result of the 
PD, including the addition of Four (4) police officers, One (1) detective, Five (5) 
additional police vehicles, and the costs of required equipment for each of such 
police officers and police vehicles.   

 
4. A parks and recreation enhancement fee in an amount equal to $______ per 

Residential Unit, which shall be payable to the time of building permit application. 
 

5. A planning and development service enhancement fee in an amount equal to 
$______ per Residential Unit, and an amount equal to $_______ per Commercial 
Unit, which shall be payable at the time of building permit application.  

 
6. The installation of a multi-purpose path of 8’ in width on one side of the road, and 

a 5’ sidewalk on the opposite side of the road, following the internal Spine Road, 
in accordance with the requirements of the City for other similar-situated 
properties, to be complete on or before the date on which the respective portion of 
the Spine Road providing access, directly or indirectly, to one or more subdivisions 
within the PD is completed.  In the event the installation of such multi-purpose path 
or sidewalk is delayed beyond completion of the corresponding portion of the Spine 
Road, then, in such event the multi-purpose path and/or sidewalk shall be bonded 
for completion, in accordance with the bonding requirements of the City.  The 

175



 

 5 

installation of this path must be in accordance with the City’s Pathway’s and Trails 
Plan, adopted in 2022, and the same must be completed at the same time as the 
installation of the Spine Road is complete, without regard to the number of building 
permits that have been issued for the PD by the City.   

 
7. As a requirement, the installation of at least One (1) new sewer pump station on the 

Subject Parcels, and, to the extent required in order to provide sufficient capacity 
as necessary for the proposed development of the Project, a second sewer pump on 
the Subject Parcels.  Sewer pump installation shall be in accordance with the 
requirements of Grand Strand Water & Sewer Authority (“GSWSA”), or such other 
agency then providing sanitary sewer service to the Subject Parcels.    

 
8. Stormwater conveyance and retention facilities sufficient in capacity to 

accommodate the storm water generated from the Subject Parcels, and provide the 
City with evidence of the necessary and required permanent and perpetual 
easements necessary to facilitate such drainage from the Subject Parcels.  All 
stormwater shall be designed to meet or exceed the City’s Stormwater Ordinance 
that is in effect at the time of plan submittal. 

 
9. The installation of roadway improvements to Five (5) separate roadway 

intersections, three (3) existing roadway intersections, and Two (2) proposed 
intersections, each lying on the boundary of the Subject Parcels, in accordance with 
the Transportation Plan submitted as part of the Exhibit Supplement under 
Appendix A, Exhibit VII.  Provided, however, that, in the event any of such 
roadway intersection improvements require the acquisition of additional right-of-
way not located on the Subject Parcels, which Developer has no means of acquiring 
then, in such event the City may (i)  acquire the additional right-of-way not located 
on the Subject Parcels for such roadway intersection improvements and provide 
access to Developer for the installation of such improvements, or, (ii)  in the event 
the City declines to acquire such additional required right-of-way, the Developer 
may, in lieu of installing such roadway intersection improvements, instead pay to 
the City any amount equal to the then current engineer’s estimated costs of such 
roadway intersection improvements, as approved by the City under the ordinances 
and regulations of the city, with the City then having the burden of installing such 
roadway intersection improvements at a time and under the conditions as 
determined by the City to be reasonable.  The respective roadway intersections must 
be completed on or before the time on which any subdivision within the PD which 
is accessed by way of such roadway intersection is completed, as evidenced by the 
recording of a final plat, or by recording of a master deed creating any in-common 
units, together with any utilities which are to provide service to such subdivision 
within the PD.  The intent of this provision is to insure that either (i)  such roadway 
intersection improvements have been installed by the Developer;  or (ii)  the costs 
of such improvements have been paid to the City by the Developer, to the extent 
not previously completed by Developer, with each  of such roadway intersection 
improvements being completed on or before the date on which any final plat or 
master deed is recorded within any portion of the PD having access by way of such 

176



 

 6 

roadway intersection improvements (directly or indirectly), in accordance with the 
Project Traffic Report.   
   

10. Conveyance to the City of approximately 500 acres of real property, shown and 
delineated on the Master Site Plan (the “City Recreation Acreage”), which City 
Recreation Acreage also comprises open space in accordance with the requirements 
of the PD, and includes uplands, wetlands and flood plain areas for ownership, 
perpetual maintenance and preservation, also as indicated on the Open Space Plan 
submitted as part of the Exhibit Supplement under Appendix A, Exhibit IV, which 
City Recreation Acreage may be conveyed in one or more parcels, each at the time 
an adjoining parcel is submitted for final plat.  In addition, prior to the date on which 
the City Recreation Acreage is conveyed to the City, Developer shall have 
completed, caused to be completed, or bonded for future completion, in accordance 
with the typical bonding requirements of the City, the following improvements, 
each to be shown on the Open Space Plan: 

 
(a) Installation of not less than Four (4) pickle ball courts; 
(b) Installation of a floodproof playground, adequate in size to 

accommodate the number of children anticipated to use such playground at the 
completion of the PD;  

(c) Installation of parking areas sufficient in size, to accommodate 
visitors to the above reference recreational facilities; 

(d) Notwithstanding any other provision herein, the City Recreation 
Acreage shall be deemed a portion of the Open Space required under the PD. 

(e) To the extent any portion of the City Recreation Acreage includes 
stormwater lakes and ponds serving the PD, Developer may convey such 
stormwater lakes and ponds to the City, subject to a maintenance easement in favor 
of Developer, which requires Developer to maintain such stormwater lakes and 
ponds at the sole cost and expense of Developer.  

(f) To the extent any of the above referenced improvements are not 
complete at the time of conveyance of the City Recreation Acreage from Developer 
to the City, Developer shall bond the completion of the same, in accordance with 
the City’s standard procedures for bonds and financial guarantees. 

 
11. Installation of a Wildlife Refuge Trail connection, in accordance with the City’s 

Pathway’s and Trails Plan (adopted in 2022).  Refer to this plan for appropriate trail 
materials, widths, locations, etc. To the extent any approvals and coordination are 
required with agencies other than the City, including but not limited to U.S. Army 
Corps of Engineers and South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental 
Control with regards to any wetland impacts or the materials or methods of trailway 
construction, Developer shall be solely responsible for approvals and coordination.  
Such Wildlife Refuge Trail is to be located on portions of the PD both within the 
City Recreation Acreage and on portions of the Subject Parcel not comprising a 
portion of the City Recreation Acreage. 

 

177



 

 7 

12. Tree Preservation.  Developer and City recognize the public benefit of tree 
preservation, and therefore agree that, a tree survey shall be provided for each Tract 
within the PD at the time of plan submittal, and before land disturbance or such 
Tract(s) is approved, in accordance with  

 
13. Developer shall install, at each entrance to the PD (two on U.S. Highway 701 and 

one on Pitch Landing Road), cameras, which capture identification of each vehicle 
entering the PD.  The following represent the ongoing costs of such license plate 
readers or cameras, which costs shall be paid by Developer, or, any property owners 
association to which Developer assigns the rights and obligations of maintenance, 
which costs per camera are to be determined at the time of acquisition, including 
both acquisition costs and monthly cellular fees, if any.    

 
14. Developer shall install speed control devices along the Spine Road, in the form of 

traffic circles, in each of the areas along the Spine Road where 3-Way and 4-Way 
stops would be required, in accordance with the Transportation Plan.  

 
The proposed Perimeter Road and Southern Evacuation Lifeline, if funded and 

implemented, will not be materially impacted or interfered with by development of the PD.  
Background growth in the area may require roadway and municipal facility improvements.  Phase 
1 construction (phasing density) is scheduled to occur in 2028.  Phase 2 construction (phasing 
density) in 2031; and Phase 3 construction (phasing density) in 2035. 
  

15. It is the specific intent of this PD  document (“PD Document” or “PD 
District Document”) approved by the City on or about the ____ day of 
_________________, 2023, to create and maintain an interconnected pedestrian and active 
lifestyle driven residential community which includes a variety of single family areas, a 
limited number of commercial areas, open spaces, common areas, and amenities, including 
parks, recreational and passive spaces, which are together referred to as “Warden Station 
PD District” (the “Project”), in accordance with the City’s UDO, which are specifically 
addressed as follows: 

 
(1) The proposed land uses within the PD  are a combination of various residential uses 

consisting of approximately 1,628.57 Acres, including single family detached homes, 
single family subdivided attached homes ranging from Two (2) to Eight (8) homes per 
individual building, mid-rise multi-family condominiums, mid-rise multi-family 
apartments, and mid-rise multi-family apartments with elevators, which, dependent 
upon the product, may be offered for sale or rent, or a combination of both, together 
with those amenities and recreational facilities as set forth herein.  The commercial 
component of the PD consists of approximately 136.76 Acres, which may include many 
different commercial uses which would typically be associated with a development of 
this scale, such uses being set forth herein.  The proposed land uses for the Project were 
selected in an effort to compliment and blend with the existing surrounding uses, while 
exemplifying the primary components of the active lifestyle market for both families 
and retirees. The proposed gross and net densities for the PD are set forth on the Master 
Site Plan Summary Table below. 

178



 

 8 

 
(2) Connections between the PD and the surrounding roadways are designed to enhance 

both the interconnectivity and the usability of U.S. Highway 701, Pitch Landing Road 
and Kinlaw Lane and to allow residents to safely travel along the interior of the Project 
from neighborhood to neighborhood with minimal impact to adjoining neighborhoods 
outside of the PD.  

 
(3) Pathways adjacent to public rights-of-way, and pedestrian and bicycle connections 

reflected on the Master Plan to be constructed within the PD provide for safe and 
accessible travel for pedestrians and bicycles.  

 
(4) The variety of housing products provided within the PD are intended to appeal to single 

adults, working families, pre-retirees, early retirees and late in life retirees by providing 
opportunities for home ownership at a variety of price points. 

   
(5) Streets follow the City’s design standards, except to the extent revised standards are 

included within the PD District Appendices, reflecting a revised design standard, and 
where varied, consist of wider green space, and multi-purpose paths, rather than 
additional asphalt.  Build-out demand considerations have been incorporated in the 
initial project design, including exterior connections from the PD to existing public 
roadways to avoid constricting traffic flow. Notwithstanding the above requirements, 
Developer and the City acknowledge and agree that the right-of-way of Kinlaw Lane, 
and the existing portion of Blaze Trail (driveway) do not comply with the City’s design 
standards.  To the extent improvements are required by the City to Kinlaw Lane, and/or 
Blaze Trail, Developer will reserve and dedicate any additional right-of-way from the 
Subject Parcels, at no additional cost to the City, for the City to make such 
improvements, at the City’s expense, and at the time the City deems such improvements 
appropriate.  

 
(6) The PD incorporates both water, open space and passive amenities, among the Subject 

Parcels, that may include, at the election of the Developer with regards to each 
individual parcel, swimming pool, neighborhood clubhouse, docks, shelters and open 
air gazebos to encourage resident’s maximization of outdoor spaces, and these 
improvements, to the extent included in any individual parcel, shall be for the benefit 
of one or more individual neighborhoods within the PD, and not as a master amenity 
for the benefit of the entire PD, and set forth on the Master Site Plan.  Site design has 
been guided, and actual construction will be guided by an effort to maintain key trees 
and environmentally sensitive areas, to meet all regulatory requirements. All 
stormwater will be designed to meet or exceed the standards within the City’s 
Stormwater Ordinance. 

 
All development within this Project will be regulated by the terms of the master site plan, approved 
ordinance, the City’s UDO, the Development Agreement, and other applicable codes and 
ordinances of the City of Conway.  The definitions applicable throughout this Document are set 
forth in Article 2 of the City of Conway Unified Development Ordinance. 
 

179



 

 9 

SECTION 2: LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 

The Subject Parcels are described as all of those certain pieces, parcels or tracts of land lying and 
situate near the City of Conway, Horry County, South Carolina, and being more particularly 
depicted on Appendix A (i) attached hereto. 
 

SECTION 3: PROJECT DEVELOPER AND TITLE 
 
The Project title of this development is “Warden Station PD”, although the Project may be branded 
among various neighborhoods within the Project following the approval of this PD by the City.  
The developer for the Project is BRD Land & Investment Management, LLC.  The term 
“Developer” throughout this Document will include all subsidiaries and affiliates of BRD Land & 
Investment Management, LLC, and the term will also include any of its successors in interest or 
successors in title and/or assigns by virtue of assignment or other instrument.   
 

SECTION 4: MASTER SITE PLAN 
 
Appendix A of this Document, attachment hereto, contains the PD Documentation, and the Twelve 
(12) different neighborhoods, together with the commercial parcels located on each side of the 
Spine Road, within the Project (“Master Site Plan”).  The Master Site Plan shall be binding on the 
Subject Parcels and any materially major departure, other than as set forth in Section 6 and Section 
12 below, shall be authorized by amendment only.  The controlling Master Site Plan shall negate 
any contradiction between the Master Site Plan and any other plan, and this PD Document.   
 

A. This Project will ultimately include Nineteen (19) phases, including Twelve (12) 
phases of residential product, and Seven (7) phases of commercial product, together 
with amenity areas, park and open space areas, and each of such components may be 
developed at various times relative to the residential development and commercial 
development portion of the PD, any one of which may be further developed in sub-
phases, and any of which may be developed in any particular order, with all homes 
remaining under ownership of the Developer, its successors and assigns, until such time 
as a final plat approved by the City may be recorded in the public records of Horry 
County, South Carolina. Although the timing of completion of any particular Phase of 
the PD is subject to then current market demands, the Developer anticipates a period 
of approximately Eighteen (18) months from approval of the PD for design,  and 
permitting, and additional period of approximately Twelve (12) months from the 
issuance of permits and approvals for the installation of initial required infrastructure, 
and that approximately One-Fifth of the Project would be complete within Five (5) 
years of approval of the PD, with an additional One-Fifth of the Project being 
completed in each of the subsequent Five (5) year periods, with a projected build-out 
period for the Project of Twenty Five (25) years.  A general description of each Phase 
of the Project is set forth in the Tables included herein.  The relevant infrastructure 
necessary for development of the individual Phases of the PD, including water, sewer, 
drainage and other supporting utilities and other improvements will be installed in 
accordance with construction plans to be approved by and in accordance with the 
requirements as per City departmental reviews. 

180



 

 10 

[SEE MASTER SITE PLAN SUMMARY TABLE ON FOLLOWING PAGE] 
 

MASTER SITE PLAN SUMMARY TABLE 
 

Tract 
/ Area 

Acreage Permitted Use Lots/Units  
Density 

Gross/Net 
(units/acre)  

Other 

A 40.47  Attached Single Family; Multifamily 246 lots/units 6.08/7.11 Notes 1; 2 
B 10.72 Commercial (Type 3) -  Note 6 
C 21.66 Attached Single Family; Multifamily 104 lots/units 4.80/6.73 Notes 1; 2 
D 56.84 Detached Single Family 135 lots 2.38/3.01 Note 1 
E 50.94 Attached Single Family; Multifamily 406 lots/units 8.01/8.67 Notes 1; 2 
F 128.54 Detached Single Family 302 lots 2.35/2.76 Note 1 
G 178.76 Detached Single Family 341 lots 1.91/2.58 Note 1 
H 232.97 Detached Single Family 321 lots 1.38/2.81 Note 1 
I 153.20 Detached Single Family 91 lots 0.59/2.28 Note 1 
J 85.78 Detached Single Family 190 lots 2.16/2.56 Note 1 

K 552.34 
Master Open Space/City Recreational 

Acreage 
   

L 27.82 Multifamily 480 units 17.25/27.25 Notes 1; 2 
M 34.81 Multifamily 440 units 12.64/24.82 Notes 1; 2 
N 64.46 Attached Single Family; Multifamily 260 lots/units 4.03/7.84 Notes 1; 2 
O 23.47 Commercial (Type 2)   Note 5 
P 66.30 Commercial (Type 1)   Note 4 
Q 14.14 Commercial (Type 1)   Note 4 
R 4.30 Commercial (Type 1)   Note 4 
S 5.26 Commercial (Type 2)   Note 5 
T 12.56 Commercial (Type 1)    

Totals  
Residential Area 1,628.46 AC 
Commercial Area 136.76 AC 

3,316 lots/units 
 

Total 
Gross/Net 
Density 

2.04/4.18 

 

 
Notes to Master Site Plan Summary Table: 

1. Density may be shifted between residential tracts/areas with like uses (i.e. single-family to single-family) 
may be considered a “minor” amendment to the PD, provided that the overall (total) density is not increased 
and remains constant, applicable to Tracts A, C, E, F, G, H, I, J, L, M and N. 

2. Attached Single Family/Multifamily tracts/areas may be developed in-common. Development Standards 
for in-common development may differ from fee-simple development, applicable to Tracts A, C, E, L, M 
and N.  

3. Refer to Table 2 in the PD document for dimensional standards applicable to all Tracts. 

181



 

 11 

4. Unless otherwise specified in the PD, all uses permitted in the Highway Commercial (HC) district, per the 
City of Conway’s Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) shall be permitted on tracts/areas identified as 
Commercial (Type 1), applicable to Tracts P, Q, R and S. 

5. Unless otherwise specified in the PD, all uses permitted in the Highway Commercial (HC) / Light Industrial 
(LI) districts, per the City’s UDO, shall be permitted on tracts/areas identified as Commercial (Type 2), 
applicable to Tracts O and S, provided that Tract O may be used only for outdoor recreation and/or storage. 

6. Unless otherwise specified in the PD, all uses permitted in the Neighborhood Commercial (NC) and 
Conservation Preservation (CP) districts, per the City’s UDO, shall be permitted on tracts/areas identified 
as Commercial (Type 3), applicable to Tract B. 

 
SECTION 5: DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION 

 
The Project is planned to include a mix of land uses, which together form an integrated active 
lifestyle community. The Project will be the subject of master covenants, conditions and 
restrictions, which will apply to the community as a whole, as well as additional covenants, 
conditions and restrictions which may be applicable only to certain portions of the community 
(collectively the “CCRs”).  The CCRs will define the building size, aesthetic style and shared 
amenities and open spaces of each of the respective neighborhoods within the Project.   
 
The Developer has significant experience in bringing new communities that meet the needs of both 
the local community and the new residents, throughout the Southeast region of the United States, 
with a significant concentration of such communities within North Carolina and South Carolina.  
By being involved in the creation of the new development, the Developer is able to insure the 
desires of future homebuyers are incorporated in the initial land design, and carried through 
consistently to the completion of the final home. Often in today’s market, the Developer is 
disconnected from the builder’s targeted homebuyer, and that disconnect can have a significant 
impact on the success of the community. For this PD, the Developer has planned the amenities and 
the product offerings to reflect an active lifestyle to accommodate families, soon to be retirees and 
retirees.  The key word in the phrase “Master Planned Community”, is Community, since success 
for an active community is dependent upon substantial amenities encouraging an active lifestyle 
with outdoor activity and interaction among residents.  In today’s real estate market, communities 
are typically a collection of one or more neighborhoods, with compatible architectural character, 
promoting a way of life and diversity with a common purpose.  The Project is designed to anticipate 
a variety of users, and to balance the environment between them.   
 
Neighborhoods are the building blocks of a community. The neighborhood is where we experience 
our family and friends, it’s where life happens, and it’s where we tell people we live. Residents 
are offered a range of options for getting where they want to go rather than having to depend solely 
on their automobile.  Each neighborhood within the PD will offer distinctive product type, to 
appeal to the needs of a particular targeted resident. The offering of various product types further 
encourages the diversity of both residents and their interests. In addition, the covenants, conditions 
and restrictions for the various neighborhoods within the PD will provide for limitations on certain 
types of uses that conflict with the target resident for that particular neighborhood.  As an example, 
private restrictions that are not a part of the PD may dictate that a particular neighborhood may be 
restricted for leases terms of not less than One (1) year, while other neighborhoods are intentionally 

182



 

 12 

design to attract the short-term, transition resident, who may be building are anticipating the 
building of a permanent residence within another area of the PD.   
 
Public spaces are the social heart of communities. Today, modern development has arranged public 
space into two forms; the first being activity areas for organized leisure activities and sports; and 
the second being preservation areas such as lakes, wetlands, pocket parks, groves of preserved 
trees, and drainage channels.  The recreational areas are designed to accommodate leisure activities 
and sports, but also to create places where one can go simply to be outside, enjoy nature and maybe 
have a picnic. The relationship between leisure and recreation has to be better understood.  Leisure 
is time and experience based, while recreation is activity and space based.  One is aesthetically 
oriented and the other is functionally oriented.  While a good community should provide both, the 
two are not the same, and must be balanced so the needs of the residents are being met in equal 
proportion.  The Project incorporates a significant flood plain area, which contributes to the 
Developer’s efforts to separate uses, provide buffers between neighborhoods, and preserve the 
flood plain areas and wetlands in order to accommodate any rising water during an historical storm 
event.  Portions of the flood plain area within the PD may be supplemented with docks, recreation 
lawns and preservation of existing vegetated border areas. Public space and green areas help 
provide a transition between the various neighborhoods and residences, and provide a sense of 
movement, and enhances the feeling of being in a distinct place. The interconnection of activities, 
through the use of pathways, provides opportunities for activities to all residents.  
 
The public spaces, including open space, flood plain areas, jurisdictional and non-jurisdictional 
wetlands to be conveyed by Developer, its successors and assigns, including the owners of the 
individual parcels comprising the Subject Parcels, to the City, shall be conveyed in conjunction 
with the development of the individual Phases, on or before the date on which the development 
within a particular Phase has been completed. To the extent any area within the PD is, at the time 
of the development of the Phase in which such area is located, designated as a jurisdictional or 
non-jurisdictional wetland, or required wetland buffer, then, and only then, will the same be 
conveyed by Developer to the City, provided, however, that the Developer, its successors and 
assigns, including the owners of the individual parcels comprising the Subject Parcels, such 
conveyance shall be subject to reservations of ingress, egress, access and the installation, 
extension, tie-in, repair, maintenance and replacement of utilities serving the Subject Parcels. 
 
The arterial roadway providing access through the Project from U.S. Highway 701 to Pitch 
Landing Road, as a spine road, is anticipated to be a variable width public roadway. The interior 
roadways within the Project, to the extent the same meet with requirements of the City for a public 
roadway, are also anticipated to be public roadways. Roadways within the Project, in addition to 
public roadways, may include private roadways, internal drives and other areas within the multi-
family areas of the Project where subdivision from a public right-of-way is not required and 
planned by the Developer. Setbacks and easements will be arranged so as to allow for off-street 
parking of at least one car in depth for the residences. All water and sewer systems within the 
Project, upon completion, will be dedicated to one or more of Grand Strand Water & Sewer 
Authority or Bucksport Water System, Inc. The neighborhoods within the Project may consist of 
detached single family lots of varying width, single family subdivided attached units ranging from 
Two (2) to Eight (8) units, mid-rise multi-family buildings and many different commercial uses 
within the commercial areas of the PD. The architectural style of the homes will be consistent and 

183



 

 13 

compatible, but will also allow for an identity to be established within each neighborhood by its 
distinctive elements. Elevated entries, varying rooflines, oversized windows and durable but 
distinctive roofing materials will be present in each of the neighborhoods, the elements and style 
of each neighborhood being reflected in the appendixes attached to this PD Document.  Structures 
within the PD will comply with City’s Design Standards for residential and non-residential 
structures are in effect at the time of plan and/or permit submittal. 
 
Single Family residences may include Detached Single Family, Attached Single Family ranging 
from Two (2) to Eight (8) units per building. Single Family Attached may be subdivided, or may 
be in common. To the extent such units are subdivided, each unit shall comply with the subdivision 
requirements of the City, including, but not limited to the requirement that in order to be 
subdivided, lots must adjoin (front) a public right-of-way.   
 
Multi-Family residences may include mid-rise condominiums, and mid-rise apartments, not 
exceeding Four (4) stories, all of which may be offered for sale, for rent or both.  
 
The Commercial areas may include subdivided commercial lots, shopping centers and commercial 
condominium complexes, combining various uses within a single development.  
 
Architecture, signage design and landscaping are proposed to be controlled with detailed design 
guidelines, which will be administered by a Subject Parcels under a property owners association 
(“POA”) or homeowners association (“HOA”) and/or an architectural review board (“ARB”).  
Table 1 below identifies the proposed uses for the Subject Parcels within the PD.   
 
 

[SEE TABLE 1 PROPOSED USES ON FOLLOWING PAGE] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

184



 

 14 

TABLE 1 
PROPOSED USES FOR SUBJECT PARCELS 

 
Master 

Plan Tract 
Approximate 

Acres 
Proposed Land 

Use 
Product Type Proposed 

Density 

Tract D 56.84 AC Detached Single 
Family 

SF Type A (Min. 60’ Lot 
Width) Detached 135 

Tract F 128.57 AC Detached Single 
Family 

SF Type A (Min. 60’ Lot 
Width) Detached 302 

Tract G 178.76 AC Detached Single 
Family 

SF Type A (Min. 60’ Lot 
Width) Detached 341 

Tract H 232.80 AC Detached Single 
Family 

SF Type A (Min. 60’ Lot 
Width) Detached 321 

Tract I 153.20 AC Detached Single 
Family 

SF Type A (Min. 60’ Lot 
Width) Detached 91 

Tract J 88.02 AC Detached Single 
Family 

SF Type A (Min. 60’ Lot 
Width) Detached 190 

Tract A* 40.47 AC Attached Single 
Family  

SF Type C (Min. 28’ Lot 
Width) Attached 246 

Tract C* 21.66 AC Attached Single 
Family  

SF Type B (Min. 38’ Lot 
Width) Attached 104 

Tract E* 50.94 AC Attached Single 
Family  

SF Type D (Min. 20’ Lot 
Width) Attached 408 

Tract N* 64.43 AC Attached Single 
Family  

SF Type D (Min. 20’ Lot 
Width) Attached 260 

Tract L 27.82 AC Multi-Family 3-4 Story Multi-Family 480 
Tract M 34.81 AC Multi-Family 3-4 Story Multi-Family 440 

Tract K** 550.14 AC Open Space Recreational Open Space N/A 

Tract B 10.72 AC Commercial Type 3 Commercial 161,000 SF 
Max. 

Tract O*** 23.47 AC Commercial Type 2 Commercial 352,000 SF 
Max. 

Tract P 66.32 AC Commercial Type 1 Commercial 995,000 SF 
Max. 

Tract Q 14.13 AC Commercial Type 1 Commercial 212,000 SF 
Max. 

Tract R 4.30 AC. Commercial Type 1 Commercial 64,000 SF 
Max. 

Tract S 5.26 AC. Commercial Type 2 Commercial 79,000 SF 
Max. 

Tract T 12.56 AC. Commercial Type 1 Commercial 188,000 SF 
Max. 

      TOTAL        1,765.22 AC                                         Residential                         3,318 UNITS 
                         
 

185



 

 15 

*Tract A, Tract C, Tract E and Tract N each represent Attached Single Family use at the highest 
intensity.  As to SF Type B, SF Type C and SF Type D Parcels set forth above, which parcels are 
intended to be interchangeable based upon market conditions, Developer may elect to replace any 
one of these Three (3) designations with any other of these Three (3) designations by submittal of 
a minor amendment to the Planning Director for approval.   
**Tract K represents acreage to be conveyed to the City by the Developer, in one or more parcels, 
upon completion of improvements, but not later than the date which is the third anniversary of the 
final approval of the PD. 
***Tract O lies primarily within the AE Flood Zone and may be used only for Outdoor Recreation 
and/or Storage without regard to the allowable uses within Type 2 Commercial.   
 
Table 2 below identified the dimensional standards for each of the proposed uses within the PD 
District. 
 

TABLE 2 
PROPOSED DIMENSIONAL STANDARDS CHART 

 
 

Permitted 
Uses 

Min. 
Lot 
Size 
Sq. Ft. 

Min. 
Lot 
Width 

Min. 
Lot 

Depth 

Setbacks (Feet)  Max. 
Height*(
Applica
ble in 
both 
subdivid
ed and 
in 
common 
Resident
ial 
Units) 

Impervious 
Surface 
****(Applica
ble in both 
subdivided 
and in 
common 
Residential 
Units) 

Min. 
Separation 
of 
Structures*(
Applicable 
in both 
subdivided 
and in 
common 
Residential 
Units) 

    Front Side Rear Corner    
Detached 
Single 
Family SF 
Type “A”** 

6,000 60’ 100’ 20’ 5’ 15’ 10’ 35’ 80% 10’ Wall to 
Wall 

Attached SF 
Type “B” *** 

3,000 38’ 84’ 20’ 0’ 20’ 10’ 35’ 75% 20’ 

Attached SF 
Type “C” *** 

2,300 28’ 84’ 20’ 0’ 20’ 10’ 35’ 75% 20’ 

Attached SF 
Type “D” 
*** 

1,650 20’ 84’ 20’ 0’ 10’ 10’ 35’ 75% 20’ 

Multi-Family  5,000 50’ 150’ 15’ 10’ 10’ 10’ 52’ 75% 20’ 
Amenities 1,000 N/A N/A 10’ 10’ 10’ 20’ 35’ N/A 10’ Wall to 

Wall 
Commercial 
1 

10,000 50’ 125’ 30’ 20’ 20’ 20’ 42’ 75% 20’ 

Commercial 
2 

15,000 80’ 150’ 40’ 20’ 20’ 20’ 52’ 75% 20’ 

Commercial 
3 

7,500 60’ 125’ 20’ 20’ 20’ 15’ 42’ 75% 20’ 

Accessory 
(All Tracts)  

N/A N/A N/A 10’ 10’ 10’ 10’ 35’ N/A 20’ 

 
*Minimum wall to wall separation for single family homes shall be Ten (10) feet.  
**SF Type A Minimum Front Foot shall be reduced to 40’ along curves, and 35’ along cul de sac. 

186



 

 16 

***SF Type B, SF Type C and SF Type D Minimum Front Foot shall be reduced to to the greater of (i)  50% of the 
Minimum Front Foot otherwise required;  or (ii)  20 along curves and along cul de sac.  
**** Impervious Surface is determined by the ratio of building roof area together with driveways, patios, pools, etc. 
not under roof, to total Lot or Tract/Parcel area, as applicable to subdivided or in common development.  
 
Note:  SF Type A requires a minimum Lot Width of 60’, SF Type B requires a minimum Lot Width of 38’, SF Type 
C requires a minimum Lot Width of 28’ and SF Type D requires a minimum Lot Width of 20’.  The dimensional 
standards set forth above as being applicable to Attached SF Type B, Attached SF Type C and Attached SF Type D, 
including the above minimum Site Area S.F., Lot Width, minimum Lot Depth, shall be applicable only to subdivided 
lots, and shall not apply to units which are owned in-common, except as specifically noted.   

 
SECTION 6: GENERAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS THROUGHOUT THE PD 

DISTRICT 
 

Densities.  The overall density for the Project through all Phases, as shown on the Master 
Site Plan, shall not exceed 3,318 total units, and shall not exceed 1,892 detached single-
family residential units, 1,648 attached single-family residential units or 920 multi-family 
residential units, together with the applicable commercial square footage not exceeding the 
maximum square footage for each Tract set forth in Table 1 above.   

 
  Permitted Uses. 

Permitted Uses are as follows: 
 
(1) Commercial Uses:  Commercial may include each of the uses set forth in Table 3 below, 

the definition of such uses being consistent with the definitions set forth in the City’s 
UDO, or, to the extent not defined in the City’s UDO, and classified and designated, 
for purposes of the PD District, as Type 1 Commercial, Type 2 Commercial or Type 3 
Commercial: 

 
TABLE 3.  

PERMITTED USES IN COMMERCIAL TYPES 1, 2, AND 3 & OPEN 
SPACE/RECREATIONAL USES 

Type 1 Commercial Type 2 Commercial Type 3 Commercial 
Open 

Space/Recreational 
(Tract K) 

Tracts / Areas: Tracts / Areas: Tracts / Areas: Tracts / Areas: K 
In addition to the uses specified 
in this Table, all uses permitted 
in the Highway Commercial 
(HC) district, shall be a 
permitted or conditional use on 
Tracts/Areas identified as Type 
1 Commercial on the Master 
Site Plan. 

In addition to the uses 
specified in this Table, all uses 
permitted in the Highway 
Commercial (HC) & Light 
Industrial (LI) districts shall 
also be permitted or 
conditional use on 
Tracts/Areas identified as 
Type 2 Commercial on the 
Master Site Plan. 

In addition to the uses 
specified in this Table, all 
uses permitted in the 
Neighborhood 
Commercial (NC) & 
Conservation 
Preservation (CP) 
districts shall be permitted 
on Tracts/Areas identified 

All uses permitted in 
the Conservation 
Preservation (CP) 
district, AND as 
specified in Table 3 / 
Master Site Plan 

187



 

 17 

as Type 3 Commercial on 
the Master Site Plan. 

Permitted Uses: 
• Conservation Area(s) 
• Passive Open Space 
• Public Recreational 

Facilities 
• Athletic Fields (with or 

without lights) 
• Golf Course (with or 

without lights) 
• Gymnasiums 
• Nursing Home 
• Hospital 
• Civic Club 
• Fire/Police station 
• Educational Facility 
• Library 
• Business office (i.e. 

accounting, consulting, 
financial institution, real 
estate, law firm, and the 
like) 

• Chiropractor 
• Counseling service 
• Dentist / Orthodontist / 

Oral Surgeon 
• Doctor’s office 
• Government office 
• Barber Shop / Beauty 

Salon (including Hair/Nail 
salons) 

• Dry Cleaner (no drive-
thru) 

• Dance/Fitness Studio 
• Fitness Center; Athletic 

Club 
• Laundromat 
• Pharmacy 
• Bakery 
• Butcher Shop 

Permitted Uses: 
• All uses listed under Type 

1 Commercial as a 
Permitted use 

• Conservation Area(s) 
• Passive Open Space 
• Public Recreational 

Facilities 
• Athletic Fields (with or 

without lights) 
• Gymnasiums 
• Agricultural Crop 
• Tree Farms & Silviculture 
• Skating Rinks 
• Fire / Police Station 
• Vocational, Trade School 
• Business Offices (i.e. 

accounting, consulting, 
financial institution, real 
estate, law firm, and the 
like) 

• Charitable Institution 
• Government Office 
• Clothing Alterations; 

Seamstress 
• Dance / Fitness Studio 
• Dry Cleaner (no drive-

thru) 
• Shoe Repair 
• Bakery 
• Wholesale Bakery 
• Butcher Shop 
• News Stand 
• Wholesale Produce 
• Bars / Tavern / Nightclub 
• Clothing Stores 
• Artists & Craftsmen’s 

Stores (i.e. antique, gift, 

Permitted Uses: 
• Boat Dock 
• Conservation Area(s) 
• Forest Management 

Area 
• Passive Open Space 
• Public Recreational 

Facilities 
• Private Sports 

Facilities (i.e. athletic 
fields, golf courses, 
gymnasiums, and the 
like) 

• Fire / Police Station 
• Fitness Center; 

Athletic Club 
• Passenger Facility 

(transit stop, station) 
• Civic Clubs 
• Fire / Police Station 
• Educational Facility 
• Library 
• Business Offices (i.e. 

accounting, 
consulting, financial 
institution, real 
estate, law firm, and 
the like) 

• Chiropractor 
• Counseling Service 
• Dentist / Orthodontist 

/ Oral Surgeon 
• Doctor’s Office 
• Charitable Institution 
• Government Office 
• Barber Shops / 

Beauty Salons 
(including Hair / Nail 
salons) 

 

188



 

 18 

• Convenience Store 
• Grocery Store 
• Ice Cream Shop 
• Specialty Food Store 
• News Stand 
• Bars/Tavern/Nightclub 
• Café / Coffee Shop 
• Restaurant (with or without 

a drive-thru) 
• Clothing Stores 
• Shoe Store 
• Artists & Craftsmen’s 

Stores (i.e. antique, gift, 
hobby, and frame shops, 
and the like) 

• Photography Sales & 
Studio; film developing 

• Bookstore 
• Tobacco shop 
• Florist 
• Hardware Store 
• Pet Supply, Pet Grooming 
• Musical Instrument Sales 

& Repair; Music Store 
• Gas & Service Station 
• Optical / Hearing Center 
• Retail & Service uses (i.e. 

appliance sales/service, big 
box retail dept. store, 
computer sales/service, 
liquor stores, furniture 
stores/showrooms, 
discount stores, jeweler, 
and the like) 

• Shopping Center 
• Auto-Accessory Store 
• Automobile Dealership 
• Rental Car Agency 
• Truck & Auto Repair 
• Building Supply; 

Equipment Sales 

hobby, and frame shops, 
and the like) 

• Photography Sales & 
Studio; film developing 

• Bookstore 
• Tobacco Shop 
• Wholesale Florist 
• Hardware Store 
• Musical Instrument Sales 

& Repair; Music Store 
• Pet Supply; Pet Grooming 
• Gas & Service Station 
• Optical & Hearing Center 
• Appliance Sales & 

Service 
• Boat Sales; Boat Service 
• Computer Sales & 

Service 
• Copy Center; Print Shops 
• Discount Store 
• Furniture Repair & 

Upholstery 
• Jeweler 
• Leather Shop 
• Sign Shop 
• Auto Accessory Store 
• Automobile Dealership 
• Rental Car Agency 
• Truck & Auto Repair 
• Building Supply; 

Equipment Sales 
• Fitness Center; Athletic 

Clubs 
• Hotel / Motel / Inn 
• Private Club 
• Passenger Facility (transit 

stop, station) 
• Nursery / Garden Center 
• Dry Cleaner (with drive-

thru) 

• Clothing Alterations; 
Seamstress 

• Dance / Fitness 
Studio 

• Dry Cleaner (no 
drive-thru) 

• Laundromat 
• Pharmacy 
• Shoe Repair 
• Bakery 
• Candy Store; 

Confectionary 
• Convenience Store 
• Grocery Store 
• Health; Vitamin; 

Nutrition Food Store 
• Ice Cream Shop 
• News Stand 
• Specialty Food Store 
• Café / Coffee Shop 
• Restaurant (no drive-

thru) 
• Clothing Stores 
• Artists & 

Craftsmen’s Stores 
(i.e. antique, gift, 
hobby, and frame 
shops, and the like) 

• Photography Sale & 
Studio; film 
developing 

• Bookstore 
• Tobacco Shop 
• Florist 
• Hardware Store 
• Musical Instrument 

Repair & Sales; 
Music Store 

• Pet Supply; Pet 
Grooming 

• Gas & Service 
Station 

189



 

 19 

• Office Supply Stores 
• Paint, Floor Supply & 

Sales 
• Hotel / Motel / Inn 
• Armory 
• Sporting Goods 
• Portable Storage Unit 
• Mini Storage Unit/Mini 

Storage Warehouse with 
Outdoor Storage 

• Warehousing with Outdoor 
Storage 

• Building Supply/Lumber 
Yard 

• Nursery/Garden Center 
• Car Wash & Detailing 

Facility 
• Dry Cleaner (with drive-

thru) 
•  
 

• Car Wash & Detailing 
Facility 

• Portable Storage Unit 
• Mini Storage Unit; Mini 

Storage Warehouse with 
Outdoor Storage 

• Warehousing with 
Outdoor Storage 

• Building Supply Lumber 
Yard 

• Wholesaling, Storage & 
Distribution (Light) 
 
 

• Optical & Hearing 
Center 

• Appliance Sales & 
Service 

• Computer Sales & 
Service 

• Copy Center; Print 
Center 

• Furniture Repair & 
Upholstery 

• Furniture Store & 
Showroom 

• Jeweler 
• Shoe Store 
• Fitness Center; 

Athletic Club 
• Hotel / Motel / Inn 
• Sporting Goods 
• Passenger Facility 

(transit stop; station) 

Conditional Uses: 
• Adult Day Care Services; 

Adult Day Care Facilities 
• Child Day Care Facilities 
• Community Support 

Services 
• Funeral Home; Mortuary 
• Religious Institution 
• Doggie Day Care; spa 
• Sidewalk Café; Outdoor 

Dining 
• Farmers’ Market 
• Mobile Vending 
• Veterinarian / Animal 

Clinic 
• Custom Manufacturing 
• Parking Lot 
• Public Utility Facility 
• Indoor Shooting Range 

Conditional Uses: 
• All uses listed under Type 

1 Commercial as a 
Conditional use 

 
• Community Support 

Services 
• Doggie Day Care / Spa 
• Produce Stand 
• Amphitheater 
• Armory 
• Manufactured / Modular 

Home Sales 
• Pawn Shop 
• Veterinarian / Animal 

Clinic 
• Research Facility 
• Science Laboratory 
• Custom Manufacturing 
• High Technology Industry 

Conditional Uses: 
• Farmers’ Market 
• Mobile Vending 
• Portable Storage Unit 
• Public Utility Facility 
• Adult Day Care 

Services; Adult Day 
Care Facilities 

• Child Day Care 
Facilities 

• Community Support 
Facility 

• Funeral Home; 
Mortuary 

• Religious Institution 
• Sidewalk Café / 

Outdoor Dining 
• Farmers’ Market 
• Mobile Vending 

 

190



 

 20 

• Microbrewery 
• Agricultural Processing 
• Manufacturing; 

Processing 
• Meat Processing 
• Public Utility Facility 
• Indoor Shooting Range 

District Definitions (Provided for reference only): 
Highway Commercial (HC): 
The intent of the HC District is to provide compatible locations to serve the automobile oriented commercial activities in 
harmony with major highway developments, reduce traffic congestions, and to enhance the aesthetic atmosphere of the 
City. 
Light Industrial (LI): 
The intent of the LI District is to provide areas for light industrial uses, such as manufacturing, processing, repairing of 
goods, wholesaling, storage, packaging, distribution and retailing while ensuring adjacent and nearby properties are not 
adversely impacted. 
Neighborhood Commercial (NC):  
The NC District is intended to provide small-scale retail and service uses for nearby residential areas. Dimensional 
requirements and design standards of the NC district are intended to promote compatibility to surrounding residential 
areas and accommodate pedestrian use and access. Strip commercial development, designed primarily to accommodate 
vehicular access and parking, and development that is insensitive or incompatible with the scale and character of the 
surrounding residential areas, is discouraged in this district.  
Conservation Preservation (CP): 
The intent of the CP District is to provide needed open space for general outdoor and indoor recreational uses, and to 
protect environmentally sensitive areas and flood prone areas from the encroachment of any residential, commercial, 
industrial, or other uses capable of adversely affecting the relatively undeveloped character of the district.  
 
Conditional Uses specified in this Table: Uses identified as a “conditional” use in this Table shall comply with specific 
use regulations contained within Article 5 of the City of Conway Unified Development Ordinance identified for such use.  
 
Tract K: All uses proposed for Tract K that are deemed recreational (i.e. park facilities/structures, trails, activity courts, 
etc. shall be shown on the Master Site Plan. 

 
(2) Additional Commercial Uses:  Prior to the completion of the Project, and the sale of all 

homes from the Developer to third party purchasers, the Developer may operate a 
commercial sales center and a design center, as a freestanding structure, within any 
model home, or as a part of any Amenity buildings within the PD District, which uses 
shall be in addition to the commercial uses set forth in Table 3 above, provided 
however, that Tract K shall be specifically excluded from such uses at any time.  

   
(3) Single Family:  Fee simple Detached Single Family, fee simple Attached Single Family 

subdivided, and Attached Single Family in common.   
 

191



 

 21 

(4)  Multi-Family:  Multi-Family homes shall not exceed 4 stories.     
 

(5) Amenity and Recreational Areas. Commons areas, common elements, clubhouses, 
pools, public restrooms, picnic shelters, barbeque/fire pits, multi-purpose paths, 
jogging trails, recreation fields, sports courts and open spaces.   

 
(6) Decks and Promenades. Decks, docks, gazebos, bridges and elevated walkways, 

fountains and other water features may be incorporated within any stormwater lake or 
pond within the PD.   

 
(7) Temporary Uses.  Temporary uses, if any, shall be approved by the City, in accordance 

with the City’s then current UDO.     
 

SECTION 7: ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS THROUGHOUT THE PD DISTRICT 
 

A. Tree Preservation.  All of the Subject Parcels shall comply with the City of Conway’s Tree 
Preservation Ordinance that is in effect at the time of the PD is approved.  No protected 
trees, as defined under the City’s Tree Preservation Ordinance shall be removed without a 
Protected Tree Permit and the submission of a tree survey. Tree surveys indicating the 
location of all protected trees under the City’s Tree Preservation Ordinance shall be 
submitted for each Tract or parcel within the PD at the time of plan submittal, and prior to 
the approval of any land disturbance, clearing, grading, confirming that development will 
not occur without verification by the City’s staff that no protected trees will be removed 
without proper permitting and mitigation.   

 

B. Development Activity, Clearing and Grading. The Subject Parcels which are the subject of 
the PD, are primarily undeveloped.  Clearing and Grading of the PD will require both 
removal of inferior materials, and replacement with structurally sound materials, in 
addition to providing for storm water and erosion control measures over the Subject 
Parcels, in accordance with the requirements of the Stormwater Management and Sediment 
Control Ordinance for the City of Conway, South Carolina, Ordinance #2015-05-04(C).   
In addition, any protected trees are proposed for removal, shall be approved for mitigation 
by the City Arborist, in accordance with the City’s Tree Preservation Ordinance, Chapter 
4, Conway South Carolina Code of Ordinances. 

 

C. Temporary Storm Drainage Maintenance. Developer will provide temporary storm 
drainage measures, which incorporate storm drainage facilities located on the Subject 
Parcels to the reasonable satisfaction of the Public Works Director for the City, such that 
prior to commencement of Development Activities, the Subject Parcels shall continue to 
maintain the existing storm drainage facilities until the storm drainage facilities which are 
a part of the Development Activities for each respective Phase of the PD are complete, and 
the same are dedicated to the City. 

 

D. Signage. Signage within the PD District shall comply with Article 11 of the City’s UDO, 
as in effect at the time a permit is requested for a sign, provided, however, that, to the extent 
any of the Subject Parcels designated as Commercial 1, Commercial 2 or Commercial 3, 
includes more than One (1) business, a sign easement may be created and reserved by the 

192



 

 22 

owner of the respective parcel, for the installation of a multi-tenant pylon sign at the road 
frontage of such respective parcel..    

 
E. Parking.  Parking with the PD District shall comply with the City’s UDO, and the following 

additional provisions: 
 

(i) Unless otherwise specified within this PD, on-street parking shall be 
prohibited in public rights-of-way. 

(ii) All uses specified in the Use Tables within this PD shall comply 
with the minimum off-street parking requirements for such proposed in accordance 
with the City’s UDO.  

  
F. Buffers.  Applicable buffers, including wetland buffers, perimeter buffers and buffers 

separating specific uses shall be noted on the Buffer Plan.  The perimeter buffer of the PD 
shall be not less than 25’.  Landscape buffers within the PD shall be not less than 10’.  
Wetland buffers within the PD shall be not less than 30’.  Buffer between single family 
detached and single family attached shall be not less than 20’.  Buffers between single 
family attached and multi-family shall be not less than 50’.  Buffers between residential 
and commercial shall be not less than 50’.  Such buffers being set noted on the Buffer Plan 
submitted as part of the PD.   
 

G. Utilities.   
 

(i) Electric services to be provided by Horry County and/or Santee 
Cooper.  

(ii) Water services to be provided by Bucksport Water System. 
(iii) Sewer services to be provided by Grand Strand Water & Sewer 

Authority. 
(iv) Telecommunication/Cable Service. Telecommunication and cable 

services to be provided by Horry Telephone Cooperative and 
Spectrum Service to be extended as needed in order to serve each of 
the Subject Parcels. 

(v) Developer has, and will continue to reserve One (1) booster pump 
site for sewer for the benefit of Bucksport Water System and/or 
Grand Strand Water & Sewer Authority, as shown on the Master 
Site Plan. 

(vi) Developer has, and will continue to reserve One (1) substation site 
for electrical service for the benefit of Horry Electric Cooperative, 
as shown on the Master Site Plan. 
 

*All utilities to be placed underground. 
 

H. Other Services.  Residents and businesses within the PD will be served by Horry County 
Schools, Conway Police, Conway Fire and EMS, Conway Parks and Recreation. 
 

193



 

 23 

I. Governing Documents.  To the extent the provisions of the approved PD could be read so 
as to conflict with the City’s UDO, and the other ordinances of the City, the PD  shall be 
deemed to govern, as an approved, intended departure, written into this PD District 
Ordinance, amending the standards otherwise applicable to the Subject Parcels under the 
City’s UDO and other ordinances.   
 

J. Design Standards.  Residential Design standards shall be applicable to all structures, single 
family detached, single family attached or multi-family, and shall be determined at the tie 
of permit submittal, based on the then current design standards.   
 

K. Design Modifications.  Certain modifications of the City’s design standards set forth in the 
City’s UDO shall be allowed within the PD, as set forth in the table below. 

 
DESIGN MODIFICATIONS APPROVED AS A PART OF PD 

 
Mod. # Description  Section 
1 Kinlaw Lane shall be utilized as a public access based upon the 

proposed improvements depicted on the construction plans for 
Horry County Dirt Road Improvements (Project #S102015), such 
that the minimum width may vary from 25’ to 50’.   

Complete 
Streets 

2 The existing portion of Blaze Trail abutting PIN 380-00-00-0039 
shall be utilized as a public access based upon the existing roadway 
cross section and paving improvements on the existing roadway 

Complete 
Streets 

3 Buffers, street tree plantings and sidewalks shall not be required 
along the following sections of roadways: 

(a)  Along the improved local road commonly known as Blaze 
Trail adjacent to PIN 380-00-00-0039 

(b) Along the existing driveway access commonly known as 
Wayna Marie Lane 

(c) Along the existing portions of Kinlaw Lane until the full 
landscape buffer width is permittable within the PD. 

Buffer 
Requirements; 
Landscaping 
Requirements; 
Design 
Standards 

   
   
   
   
   
4 Sidewalks shall be installed along both sides of collector and arterial 

roadways internal to the PD in accordance with the cross sections 
prescribed. Local roadway designations shall require the installation 
of a 5’ sidewalk along one side of the public right of ways.  
Sidewalks shall be constructed in accordance with materials 
approved in the City’s UDO. 

Design 
Standards; 
Dimensional 
Requirements; 
Access & 
Circulation 

   
 

 
 

194



 

 24 

SECTION 8:  RESIDENTIAL REGULATIONS 
 

A. Geographic Description.  The residential regulations applicable to the single-family homes 
portions of the Project shall be included in a set of restrictive covenants, either applicable 
to all residential neighborhoods as a master declaration, or applicable to each neighborhood 
individually, or both. 

 
B. Public Purpose. The public purpose of the Residential Regulations is to establish and 

thereafter maintain for its residents, tenants and visitors a sense of community through the 
design of exterior spaces and buildings at a human scale with appropriate architectural 
transitions.  The sense of community will be further enhanced by the utilization of generous 
vegetation in and around the residential portion of the Project. 
 

C. Residential Design Standards. All residential development within the PD shall comply with 
the City’s Residential Design Standards in effect at the time of plan and/or permit 
submittal.   

 
SECTION 9:  COMMERCIAL REGULATIONS 

 
A. Geographic Description. The commercial regulations applicable to the Commercial 

portions of the Project, shall be included in a set of restrictive covenants, either applicable 
to all commercial areas as a master declaration, or applicable to the commercial area. 

 
B. Public Purpose. The public purpose of the Commercial Regulations is to establish and 

thereafter maintain for its residents, tenants and visitors a sense of community through the 
design of exterior spaces and buildings at a human scale with appropriate architectural 
transitions.  The sense of community will be further enhanced by the utilization of generous 
vegetation in and around the residential portion of the Project. 
 

C. Commercial Design Standards. All commercial development within the PD shall comply 
with the City’s Non-Residential Design Standards in effect at the time of plan and/or permit 
submittal, and, where applicable, the Gateway Corridor Overlay.   

 
SECTION 10: MAINTENANCE AND CONTROL 

 

Roadways within the PD are public roadways unless specifically indicated on the Master Site Plan.  
It will be the responsibility of the Developer to maintain or provide for the maintenance of the 
Subject Parcels within the PD, including any private roadways, pathways and driveways. The 
Developer’s maintenance responsibilities and restrictions will cover the private rights-of-way, 
driveways, landscape areas, trees, parking areas, pathways, walkways, open space, common areas, 
stormwater conveyance and retention facilities, buildings and other features of the development as 
appropriate under this Document, applicable City UDO provisions and other ordinances. Upon 
execution and recording of the declarations of conditions, covenants and restrictions, which must 
occur prior to the conveyance of any single-family residential lot to a third-party buyer, the 
foregoing responsibilities shall be assumed by the applicable POA.  In addition to the standards 
set forth within the PD, the CCRs will establish additional requirements for landscaping, 

195



 

 25 

particularly foundation landscaping and layering, signage and materials for single-family 
residences. 
 

SECTION 11: CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE 
 
Construction will begin following receipt of permits from the City and from other regulatory 
bodies.  The nature of this Project, together with the current economic conditions, prevents the 
Developer from providing exact dates for commencement of future phases or exact completion 
dates.  Although the timing of completion of any particular Phase of the PD District is subject to 
then current market demands, the Developer anticipates a period of approximately Eighteen (18) 
months from approval of the PD for design and permitting, and an additional period of Twelve 
(12) months from the issuance of permits for the installation of initial required infrastructure.  
Developer estimates that approximately One-Fifth of the Project would be complete within Five 
(5) years of approval of the PD District, with an additional One-Fifth of the Project being 
completed in each of the subsequent Five (5) year periods. Notwithstanding the fluid nature of 
development, and that various Phases of the PD District may be developed in non-numerical order, 
the number of building permits issued for single family residential units, including both attached 
and detached homes, and multifamily residential units shall not exceed Three Thousand Three 
Hundred Eighteen (3,318) total units.    
 

SECTION 12:  AMENDMENTS AND ENFORCEMENT 
 
For purposes of this Ordinance, amendments to the PD District shall be determined as Minor or 
Major, by the Planning Director for the City.   
 
Notwithstanding the classification of amendments to the PD District, revisions to the approved 
Master Site Plan made during the preparation of construction design documents to account for 
topography, soil quality, trees, grading, minor adjustments to roadway alignment, and changes to 
the location of lot lines, provided such revisions do not increase the maximum allowable density 
of the PD District, shall be deemed Minor amendments to the PD District, subject to the review of 
the City’s Planning Director. 
 
The Developer shall record the approved ordinance in the public records of Horry County and 
return two (2) time-stamped copies to the City. 
 
Expansions and further amendments to this PD District shall not be permitted without review by 
the Planning Director and approval as prescribed by the City’s UDO. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

196



 

 26 

APPENDIX A 
 

Master Site Plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

197



 

 27 

APPENDIX B 
 

Additional PD Documentation 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

198



 

 28 

APPENDIX C 
 

City Recreational Exhibit 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

199



 

 29 

APPENDIX D: 
 

Project Traffic Report 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

200



 

 30 

APPENDIX E: 
 

Threatened and Endangered Species 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

201



 

 31 

APPENDIX F: 
 

Wetland Letters for Subject Tracts 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

202



 

 32 

APPENDIX G: 
 

Design Modifications Approved as part of PD 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

203



1 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA     ) 
) DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT FOR 

COUNTY OF HORRY ) WARDEN STATION  

THIS DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered this ___ day 
of _______________, 2023, by and between BRD LAND & INVESTMENT, LP, a South Carolina 
limited partnership, its affiliates, subsidiaries, successors and assigns (“Developer”), and the 
governmental authority of the CITY OF CONWAY, a body politic under the laws of the State of 
South Carolina (“City”). 

WHEREAS, the legislature of the State of South Carolina has enacted the “South Carolina 
Local Government Development Agreement Act”, as set forth in Sections 6-31-10 through 6-31-160 
of the South Carolina Code of Laws (1976), as amended; and 

WHEREAS, Section 6-31-10(B)(1) of the Act, as defined below, recognizes that “[t]he lack 
of certainty in the approval of development can result in a waste of economic and land resources, can 
discourage sound capital improvement planning and financing, can cause the cost of housing and 
development to escalate, and can discourage commitment to comprehensive planning”; and 

WHEREAS, Section 6-31-10(B)(6) of the Act, as defined below, also states that 
“[d]evelopment agreements will encourage the vesting of property rights by protecting such rights 
from the effect of subsequently enacted local legislation or from the effects of changing policies and 
procedures of local government agencies which may conflict with any term or provision of the 
development agreement or in any way hinder, restrict, or prevent the development of the project. 
Development agreements will provide a reasonable certainty as to the lawful requirements that must 
be met in protecting vested property rights, while maintaining the authority and duty of government 
to enforce laws and regulations which promote the public safety, health, and general welfare of the 
citizens of our State”; and 

WHEREAS, the Act, as defined below, further authorizes local governments, including 
municipal governments, to enter into development agreements with developers to accomplish these 
and other goals as set forth in Section 6-31-10 of the Act; and 

WHEREAS, the City seeks to protect and preserve the natural environment and to secure for 
its citizens quality, well planned and designed development and a stable and viable tax base; and 

WHEREAS, Developer is, or will be, the legal owner of the Property hereinafter defined and 
is authorized to enter into this Agreement with the City; and 

WHEREAS, the City finds that the program of development for this Property (as hereinafter 
defined) proposed by Developer over approximately the next Twenty (20) years or as extended as 
provided herein is consistent with the City’s comprehensive land use plan and land development 
regulations, and will further the health, safety, welfare and economic wellbeing of the City and its 
residents; and 

WHEREAS, the development of the Property and the program for its development presents 
an opportunity for the City to secure quality planning and growth, protection of the environment, and 
to strengthen the City’s tax base; and 

Warden Station Development Agreement - DRAFT 
(Clean copy)

204



 

  
2 

WHEREAS, the City, at the request of the Developer, has annexed the real property more 
particularly shown and depicted on Exhibit “B” attached hereto (the “Property”), and 
simultaneously approved under an amendment to the zoning ordinances of the City to create the 
Warden Station Planned Development (“PD”) under the ordinances of the City of Conway, together 
with this Agreement, on or about the ____ day of ________________, 2023;  and 

 
WHEREAS, this Agreement is being made and entered into between Developer and the City, 

under the terms of the Act, for the purpose of providing assurances to Developer that it may proceed 
with its development plan under the terms hereof, consistent with its annexation and approved zoning 
(as hereinafter defined) without encountering future changes in law which would materially affect 
the Developer’s ability to develop the Property under its approved zoning, and for the purpose of 
providing important protection to the natural environment and long term financial stability and a 
viable tax base to the City; 

 
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the terms and conditions set forth herein, and other 

good and valuable consideration, including the potential economic benefits to both the City and 
Developer by entering this Agreement, and to encourage well planned development by Developer, 
the receipt and sufficiency of such consideration being hereby acknowledged, the City and Developer 
hereby agree as follows: 
 
1. INCORPORATION.  The above recitals are hereby incorporated into this 
Agreement, together with the South Carolina General Assembly findings as set forth under Section 
6-31-10(B) of the Act. 
 
2. DEFINITIONS.  As used herein, the following terms mean: 
 

“Act” means the South Carolina Local Government Development Agreement Act, as codified 
in Sections 6-31-10 through 6-31-160 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina (1976), as amended; 
attached hereto as Exhibit “A”. 
 

“Code of Ordinances” means the Code of Ordinances for the City, as amended and in effect 
as of the date hereof, as the same may be amended from time to time, a complete copy of which is 
on file in the City’s office. 

 
“Commercial Unit” means a parcel, lot or building, or multiple units within the same 

building, within the Property, used for commercial purposes, as shown and depicted on the Master 
Site Plan, as the same may be amended.   
 

“Developer” means BRD Land & Investment, LP, a South Carolina limited partnership, all 
of its permitted assignees, and all successors in title or lessees who undertake development of the 
Property as a Developer or who are transferred Development Rights and Obligations. 

 
“Developer Default” for purposes of this Agreement, Developer Default shall mean that (i) 

Developer has breached the specific obligations of this Agreement, and, following prior written 
notice from the City, has failed to cure such breach within Thirty (30) days of the date of written 
notice from the City;  or (ii)  once commenced, Developer has failed to continue with Development 
Work, as defined in this Agreement, on the Property for a period of more than Six (6) months, and, 
following prior written notice from the City, has failed to cure such breach within Thirty (30) days 

205



 

  
3 

of the date of written notice from the City.  
 

“Developer Default Remedy”  notwithstanding any other remedy that may be available to the 
City at law, or in equity, as a result of a Developer Default, Developer and the City agree that the 
City may elect to (i)  withhold issuance of building permits until such Developer Default is cured;  
(ii) seek injunctive relief to stop any such continuing Developer Default, or (iii)  any other remedy 
available at law or in equity.  

 
“Development Rights and Obligations” means the rights, obligations, benefits and approvals 

of the Developer(s) under the PD and this Agreement. 
 
“Development Work” means the periodic operation of development activities on the 

Property, which include, but are not limited to clearing, grading, erosion control, site work, and 
landscaping under the terms of a written contract with the Developer.   

 
“Effective Date” means the date on which the last of the parties has executed this Agreement. 

 
“Jurisdictional and Non-Jurisdictional Waters of the State of South Carolina and the 

United States” means those areas identified by the United States Army Corps of Engineers (“Corps”) 
and/or the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control (“DHEC”) or any other 
applicable governmental authority as wetland areas subject to the regulation of the Corps and/or 
DHEC.   

 
“Land Development Regulations” means the Land Development Regulations for the City, 

as amended and in effect as of the date hereof, a complete copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 
“D”, or further amended from time to time pursuant to this Agreement.  

 
“Master Site Plan” means that certain master site plan prepared by Developer, which Master 

Site Plan depicts the portion of the Property, for purposes of showing the density, site arrangement, 
and responsibilities for off-site roadway improvements, and a copy of such Master Site Plan being 
attached to the PD, and also being attached hereto as Exhibit “C”. 
 

“Owners Association” means a legal entity formed by Developer pursuant to South Carolina 
statutes which is responsible for the enforcement of neighborhood restrictions and covenants, and 
for the maintenance and upkeep of any common areas and/or community infrastructure developed 
under this Agreement, but not accepted by the City for perpetual ownership and maintenance, to 
include but not be limited to: private drives and alleyways, common areas, neighborhood parks and 
recreational facilities, wetlands and storm water management systems not otherwise conveyed to the 
City or its designee. 

 
“PD” means the Warden Station Planned Development, under the Code of Ordinances for 

the City, as amended.   
 

“Project” means a master planned community to include single family detached lots, single 
family attached lots, single family attached condominiums, single family in common, multi-family 
and various commercial and recreational uses, in a single project envisioned by the Master Site Plan 
and approved by the City pursuant to this Agreement and the Code of Ordinances, as the same may 
be amended from time to time pursuant to this Agreement. 

206



 

  
4 

“Property” means those parcels of land more particularly shown and depicted on Exhibit 
“B” attached hereto. 

 
“Residential Unit” means a single family home, whether attached or detached, or a multi-

family home, within the Property, as shown and depicted on the Master Site Plan, as the same may 
be amended.   

 
“Term” means the duration of this Agreement as set forth in Section 3 hereof. 

 
3. TERM.  The Developer represents and warrants that the Property consists of a total 
of not less than 1,000 acres and not more than 2,000 acres of “highland” within the meaning given 
that term by the Act. The term of this Agreement shall commence on the date on which this 
Agreement is executed by the City and the Developer and shall terminate on the date which is Twenty 
(20) years from the date of execution.  Notwithstanding such termination date, provided that the 
Developer is not in default (after being provided with notice and opportunity to cure as set forth 
below) of this Agreement, Developer has diligently pursued development of the Property, and the 
Project has not been completed, at the conclusion of the initial Twenty-year term, the termination 
date of this Agreement shall automatically be extended for up to Three (3) additional Five (5) year 
term.   At the conclusion of the initial Five (5) year extension of the Term, provided that the 
Developer is not in default (after being provided with notice and opportunity to cure as set forth 
below) of this Agreement, Developer has diligently pursued development of the Property, and the 
Project has not been completed, at the conclusion of the initial five-year extension of the Term, the 
termination date of this Agreement shall automatically be extended for up to Two (2) additional Five 
(5) year terms.  Notwithstanding the terms and provisions in this Section or elsewhere in this 
Agreement to the contrary, if a court of competent jurisdiction hereafter determines that the length 
of the Term, or the provision for extension of the Term set forth above, exceeds the maximum term 
allowed under the Act and if all applicable judicial appeal periods have expired without such 
determination being overturned, then the Term of this Agreement relative to all or specific affected 
portions of the Property shall be reduced to the maximum permissible term under the Act, as 
determined by a court of competent jurisdiction. 
 
4. DEVELOPMENT OF THE PROPERTY.  The Property shall be developed in 
accordance with this Agreement, the PD, including the Code of Ordinances, and other applicable 
land development regulations required by the City, State, and/or Federal Government. The City shall, 
throughout the Term, maintain or cause to be maintained a procedure for the processing of reviews 
as contemplated by this Agreement and the Code of Ordinances. The City shall review applications 
for development approval based on the development standards adopted as a part of the Code of 
Ordinances, unless such standards are superseded by the terms of this Agreement, in which case the 
terms of this Agreement shall govern. 
  
5. CONVEYANCES OF PROPERTY AND ASSIGNMENT OF 
DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS.  The City agrees with Developer, for itself 
and its successors and assigns, including successor Developer(s), as follows: 
 

(A) Conveyance of Property.  In accordance with the Act, the burdens of this 
Agreement shall be binding on, and the benefits of this Agreement shall inure to, all successors in 
interest and assigns of all parties hereto, except for Excluded Property, as such term is defined below. 
For the purposes of this Agreement, “Excluded Property” means property that is conveyed by the 

207



 

  
5 

Developer to a third party and is: (i) a single-family residential lot for which a certificate of 
occupancy has been issued; (ii) a parcel for which certificates of occupancy have been issued and on 
which no additional residential structures can be built under local ordinances governing land 
development; (iii) any other type of lot for which a certificate of occupancy has been issued and 
which cannot be further subdivided into one or more unimproved lots or parcels under local 
ordinances governing land development; or (iv) a single-family residential lot which has been 
subdivided and platted and is not capable of further subdivision without  the granting of a variance. 
Excluded Property shall at all times be subject to the Code of Ordinances of the City, and those 
incorporated in this Agreement. The conveyance by a Developer of Excluded Property shall not 
excuse that Developer from its obligation to provide infrastructure improvements within such 
Excluded Property in accordance with this Agreement. 

 
(B) Assignment of Development Rights and Obligations. The Developer, or 

any subsequent developer, shall be entitled to assign and delegate the Development Rights and 
Obligations to a subsequent purchaser of all or any portion of the Property with the consent of the 
City, provided that such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. The City understands 
that any such assignment or transfer by the Developer of the Development Rights and Obligations 
shall be non-recourse as to the assigning Developer. Upon the assignment or transfer by Developer 
of the Development Rights and Obligations, then the assigning Developer shall not have any 
responsibility or liability under this Agreement. For purposes of this Section 5, the following 
activities on the part of Developer shall not be deemed “development of the Property”: (i) the filing 
of this Agreement, the Master Site Plan and the petitioning for or consenting to any amendment of 
this Agreement or the Code of Ordinances, including the PD; (ii) the subdivision and conveyance of 
any portions of the Property to the City as contemplated under this Agreement; (iii) the subdivision 
and conveyance of the portion of the Property designated as “Open Space” on the Master Site Plan 
to any person or entity so long as the same shall be restricted in use to “open space”; (iv) the 
subdivision and conveyance of portions of the Property, not to exceed in the aggregate one (1) acre, 
more or less, provided that such conveyances shall be deed-restricted to single-family residential use; 
(v) the conveyance of easements and portions of the Property for public utility purposes; (vi) the 
conveyance of portions of the Property to public entities in the case of any road realignments or 
grants of road rights of way; (vii) the marketing of the Property as contemplated under this 
Agreement; and (viii) any other activity which would not be deemed “development” under the Act. 

 
6.            DEVELOPMENT SCHEDULE.  The Property shall be developed in accordance 
with the development schedule, attached as Exhibit “E” (the “Development Schedule”). Developer 
shall keep the City informed of its progress with respect to the Development Schedule as a part of 
the required Compliance Review process set forth in Section 13 below.   Pursuant to the Act, the 
failure of the Developer to meet the development schedule shall not, in and of itself, constitute a 
material breach of this Agreement. In such event, the failure to meet the development schedule shall 
be judged by the totality of circumstances, including but not limited to any change in economic 
conditions, the occurrence of an act of God (including natural disasters), an act of war, an act of 
terrorism, civil disturbance, strikes, lockouts, fire, flood, hurricane, unavoidable casualties, a health 
crisis which results in a limitation on business activities in the City extending for a  period of more 
than Thirty (30) days, or any other cause or causes beyond the reasonable control of the Developer 
(collectively “Force Majeure”), and the Developer’s good faith efforts made to attain compliance 
with the development schedule. As further provided in the Act, if the Developer requests a 
modification of the dates set forth in the development agreement and is able to demonstrate that there 
is good cause to modify those dates, such modification shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed 

208



 

  
6 

by the City. 
 
7. EFFECT OF FUTURE LAWS.  Developer shall have vested rights to undertake 
development of any or all of the Property in accordance with the Code of Ordinances and the Land 
Development Regulations, as amended and in effect at the time of this Agreement, for the entirety 
of the Term. Future enactments of, or changes or amendments to the Code of Ordinances and the 
Land Development Regulations, which conflict with this Agreement shall apply to the Property only 
if permitted pursuant to the Act, and agreed to in writing by the Developer and the City. The parties 
specifically acknowledge that building moratoria or permit allocations enacted by the City during 
the Term of this Agreement or any adequate public facilities ordinance as may be adopted by the 
City shall not apply to the Property except as may be allowed by the Act or otherwise agreed to in 
writing by the Developer and the City. 
 

The parties specifically acknowledge that this Agreement shall not prohibit the application of any 
present or future building, housing, electrical, plumbing, gas or other standard codes, of any tax or 
fee of general application throughout the City, provided such fees are applied consistently and in the 
same manner to all single-family properties within the City. Notwithstanding the above, the City may 
apply subsequently enacted laws to the Property only in accordance with the Act and this Agreement. 
 
8. INFRASTRUCTURE AND SERVICES.  The City and Developer recognize that 
the majority of the direct costs associated with the development of the Property will be borne by the 
Developer. Subject to the conditions set forth herein, the parties make specific note of and 
acknowledge the following: 

 
Notwithstanding the provisions referenced above, nothing in this Agreement shall preclude the City 
and Developer from entering into a separate utility agreement for cost-sharing of water transmission 
systems or sewer transmission systems when such agreement may be of mutual benefit to both 
parties. Nothing herein shall be construed as precluding the City from providing potable water to 
its residents in accordance with applicable provisions of laws. 

 
(A) Public Roads. All roads within the Project serving the Residential Units and 

Commercial Units shall be public roads, unless otherwise indicated on the Master Site Plan. All 
public roadways shall be constructed to City standards, will be approved by the City Planning 
Commission as part of the subdivision plat approval process, and will be dedicated to, conveyed, 
maintained and repaired by the City. 
 

(B) Storm Drainage System. All stormwater runoff, drainage, retention and 
treatment improvements within the Property shall be designed in accordance with the Code of 
Ordinances. All stormwater runoff and drainage system structural improvements, including culverts 
and piped infrastructure, will be constructed by the Developer and dedicated to the City. Upon final 
inspection and acceptance by the City, the Developer shall provide a one-year warranty period for 
all drainage system structural improvements within the Project. Retention ponds, ditches and other 
stormwater retention and treatment areas will be constructed and maintained by the Developer and/or 
an Owners Association, as appropriate, and will not be accepted or maintained by the City. 

 
(C) Solid Waste and Recycling Collection. The City shall provide solid waste 

and recycling collection services to the Property on the same basis as is provided to other residents 
and businesses within the City.  Payment for such services to the City by Developer, an Owners 

209



 

  
7 

Association or each individual purchaser or owner of any portion of the Property is required in return 
for such service for each owner within the Property.  The City reserves the right to contract with a 
third party, which may include another governmental entity, and the City reserves the right to 
terminate or discontinue such service(s) to any owner of any portion of the Property until such 
payment(s) have been made.  

 
(D) Police Protection. The City shall provide police protection services to the 

Property on the same basis as is provided to other residents and businesses within the City. 
 

(E) Fire Services. The City shall provide fire services to the Property on the 
same basis as is provided to other residents and businesses within the City, which services may be 
provided by way of a mutual services agreement with Horry County, if the City is unable to provide 
such services directly. 
 

(F) Emergency Medical Services. The City shall provide emergency medical 
services to the Property, on the same basis as it provided to other residents and businesses within the 
City, which services may be provided by way of a mutual services agreement with Horry County, if 
the City is unable to provide such services directly. 
 

(G) School Services. The City neither provides nor is authorized by law to 
provide public education facilities or services. Such facilities and services are now provided by the 
Horry County School District. The person or entity, whether it be homebuilder or another assignee 
of Developer, who actually initiates the building permit shall be responsible for paying all impact 
fees levied by the School District for each residential unit constructed prior to the issuance of a 
certificate of occupancy. 
 

(H) Private Utility Services. Private utility services, including electric, natural 
gas, and telecommunication services (including telephone, cable television, and internet/broadband) 
shall be provided to the site by the appropriate private utility providers based upon designated service 
areas. All utilities on the Property shall be located underground, and shall be placed in locations 
approved by the City so as to reduce or eliminate potential conflicts within utility rights-of-way. 
 

(I) Streetlights. Developer shall install or cause to be installed streetlights 
within the Project. To the extent that the City provides the same benefit to other similarly-situated 
neighborhoods within the City, the City shall contribute toward the monthly cost for each streetlight 
in an amount equal to the costs for the base street light fixture offered by the utility provider. The 
remaining monthly cost for each streetlight, including additional charges associated with an 
enhancement street light fixture, if any, shall be borne by the Developer and/or Owners Association. 
 

(J) No Donation of Acreage for Sewer Plant Expansion. The City shall not 
require, mandate or demand that, or condition approval(s) upon a requirement that the Developer 
donate, use, dedicate or sell to the City or any other party for public purposes any portion of the 
Property or any other property owned by the Developer or any affiliate of the Developer for sewer 
plant expansion by the City, provided, however, that this provision shall not be deemed to preclude 
the City from requiring additional sewer pump station facilities, to subsequently be dedicated and 
conveyed to the City.   
 

(K) No Required Donations for Civic Purposes. The City shall not require, 

210



 

  
8 

mandate or demand that, or condition approval(s) upon a requirement that, the Developer donate, 
use, dedicate or sell to the City or any other party for public purposes any portions of the Property or 
any other property owned by the Developer (or any of the entities or parties comprising the 
Developer) or any affiliate of the Developer, except to the extent parks, recreational areas and athletic 
facilities for public use are shown on the Master Site Plan.   
 

(L) Easements. Developer shall be responsible for obtaining, at Developer’s 
cost, all easements, access rights, or other instruments that will enable the Developer to tie into 
current or future water and sewer infrastructure on adjacent properties. 
 

(M) Ponds and Lakes.  As an obligation, Developer shall install pond(s) or 
lake(s) as shown on the approved Master Site Plan for the Property.  The City agrees to cooperate 
with the Developer in the permitting process for such pond(s) and lake(s), it being understood that 
the City will not accept maintenance responsibility or any other liability for such pond(s) and lake(s), 
and that such pond(s) and lake(s) shall either be (i)  conveyed to the City subject to an easement for 
maintenance obligations on the part of the Developer;  (ii)  maintained by the Developer; or  (iii)  
conveyed to an Owners Association for on-going maintenance following completion of the Project.  
 
9. IMPACT FEES.  The Property shall be subject to all development impact fees 
imposed by the City at the time of this Agreement, or following the date of this Agreement, provided 
such fees are applied consistently and in the same manner to all similarly-situated property within 
the City limits. All such impact fees shall not be due and payable until an application of any person 
or entity for a building permit for the vertical development of any subdivided lot or portion of the 
Property. In particular, the Developer agrees that it shall not seek any exemptions for any portions 
of the Property from any current development impact fees (so long as such development impact fees 
are applied consistently and in the same manner to all similarly-situated property within the City 
limits) for any reason.   
 
10. ADDITIONAL FEES, OBLIGATIONS AND PUBLIC BENEFITS.  The 
Developer, and its respective successors and assigns agree that the then current owner of the Property 
or any portion thereof, shall pay to the City, the enhancement fees, as set forth below (collectively the 
“Enhancement Fees”).  Developer further agrees that the Enhancement Fees shall be subject to an 
annual increase, beginning on January 1, 2025, in an amount equal to the lesser of (i)  the increase in the 
Consumer Price Index, published by the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (“CPI”) between the beginning 
and end of the most recent calendar year;  or (ii)  Two (2%) percent per annum, which increase is 
intended to ensure that the Enhancement Fees continue to reflect the City’s on-going increases in the 
costs of services provided.  Developer will provide the Enhancements Fees, together any additional 
public benefits, as follows: 
 

(A) Sanitation Services Enhancement Fee.  As a public benefit, for the Property, 
the Developer, or the then current owner, shall pay to the City, A sanitation service enhancement fee 
(the “Sanitation Services Enhancement Fee”) in an amount equal to $_______ per residential lot or 
residential unit (individually a “Residential Unit” and collectively “Residential Units”), and 
$_______ per 1,000 square feet of commercial space (individually a “Commercial Unit” and 
collectively the “Commercial Units”), which shall be payable at the time of building permit 
application.  

(B) Public Safety Enhancement Fee.  As a public benefit, for the Property, the 
Developer, or the then current owner, shall also pay to the City, as to each Residential Unit and each 

211



 

  
9 

Commercial unit within the Property, a public safety enhancement fee (the “Public Safety 
Enhancement Fee”) in an amount equal to $_______ per Residential Unit, and $________ per 
Commercial Unit, which shall be payable at the time of building permit application. The purpose of 
the public safety enhancement fee is to offset the additional costs anticipated to be incurred by the 
City as a result of the PD, including the addition of Four (4) police officers, One (1) detective, Five 
(5) additional police vehicles, and the costs of required equipment for each of such police officers 
and police vehicles.   

 
(C) A parks and recreation enhancement fee in an amount equal to $______ per 

Residential Unit, which shall be payable to the time of building permit application. 
 

(D) A planning and development service enhancement fee in an amount equal to 
$______ per Residential Unit, and an amount equal to $_______ per Commercial Unit, which shall 
be payable at the time of building permit application.  
 

(E) The creation of a direct internal roadway network with public rights-of-way 
ranging in width from 50’ to 100’, including an internal right-of-way connection from U.S. Highway 
701 to Pitch Landing Road measuring 100’ in width at U.S. Highway 701 and Pitch Landing Road, 
with variable widths internal of not less than 60’, and the roadway improvements thereon (the “Spine 
Road”), such Spine Road to be completed in more than one phase, each of which shall be completed 
with any adjacent subdivisions requiring access, whether directly or indirectly from the Spine Road, 
or, in the alternative, bonded for completion in accordance with the requirements of the City, 
provided that no Residential Units or Commercial Units may be completed within such respective 
subdivision until such portion of the Spine Road has been completed . 
 

(F) The installation of a multi-purpose path of 8’ in width, following the internal 
Spine Road, in accordance with the requirements of the City for other similar-situated properties, to 
be complete on or before the date on which the respective portion of the Spine Road providing access, 
directly or indirectly, to one or more subdivisions within the PD is completed.  In the event the 
installation of such multi-purpose path is delayed beyond completion of the corresponding portion 
of the Spine Road, then, in such event the multi-purpose path shall be bonded for completion, in 
accordance with the bonding requirements of the City.  The installation of this path must be in 
accordance with the City’s Pathway’s and Trails Plan, adopted in 2022, and the same must be 
completed at the same time as the installation of the Spine Road is complete, without regard to the 
number of building permits that have been issued for the PD by the City.   
 

(G) As a requirement, the installation of at least One (1) new sewer pump station 
on the Subject Parcels, and, to the extent required in order to provide sufficient capacity as necessary 
for the proposed development of the Project, a second sewer pump on the Subject Parcels.  Sewer 
pump installation shall be in accordance with the requirements of Grand Strand Water & Sewer 
Authority (“GSWSA”), or such other agency then providing sanitary sewer service to the Subject 
Parcels.    
 

(H) Stormwater conveyance and retention facilities sufficient in capacity to 
accommodate the storm water generated from the Subject Parcels, and provide the City with evidence 
of the necessary and required permanent and perpetual easements necessary to facilitate such 
drainage from the Subject Parcels.  All stormwater shall be designed to meet or exceed the City’s 
Stormwater Ordinance that is in effect at the time of plan submittal. 

212



 

  
10 

 
(I) The installation of roadway improvements to Five (5) separate roadway 

intersections, Three (3) existing roadway intersections, and Two (2) proposed intersections, each 
lying on  the boundary of the Subject Parcels, in accordance with the Transportation Plan submitted 
as part of the Exhibit Supplement under Appendix A, Exhibit VII.  Provided, however, that, in the 
event any of such roadway intersection improvements require the acquisition of additional right-of-
way not located on the Subject Parcels, which Developer has no means of acquiring then, in such 
event the City may acquire the additional right-of-way not located on the Subject Parcels for such 
roadway intersection improvements, or, in the event the City declines to acquire such additional 
required right-of-way, the Developer may, in lieu of installing such roadway intersection 
improvements, instead pay to the City any amount equal to the then current engineer’s estimated 
costs of such roadway intersection improvements, as approved by the City under the ordinances and 
regulations of the city, with the City then having the burden of installing such roadway intersection 
improvements at a time and under the conditions as determined by the City to be reasonable.  The 
respective roadway intersections must be completed on or before the time on which any subdivision 
within the PD which is accessed by way of such roadway intersection is completed, as evidenced by 
the recording of a final plat, or by recording of a master deed creating any in-common units, together 
with any utilities which are to provide service to such subdivision within the PD.  The intent of this 
provision is to insure that either (i)  such roadway intersection improvements have been installed by 
the Developer;  or (ii)  the costs of such improvements have been paid to the City by the Developer, 
to the extent not previously completed by Developer, with each  of such roadway intersection 
improvements being completed on or before the date on which any final plat or master deed is 
recorded within any portion of the PD having access by way of such roadway intersection 
improvements (directly or indirectly), in accordance with the Project Traffic Report.   
 

(J) Conveyance to the City of approximately 500 acres of real property, shown 
and delineated on the Master Site Plan (the “City Recreation Acreage”), which City Recreation 
Acreage also comprises open space in accordance with the requirements of the PD, and includes 
uplands, wetlands and flood plain areas for ownership, perpetual maintenance and preservation, also 
as indicated on the Open Space Plan submitted as part of the Exhibit Supplement under Appendix 
A, Exhibit IV, which City Recreation Acreage may be conveyed in one or more parcels, each at the 
time an adjoining parcel is submitted for final plat.  In addition, prior to the date on which the City 
Recreation Acreage is conveyed to the City, Developer shall have completed,  caused to be 
completed, or bonded for future completion, in accordance with the typical bonding requirements of 
the City, the following improvements, each to be shown on the Open Space Plan: 
 

(a) Installation of not less than Four (4) pickle ball courts; 
(b) Installation of a floodproof playground, adequate in size to 

accommodate the number of children anticipated to use such playground at the 
completion of the PD;  

(c) Installation of parking areas sufficient in size, to accommodate 
visitors to the above reference recreational facilities; 

(d) Notwithstanding any other provision herein, the City Recreation 
Acreage shall be deemed a portion of the Open Space required under the PD. 

(e) To the extent any portion of the City Recreation Acreage includes 
stormwater lakes and ponds serving the PD, Developer may convey such 
stormwater lakes and ponds to the City, subject to a maintenance easement in favor 
of Developer, which requires Developer to maintain such stormwater lakes and 

213



 

  
11 

ponds at the sole cost and expense of Developer.  
(f) To the extent any of the above referenced improvements are not 

complete at the time of conveyance of the City Recreation Acreage from Developer 
to the City, Developer shall bond the completion of the same, in accordance with the 
City’s standard procedures for bonds and financial guarantees. 

 
(K) Installation of a Wildlife Refuge Trail connection, in accordance with the 

City’s Pathway’s and Trails Plan (adopted in 2022).  Refer to this plan for appropriate trail materials, 
widths, locations, etc. To the extent any approvals and coordination are required with agencies other 
than the City, including but not limited to U.S. Army Corps of Engineers and South Carolina 
Department of Health and Environmental Control with regards to any wetland impacts or the 
materials or methods of trailway construction, Developer shall be solely responsible for approvals 
and coordination.  Such Wildlife Refuge Trail is to be located on portions of the PD both within the 
City Recreation Acreage and on portions of the Subject Parcel not comprising a portion of the City 
Recreation Acreage. 
 

(L) Tree Preservation.  Developer and City recognize the public benefit of tree 
preservation, and therefore agree that, a tree survey shall be provided for each Tract within the PD 
at the time of plan submittal, and before land disturbance or such Tract(s) is approved. 
 

(M) Developer shall install, at each entrance to the PD (two on U.S. Highway 701 
and one on Pitch Landing Road), cameras, which capture identification of each vehicle entering the 
PD.  The following represent the ongoing costs of such license plate readers or cameras, which costs 
shall be paid by Developer, or, any property owners association to which Developer assigns the rights 
and obligations of maintenance, which costs per camera are to be determined at the time of 
acquisition, including both acquisition costs and monthly cellular fees, if any.    
 

(N) Developer shall install speed control devices along the Spine Road, in the form 
of traffic circles, in each of the areas along the Spine Road where 3-Way and 4-Way stops would be 
required, in accordance with the Transportation Plan.  
 
*The proposed Perimeter Road and Southern Evacuation Lifeline, if funded and implemented, will 
not be materially impacted or interfered with by development of the PD.  Background growth in the 
area may require roadway and municipal facility improvements.  Phase 1 construction (phasing 
density) is scheduled to occur in 2028.  Phase 2 construction (phasing density) in 2031;  and Phase 
3 construction (phasing density) in 2035. 
 

(O) Uses and Density.  As a public benefit, Development of the Property shall be 
determined in accordance with the Code of Ordinances, as the same may be amended from time to 
time pursuant to this Agreement, provided that the Property and the applicable approved Master Plan 
shall provide for not more than 3,318 total Residential Units. 
 

(P) Road Standards and Traffic Impact. As an obligation, all public roads 
within the Project shall be constructed to City specifications. The exact location, alignment, and 
name of any public road within the Project, shall be subject to review and approval by the City 
Planning Commission as part of the subdivision platting process. The Developer shall be responsible 
for maintaining all public roads until such roads are offered to, and accepted by, the City for 
ownership and maintenance. 

214



 

  
12 

Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, this Agreement does not obligate the 
City to expend any funds of the City or borrow any sums in connection with improvements to the 
roads subject to this Section 10.P.  
 

(Q) Stormwater and Drainage.  As an obligation, Developer shall provide 
stormwater conveyance and retention facilities sufficient in capacity to accommodate the storm water 
generated from the Property, and provide the City with evidence of the necessary and required 
permanent and perpetual easements necessary to facilitate such drainage from the Property. 
 

(R) Jurisdictional and Non-Jurisdictional Waters.  As an obligation, 
Jurisdictional and Non-Jurisdictional Waters of the State of South Carolina and the United States 
within the Project which are not mitigated, filled or otherwise modified, shall be surrounded by an 
undisturbed  water quality buffer of not less than Twenty Five (25) feet in width.  Developer will 
convey all Jurisdictional and Non-Jurisdictional Waters of the State of South Carolina and the United 
States located within the Project to the Owner’s Association for maintenance and operation not later 
than the date on which the Project is complete. 
 

(S) Recording.  Pursuant to Title 6, Chapter 31, Section 120 of the Code of Laws 
for the State of South Carolina, this Agreement shall be recorded in the public records of Horry 
County, South Carolina, on or before the date which is Fourteen (14) days following the date on 
which the City enters into this Agreement. 
 
11. PROTECTION OF ENVIRONMENT AND QUALITY OF LIFE.  The City and 
Developer recognize that development can have negative as well as positive impacts. Specifically, 
the City considers the protection of the natural environment and nearby waters, and the preservation 
of the character and unique identity of the City, to be important goals.  Developer shares this  
commitment  and  therefore  agrees  to  abide  by  all provisions of federal, state and local laws and 
regulations for the handling of storm water. 
 
12. COMPLIANCE REVIEWS.  Developer, or its assigns, shall meet with the City, 
or its designee, at least once per year during the Term to review development completed in the prior 
year and the development anticipated to be commenced or completed in the ensuing year as compared 
to the Development Schedule. The City shall provide written notice to the Developer of the date for 
such compliance review not less than Five (5) business days in advance, provided such notice shall 
not be applicable to standard reviews and inspections otherwise performed by the City as to the 
improvement of the Property.  The Developer must demonstrate good faith compliance with the 
terms of this Agreement. The Developer, or its designee, shall be required to provide such 
information as may reasonably be requested by the City.  The Development Schedule attached to this 
Agreement is only a projection, and Developer’s obligation at each respective Compliance Review 
shall be to reconcile the projected Development Schedule attached to this Agreement with the actual 
schedule of development for the Project at each respective Compliance Review.  Failure to meet the 
Development Schedule attached to this Agreement shall not constitute a default hereunder.    
 
13. DEFAULTS.  Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 6 above, Developer shall 
continuously and diligently proceed with Development Work on the Property.  Developer’s failure 
to proceed with Development Work on the Property for a period of more than Six (6) months, other 
than as a result of Force Majeure, as defined in Section 6 above, shall constitute a default hereunder 
on the part of Developer.  In the event of a default, the City shall provide written notice to Developer 

215



 

  
13 

of such default, and Developer shall have a period of Thirty (30) days in which to cure a default by 
commencement of Development Work with regards to the next portion of the Property to be 
developed in accordance with phasing plan of the Project.   The failure of the Developer to comply 
with the terms of this Agreement shall constitute a default, entitling the City to pursue such remedies 
as deemed appropriate, including withholding the issuance of building permits in accordance with 
the provisions of this Agreement, specific performance and the termination or modification of this 
Agreement in accordance with the Act; provided however no termination of this Agreement may be 
declared by the City absent its according the Developer the notice and opportunity to cure in 
accordance with the Act.   
 
14. MODIFICATION OF AGREEMENT.  This Agreement may be modified or 
amended only by the written agreement of the City and the Developer. No statement, action or 
agreement hereafter made shall be effective to change, amend, waive, modify, discharge, terminate 
or effect an abandonment of this Agreement in whole or in part unless such statement, action or 
agreement is in writing and signed by the party against whom such change, amendment, waiver, 
modification, discharge, termination or abandonment is sought to be enforced except as otherwise 
provided in the Act. 
 
15. RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS.  The obligations and public benefits agreed to and accepted 
by Developer set forth in this Agreement (collectively the “Restrictive Covenants”) shall survive and 
continue in full force and effect without regard to the termination of this Agreement for a period ending 
on the earlier of (i)  Fifty (50) years after the Term of this Agreement;  or (ii)  such time as the parties 
hereto, or their respective successors and assigns, have recorded a fully executed and effective 
termination of the Restrictive Covenants in the Office of the Register of Deeds for Horry County.  
Developer further covenants and agrees that, to the extent the Property is encumbered by covenants, 
conditions and restrictions (the “CCRs”), whether administered by an Owners Association or not, such 
CCRs shall include the Restrictive Covenants, the effect of which shall be to extend the term of the 
Restrictive Covenants, the same thereafter running with the Property as continuing obligations, public 
benefits and restrictions.  
 
16. NOTICES.  Any notice, demand, request, consent, approval or communication 
which a signatory party is required to or may give to another signatory party hereunder shall be in 
writing and shall be delivered or addressed to the other at the address below set forth or to such other 
address as such party may from time to time direct by written notice given in the manner herein 
prescribed, and such notice or communication shall be deemed to have been given or made when 
communicated by personal delivery or by independent courier service or by facsimile or if by mail 
on the fifth (5th) business day after the deposit thereof in the United States Mail, postage prepaid, 
registered or certified, addressed as hereinafter provided. All notices, demands, requests, consents, 
approvals or communications to the City shall be addressed to the City at: 
 

City of Conway 
      _________________________ 

_________________________ 
Attention: City Manager 

 
With a copy to:    _________________________ 
      _________________________ 
      _________________________ 

216



 

  
14 

And to the Developer at:                                 BRD Land & Investments, LP 
                 ___________________________  
                 ___________________________ 
      Attention: __________________ 
 
 
With a copy to:    Robert S. Guyton, Esq. 
      Robert S. Guyton, P.C. 
      4605 B Oleander Drive, Suite 202 
      Myrtle Beach, SC  29577 
 
17. GENERAL. 
 

(A) Subsequent Laws. In the event state or federal laws or regulations are 
enacted after the execution of this Agreement or decisions are issued by a court of competent 
jurisdiction which prevent or preclude compliance with the Act or one or more provisions of this 
Agreement (“New Laws”), the provisions of this Agreement shall be modified or suspended as may 
be necessary to comply with such New Laws. Immediately after enactment of any such New Law, 
or court decision, a party designated by Developer and the City shall meet and confer in good faith 
in order to agree upon such modification or suspension based on the effect such New Law would 
have on the purposes and intent of this Agreement. During the time that these parties are conferring 
on such modification or suspension or challenging the New Laws, the City may take reasonable 
action to comply with such New Laws. Should these parties be unable to agree to a modification or 
suspension, either may petition a court of competent jurisdiction for an appropriate modification or 
suspension of this Agreement. 

 
(B) Estoppel Certificate. The City or any Developer may, at any time, and from 

time to time, deliver written notice to the other applicable party requesting such party to certify in 
writing, within Thirty (30) days of such written notice, that this Agreement is in full force and effect, 
that this Agreement has not been amended or modified, or if so amended, identifying the 
amendments, whether, to the knowledge of such party, the requesting party is in default or claimed 
default in the performance of its obligations under this Agreement, and, if so, describing the nature 
and amount, if any, of any such default or claimed default, and whether, to the knowledge of such 
party, any event has occurred or failed to occur which, with the passage of time or the giving of 
notice, or both, would constitute a default and, if so, specifying each such event.   
 

(C) Entire Agreement. This Agreement sets forth, and incorporates by reference 
all of the agreements, conditions and understandings between the City and the Developer relative to 
the Property and its development and there are no promises, agreements, conditions or 
understandings, oral or written, expressed or implied, among these parties relative to the matters 
addressed herein other than as set forth or as referred to herein. 
 

(D) No Partnership or Joint Venture. Nothing in this Agreement shall be 
deemed to create a partnership or joint venture between the City or any Developer or to render such 
party liable in any manner for the debts or obligations of another party. 
 

(E) Exhibits. All exhibits attached hereto and/or referred to in this Agreement 
are incorporated herein as though set forth in full. 

217



 

  
15 

(F) Construction. The parties agree that each party and its counsel have 
reviewed and revised this Agreement and that any rule of construction to the effect that ambiguities 
are to be resolved against the drafting party shall not apply in the interpretation of this Agreement or 
any amendments or exhibits hereto. 
 

(G) Transfer of Title.  Transfers of title to the Property, in whole or in part, may 
be made, at any time and to any person or entity, without the consent of the City. 
 

(H) Binding Effect. The parties hereto agree that this Agreement shall be binding 
upon their respective successors and/or assigns. 
 

(I) Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State 
of South Carolina, and the parties further agree that venue shall be proper, without regards to any 
conflict of law principals, in a court of competent jurisdiction in Horry County, or such other 
jurisdiction in South Carolina as is appropriate and necessary under the circumstances. 

 
(J) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, 

each of which shall be deemed an original, and such counterparts shall constitute but one and the 
same instrument. 
 

(K) Eminent Domain. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall limit, impair 
or restrict the City’s right and power of eminent domain under the laws of the State of South Carolina. 
 

(L) No Third Party Beneficiaries. The provisions of this Agreement may be 
enforced only by the City and the Developer. No other persons shall have any rights hereunder, 
unless specified in this Agreement. 
 

(M) Release of Developer. Subject to Section 5.B, in the event of conveyance of 
all or a portion of the Property, the Developer shall be released from any obligations and liabilities 
with respect to this Agreement as to the portion of Property so transferred, and the transferee shall 
be substituted as the Developer under the Agreement as to the portion of the Property so transferred; 
provided, however, the transferee(s) of the one acre contemplated for subdivision and conveyance 
under Section 5.B shall not be deemed to succeed to any Development Rights and Obligation of 
Developer under this Agreement. 
 
18. DESCRIPTION OF LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PERMITS NEEDED.  The 
development of the Property shall be pursuant to this Agreement, the Land Development 
Regulations, and Code of Ordinances, as amended; provided, however, in the event of any conflict 
between this Agreement and the Land Development Regulations, and/or the Code of Ordinances, the 
provisions of this Agreement shall control. Necessary permits include, but may not be limited to, the 
following: building permits, zoning compliance permits, sign permits (permanent and temporary), 
temporary use permits, accessory use permits, driveway/encroachment/curb cut permits, 
clearing/grading permits, and land disturbance permits. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the City 
acknowledges that City Planning and Zoning Director or the City Planning Commission approval of 
plats will be given if any such plats are materially consistent with the Master Site Plan of the Project, 
subject to any Master Site Plan Revisions. It is specifically understood that the failure of this 
Agreement to address a particular permit, condition, term or restriction does not relieve the 
Developer of the necessity of complying with the law governing the permitting requirements, 

218



 

  
16 

conditions, terms or restrictions. It is expressly understood and acknowledged by all parties to this 
Agreement that any portions of the Property donated or sold by any Developer to the City shall not 
be subject to any private declaration of restrictions or property owners association(s) created by any 
Developer for any subsequent subdivision of the Property. 

 
19. STATEMENT OF REQUIRED PROVISIONS.  In compliance with Section 6-
31-60(A) of the Act, the Developer represents that this Agreement includes all of the specific 
mandatory provisions required by the Act, addressed elsewhere in this Agreement. 
 

[Signature Pages Follow]

219



 

  
17 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have entered into this Agreement as of the day and 
year first above written. 

 
DEVELOPER: 

 
WITNESSES: BRD LAND & INVESTMENT, LP, a South 

Carolina limited partnership 
 

 
 

Witness #1 By:       
 Name: ______________________________ 

 Title : _______________________________ 
Witness #2 

 
STATE OF ___________________ ) 

)     
COUNTY OF _________________ ) 

 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this  ___  day of ______________, 

2023, by __________________________, as _________________________ of BRD LAND & 
INVESTMENT, LP, a South Carolina limited partnership. He or she personally appeared before 
me and is personally known to me. 

 
 
 

 
Notary Public 
Name: ______________________________ 
My Commission Expires:    

220



 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have entered into this Agreement as of the 
day and year first above written. 

 
  CITY: 

 
WITNESSES: CITY OF CONWAY 
 
 
_____________________________ By: _____________________________ 
Witness #1 Name: ___________________________ 
 Title: ____________________________ 
______________________________ 
Witness #2 

 
 

N 
 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 

) 
COUNTY OF HORRY ) 

 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this  _____day of__________________, 
2023 by , the of  the CITY 
OF CONWAY.  He or she personally appeared before me and is personally known to me. 
 
 
 

 
Notary Public 
My Commission Expires: ___________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

221



 

 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

South Carolina Local Government Development Agreement 
Act as Codified in Sections 6-31-10 through 6-31-160 

of the Code of Laws of South Carolina (1976), as amended 
 
 

     [TO BE ATTACHED]

222



 

 

EXHIBIT “B” 
 

                               Survey of Property    
                 

[TO BE ATTACHED] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

223



 

 

EXHIBIT “C” 
 

Master Site  Plan 
 

[TO BE ATTACHED] 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

224



 

 

EXHIBIT “D” 
 

Land Development Regulations 
 

[TO BE ATTACHED] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

225



 

 

EXHIBIT “E” 
 

Development Schedule 
 

Construction will begin following receipt of permits from the City of Conway and from other 
regulatory bodies.  The nature of this Project, together with the current economic conditions, 
prevents the Developer from providing exact dates for commencement of future phases or exact 
completion dates.  Although the timing of completion of any particular Phase of the Project is 
subject to then current market demands, the Developer anticipates starting the installation of the 
infrastructure within a period of approximately Twenty-four  (24) months from approval of this 
Agreement to allow for design, permitting and mobilization. The Project would be complete within 
Twenty Five (25) years of approval of this Agreement.  

 

226



W
ET

LA
N

D
S

W
ET

LA
N

D
S

Plan of what could be done under current zoning (provided by applicant)

227


	1.City of Conway Council Meeting Agenda 10.16.2023
	2.803 donald st combined
	!1st Rdg - 803 Donald Street (R1 annexation)
	ZOOMED IN AERIAL MAP FOR 803 DONALD ST
	ZOOMED OUT AERIAL MAP FOR 803 DONALD ST
	ZONING MAP FOR 803 DONALD ST
	FUTURE LAND USE MAP FOR 803 DONALD ST
	FLOOD ZONE MAP FOR 803 DONALD ST
	Restrictive Covenants
	APP_803 Donald Street_P23-0278 (9.19.23)

	3.jingle jam combined
	First Baptist Jingle Jam
	Jingle Jam Application

	4.City Council Meeting Minutes 10.2.2023
	5.Issue Paper_Employee of the month
	6.154 Winyah Rd combined
	!1st rdg. - 154 Winyah Rd - King Asphalt (Annex & Rezone)
	ZOOMED IN AERIAL MAP FOR 154 WINYAH RD
	ZOOMED OUT AERIAL MAP FOR 154 WINYAH RD
	ZONING MAP FOR 154 WINYAH RD
	FUTURE LAND USE MAP FOR 154 WINYAH RD
	154 Winyah Road (google street views)
	Sec. 6.3.9 (HI district) of the Citys UDO
	Horry County Noise Ord. and Special Event Sections
	Sec. 204.13 - Industrial Use Chart of County Zoning Ord.
	Sec. 903 of Horry Co. Zoning Ord. re batchplants
	APP_154 Winyah Rd_P23-0244 (8.1.23)

	7.1st rdg. - Art. 11 - LED and EMC sign amendment issue paper (10.16.23 Council)
	8.1st rdg. - Art. 5 - requirements for religious inst issue paper (10.16.23 Council)
	1. Religious Institutions located within the HDRDs shall be reviewed and approved by the Community Appearance Board (CAB) and shall meet the "Historic Design Review Districts: Community Appearance Guidelines".
	2. Religious Institutions that are located outside the HDRDs shall be reviewed and approved by the Planning Director and shall meet the architectural design standards stated in Section 6.3.1.C.  [ZA2018-12-17(A)]

	9.1st rdg. - Art. 7, 10 & 12 - requirements for sidewalk install issue paper (10.16.23 Council)
	10.Kirland Dr in Elmhurst Combined
	Elmhurst Development Issue Paper
	Deed and plats for city review
	Quit Claim Deed --City to Gerald
	Quit Claim Deed --City to Mabe

	11.Warden Station - ALL DOCUMENTS COMBINED FOR COUNCIL
	Plan of what could be done under current zoning in county.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Exhibit 1






